

Pertanika Journal of TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

VOL. 37 (3) AUG. 2014



A scientific journal published by Universiti Putra Malaysia Press

Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science

About the Journal

Pertanika is an international peer-reviewed journal devoted to the publication of original papers, and it serves as a forum for practical approaches to improving quality in issues pertaining to tropical agriculture and its related fields. Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science which began publication in 1978 is a leading agricultural journal in Malaysia. After 29 years as a multidisciplinary journal, the revamped Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science (JTAS) is now focusing on tropical agricultural research. Other Pertanika series include Pertanika Journal of Science and Technology (JST) and Pertanika Journal of Social Sciences and Humanities (JSSH).

JTAS is published in **English** and it is open to authors around the world regardless of the nationality. It is currently published four times a year, i.e. in **February**, **May**, **August** and **November**.

Goal of Pertanika

Our goal is to bring the highest quality research to the widest possible audience.

Quality

We aim for excellence, sustained by a responsible and professional approach to journal publishing. Submissions are guaranteed to receive a decision within 12 weeks. The elapsed time from submission to publication for the articles averages 5-6 months.

Indexing of Pertanika

Pertanika is now over 33 years old; this accumulated knowledge has resulted in Pertanika JTAS being indexed in SCOPUS (Elsevier), Thomson (ISI) Web of Knowledge [BIOSIS & CAB Abstracts], EBSCO, DOAJ, AGRICOLA, ISC, MyAIS and Rubriq.

Future vision

We are continuously improving access to our journal archives, content, and research services. We have the drive to realise exciting new horizons that will benefit not only the academic community, but society itself.

We also have views on the future of our journals. The emergence of the online medium as the predominant vehicle for the 'consumption' and distribution of much academic research will be the ultimate instrument in the dissemination of research news to our scientists and readers.

Aims and Scope

Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science aims to provide a forum for high quality research related to tropical agricultural research. Areas relevant to the scope of the journal include: agricultural biotechnology, biochemistry, biology, ecology, fisheries, forestry, food sciences, genetics, microbiology, pathology and management, physiology, plant and animal sciences, production of plants and animals of economic importance, and veterinary medicine.

Editorial Statement

Pertanika is the official journal of Universiti Putra Malaysia. The abbreviation for Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science is *Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci.*

Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science

AN INTERNATIONAL PEER-REVIEWED JOURNAL

EDITOR-IN-CHIEF Tan Soon Guan, Malaysia

Molecular Population Genetics

CHIEF EXECUTIVE EDITOR

Nayan Deep S. Kanwal Environmental Issues – Landscape Plant Modelling Applications

UNIVERSITY PUBLICATIONS COMMITTEE Mohd Azmi Mohd Lila, Chair

EDITORIAL STAFF

Journal Officers: Kwan Lee Yin, ScholarOne Kanagamalar Silvarajoo, ScholarOne

Editorial Assistants: Siti Juridah Mat Arip Zulinaardawati Kamarudin

COPY EDITORS Doreen Dillah Crescentia Morais Ena Bhattacharyya

PRODUCTION STAFF Pre-press Officer: Nik Khairul Azizi Nik Ibrahim

Layout & Typeset: Sarwani Padzil Noor Sholihah Mohd Daud Norhafizah Abd Rani

WEBMASTER Almaz Hong (Freelance)

PUBLICITY & PRESS RELEASE Magdalene Pokar (ResearchSEA)

EDITORIAL OFFICE

JOURNAL DIVISION Office of the Deputy Vice Chancellor (R&I) 1st Floor, IDEA Tower II UPM-MTDC Technology Centre Universiti Putra Malaysia 43400 Serdang, Selangor Malaysia. Gen Enq.: +603 8947 1622 | 1619 | 1616 E-mail: executive_editor.pertanika@upm.my URL: www.journals-jd.upm.edu.my

PUBLISHER

Kamariah Mohd Saidin UPM Press Universiti Putra Malaysia 43400 UPM, Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia. Tel: +603 8946 8855, 8946 8854 Fax: +603 8941 6172 E-mail: penerbit@putra.upm.edu.my URL: http://penerbit.upm.edu.my



EDITORIAL BOARD 2013-2015

Anuar Abd. Rahim Soil fertility and management, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia.

Baharuddin Salleh Plant pathologist / Mycologist, Universiti Sains Malaysia, Malaysia.

Chee-Kong Yap Biology, Ecotoxicology Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia

David Edward Bignell Soil biology and termite b University of London, UK. biology,

Eric Standbridge Microbiology, Molecular genetics, Universiti of California, USA.

Ghizan Saleh Plant breeding and genetics, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia.

Idris Abd. Ghani Entomology Insect taxonomy and biodiversity, Integrated pest management, Biological control, Biopesticides. Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, Malaysia.

Jamilah Bakar Food Science and Technology, Food Quality / Processing and Preservation, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia.

Kadambot H.M. Siddique. FTSF

Crop and environment physiology, Germplasm enhancement, The University of Western Australia, Australia

Leng-Guan Saw Botany and Conservation, Plant Ecology, Forest Research Institute Malaysia (FRIM), Kepong, Malaysia.

Mohd. Azmi Ambak Fisheries. Universiti Malaysia Terengganu, Malaysia.

Mohd, Zamri-Saad Veterinary pathology, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia.

Nor Aini Ab-Shukor Tree improvement, Forestry genetics & biotechnology, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia

Richard T. Corlett Biological Sciences, Terrestrial Ecology, Climate Change, Conservation Biology, Biogeography, National University of Singapore, Singapore

Shamshuddin Jusop Soil science, Soil mineralogy, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia. Son Radu Food safety, Risk assessment, Molecular bioloav. Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia.

Srini Kaveri Veterinary, Immunology, INSERM, Centre de Recherche Cordeliers, Paris, France.

Suman Kapur Biological Sciences, Agricultural and Animal Biotechnology, Birla Institute of Technology and Science BITS-Pilani, Hyderabad, India

Wen-Siang Tan Molecular biology, Virology, Protein chemistry, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia.

Yusof Ibrahim Agricultural entomology, Universiti Pendidikan Sultan Idris, Malaysia.

INTERNATIONAL ADVISORY BOARD 2013-2016

Alexander Salenikovich Forestry, Wood and Forest Sciences, Université Laval, Canada

Banpot Napompeth Kasetsart University, Thailand.

Denis J. Wright Pest Management, Imperial College London, UK.

Graham Matthews Pest Management, Imperial College London, UK. Jane M. Hughes Griffith University, Australia

Malcolm Walkinshaw Biochemistry, University of Edinburgh, Scotland.

Manjit S. Kang Plant Breeding and Genetics, Louisiana State University Agric. Center, Baton Rouge, USA.

Peter B. Mather Ecology and Genetics, Queensland University of Technology, Australia

Syed M. Ilyas

Syeta IVI. Hyds Project Director, National Institute of Rural Development, Post Harvest Engineering and Technology, Indian Council of Agricultural Research, Hyderabad. India.

Tanveer N. Khan Plant Breeding and Genetics, The UWA Institute of Agriculture, The University of Western Australia, Australia.

ABSTRACTING/INDEXING

Pertanika is now over 35 years old; this accumulated knowledge has resulted the journals being indexed in SCOPUS (Elsevier), Thomson (ISI) Web of Knowledge [BIOSIS & CAB Abstracts], EBSCO, DOAJ, Google Scholar, AGRICOLA, ISC, Citefactor, Rubriq and MyAIS.

The publisher of Pertanika will not be responsible for the statements made by the authors in any articles published in the journal. Under no circumstances will the publisher of this publication be liable for any loss or damage caused by your reliance on the advice, opinion or information obtained either explicitly or implied through the contents of this publication All rights of reproduction are reserved in respect of all papers, articles, illustrations, etc., published in Pertanika. Pertanika provides free access to the full text of research articles for anyone, web-wide. It does not charge either its authors or author-institution for refereeing/publishing outgoing articles or user-institution for accessing incoming articles No material published in Pertanika may be reproduced or stored on microfilm or in electronic, optical or magnetic form without the written authorization of the Publisher.

Copyright © 2014-15 Universiti Putra Malaysia Press. All Rights Reserved.

Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science Vol. 37 (3) Aug. 2014

Contents

Foreword

Nayan Deep S. Kanwal	i
Short Communication	
Species Diversity and External Nest Characteristics of Stingless Bees in Meliponiculture <i>Kelly, N., Farisya, M. S. N., Kumara, T. K. and Marcela, P.</i>	293
Regular Articles	
Effects of Different Rates of Palm Kernel and Barley Residues as Organic Manures on Growth and Yield of Maize on a Degraded Upland Soil <i>M. T. Lahai, J. P. C. Koroma and P. M. P. Mornya</i>	299
Thermotolerance Acquisition in Broiler Chickens through Early Feed Restriction: Response to Acute Heat Stress <i>Abioja, M. O., Sodipe, O. G., Abiona, J. A., Oladipo, K. A.,</i> <i>Kasali, O. D., Akerele, Z., Ola, A., Oke, H., Ogundele, O.</i> <i>and Osinowo, O. A.</i>	311
Silt Pit Efficiency in Conserving Soil Water as Simulated by HYDRUS 2D Model Mohsen Bohluli, Christopher Teh Boon Sung, Ahmad Husni Mohd Hanif and Zaharah A. Rahman	321
Multivariate Classification of Promising Paddy Cultivars on the Basis of Physical Properties Singh, Y. and Prasad, K.	331
Multivariate and an Ordination Approach to Classify the Attractiveness of the Plant Species in Pastoral Lands <i>Fazel Amiri and Abdul Rashid Mohamed Shariff</i>	347
Genetic Diversity of <i>Fusarium solani</i> Isolates from Black Pepper (<i>Piper nigrum</i> L.) in Malaysia by ISSR marker Shahnazi, S., Meon, S., Vadamalai, G., Yazdani, D. and Shabanimofrad, M.	363
Demographics of Horseshoe Crab Populations in Kota Kinabalu, Sabah, Malaysia with Emphasis on <i>Carcinoscorpius rotundicauda</i> and Some Aspects of its Mating Behaviour <i>Robert, R., Muhammad Ali, S. H. and Amelia-Ng, P. F.</i>	375

Foreword

Welcome to the Third Issue 2014 of the Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science (JTAS)!

JTAS is an open-access journal for the Tropical Agricultural Science published by Universiti Putra Malaysia Press. It is independently owned and managed by the university and run on a non-profit basis for the benefit of the world-wide science community.

This issue contains **eight articles**, out of which **one** is a short communication and **seven** are regular research papers. The authors of these articles are from **Malaysia**, **Sierra Leone**, **Nigeria**, **India** and **Iran**.

The short communication paper discusses species diversity and external nest characteristics of stingless bees in meliponiculture (*Kelly, N., Farisya, M. S. N., Kumara, T. K.* and *Marcela, P.*). Their study of 161 stingless bee colonies at a bee farm in Kelantan, Malaysia, revealed five species of stingless bees and one unidentified species. The species included *Trigona itama, Trigona thoracica, Trigona terminata, Trigona laeviceps,* and *Hypotrigona scintillans* and one unidentified meliponid. From the list, only *T. itama* and *T. thoracica* were mostly used in meliponiculture

The seven research papers cover a wide range of topics. In the first research paper, researchers from Njala University, Sierra Leone, report on their study of the effects of different rates of palm kernel and barley residues as organic manures on growth and yield of maize on a degraded upland soil (*M. T. Lahai, J. P. C. Koroma* and *P. M. P. Mornya*). The next research paper from Nigeria discusses the influence of thermotolerance acquisition in broiler chickens through early feed restriction in response to acute heat stress (Abioja, M. O., Sodipe, O. G., *Abiona, J. A., Oladipo, K. A., Kasali, O. D., Akerele, Z., Ola, A., Oke, H., Ogundele, O.* and *Osinowo, O. A.*). The following research paper, from Universiti Putra Malaysia, briefly discusses the benefit of HYDRUS 2D Model simulation in silt pit efficiency towards conserving soil water (*Mohsen Bohluli, Christopher Teh Boon Sung, Ahmad Husni Mohd Hanif* and *Zaharah A. Rahman*).

In the next research paper, researchers from Sant Longowal Institute of Engineering and Technology, India, present a multivariate classification of promising paddy cultivars on the basis of physical properties (*Singh, Y.* and *Prasad, K.*) while the following research paper presents a multivariate and an ordination approach to classify the attractiveness of the plant species in pastoral lands (*Fazel Amiri* and *Abdul Rashid Mohamed Shriff*).

Collaboration work between Universiti Putra Malaysia and the Institute of Medicinal Plants-ACECR, Iran, examines the genetic diversity of *Fusarium solani* populations obtained from black pepper (*Piper nigrum* L.) fields in Malaysia and assess the phylogenic relationships of *F. solani* isolates using ISSR markers in order to manage yellowing disease

in black pepper (*Shahnazi, S., Meon, S., Vadamalai, G., Yazdani, D.* and *Shabanimofrad, M.*). The last research paper is from a group of researchers from Universiti Malaysia Sabah and Universiti Sains Malaysia collaborating on the demographics of horseshoe crab populations in Kota Kinabalu, Sabah, Malaysia, with an emphasis on *Carcinoscorpius rotundicauda* and some aspects of its mating behaviour (*Robert, R., Muhammad Ali, S. H.* and *Amelia-Ng, P. F.*).

I anticipate that you will find the evidence presented in this issue to be intriguing, thought-provoking and useful in reaching new milestones in your own research. Please recommend the journal to your colleagues and students to make this endeavour meaningful.

I would also like to express my gratitude to all the contributors, namely, the authors, reviewers and editors, who have made this issue possible. Last but not least, the editorial assistance of the journal division staff is fully appreciated.

JTAS is currently accepting manuscripts for upcoming issues based on original qualitative or quantitative research that opens new areas of inquiry and investigation.

Chief Executive Editor Nayan Deep S. KANWAL, FRSA, ABIM, AMIS, Ph.D. nayan@upm.my



TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Short Communication

Species Diversity and External Nest Characteristics of Stingless Bees in Meliponiculture

Kelly, N.¹, Farisya, M. S. N.¹, Kumara, T. K.^{1*} and Marcela, P.²

¹Faculty of Agro Based Industry, Jeli Campus, Universiti Malaysia Kelantan, Locked Bag No.100, 17600 Jeli, Kelantan, Malaysia ²School of Biological Sciences, Universiti Sains Malaysia, 11800 Penang, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Stingless bee farming is a new and potential booming industry in Malaysia. A study was conducted on stingless bee species preferred by meliponiculturists in Malaysia. External nest characteristics of the stingless bee species were also described. Sampling of 161 stingless bee colonies at a bee farm in Kelantan, Malaysia (06°07'N, 102°19'E) revealed five species of stingless bees and one unidentified species. The species included *Trigona itama, Trigona thoracica, Trigona terminata, Trigona laeviceps*, and *Hypotrigona scintillans* and one unidentified meliponid that accounted for 83.2%, 11.2%, 2.5%, 1.9%, 0.6% and 0.6%, respectively. The external nest characteristics, including the height of tree trunk, the trunk circumference at the top and bottom, and the height of the entrance tube from the bottom, were measured together with the size and description of entrance tube for each species. It was apparent that of 17-32 known species of stingless bees in Malaysia, only *T. itama* and *T. thoracica* were mostly used in meliponiculture.

Keywords: Entrance, Trigona, honey, meliponiculture, nest, stingless bee

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received: 11 September 2013 Accepted: 4 April 2014

E-mail addresses: caleyk27@hotmail.com (Kelly, N.), farisya_1991@yahoo.com (Farisya, M. S. N.), kumara_k2001@yahoo.com (Kumara, T. K.), marcela.fun@gmail.com (Marcela, P.) * Corresponding author

INTRODUCTION

Stingless bee beekeeping is known as meliponiculture. This activity, which is generally undertaken by traditional communities, has local characteristics according to regional and traditional knowledge. In Australia, interest in production and marketing of Australian honey is expanding. Although the total annual honey production in Australia is currently small (i.e., with probably less than 100kg), there is potential for rapid growth. At present, the market wholesale price of honey is about AU \$50 per kg. In Asia, stingless bee beekeeping for pollination purpose is only beginning to take root in southern Asia, India and in SE Asia including Malaysia and the Philippines (Cortopassi-Laurino *et al.*, 2006).

Stingless bee farmers in the state of Kelantan, Malaysia, commercialize three types of stingless bee products, namely honey, bee bread and propolis. The current market price for stingless bee honey is RM35 per 300g, RM30 for 200g of bee bread and RM25 for 10ml of propolis, depending upon consumers' demands. At the moment, however, the stingless bee species of economic value and its external nest characteristics in Malaysia remain unexplored. Hence, this paper explores the subject matter mentioned and provides measurements of the extracted tree trunks from the forest with stingless bee colony in it.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Sampling was done at a bee farm located in the state of Kelantan, Malaysia (06°07'N, 102°19'E). Measurements of the height of tree trunks, height of the entrance tube from bottom, size and shape of the entrance tube were documented. In this study, five to ten specimens of stingless bees were caught in individual plastic bag [34.5cm (h) x 24.6cm (w)] for each colony and they were brought back to Biology Laboratory, Universiti Malaysia Kelantan, Malaysia. At the laboratory, the bee specimens were killed using chloroform, pinned and oven dried at 40°C overnight. Once preserved, the specimens were identified with the taxonomy keys provided by Schwatz (1939), Sakagami *et al.* (1990) and taxonomic revisions by Rasmussen (2008).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

A total of 161 colonies of stingless bees were measured and documented (Fig.1). Five species of stingless bee and an unidentified species were collected during the sampling. The five species were Trigona (Geniotrigona) thoracica, Trigona (Heterotrigona) itama, Trigona (Lepidotrigona) terminata, Trigona (Lisotrigona) scintillans and Trigona (Tetragonula) laeviceps. In particular, T. itama were highly preferred by bee farmers and this species contributed 83.2% of the total colonies in the farm, followed by T. thoracica (11.2%) (Table 1). The two species contributed 94.4% of the total stingless bee species in the farm. Stingless bees could be found throughout the world with more than 500 species estimated (Heard, 1988; Ruttner, 1988). In Malaysia, the number of stingless bee species varies between 17 to 32 species depending on the study areas (Norowi, 2010; Salim, et al., 2012; Schwarz, 1939). However, within the diverse species in Malaysia, only two species were highly sought after by bee farmers for meliponiculture purposes.

Species Diversity and External Nest Characteristics of Stingless Bees in Meliponiculture



Fig.1: Tree trunks with stingless bee colonies

Diversity of stingless bees in the farm	
Species	Colonies (n) (%)
Trigona (Geniotrigona) thoracica	18 (11.2)
Trigona (Heterotrigona) itama	134 (83.2)
Trigona (Lepidotrigona) terminata	4 (2.5)
Hyporigona (Lisotrigona) scintillans	1 (0.6)
Trigona (Tetragonula) laeviceps	3 (1.9)
Unidentified	1 (0.6)

TABLE 1

Total

Bee farmers extracted wild colonies nesting in the tree trunks before they transferred the colony into a bee box and subsequently sold. Each species of the stingless bees has specific nest requirements according to their sizes, population and habitat quality (Fonseca, 2012). Thus, the tree trunks represent the preferences of the species towards specific nesting site. It was recorded that T. thoracica and T. laeviceps preferred tree trunk circumferences ranging from 82 cm to 129 cm, whereas T. itama and T. terminata preferred tree trunk circumferences ranging between 71 cm and to 164 cm (Table 2). Majority of the tree trunks are of rubbers trees with a few forest hardwood trees. Extraction of the wild colonies requires experience and a good estimation of the location of the brood within the tree trunks to avoid damages to the brood. To avoid damages to the brood during extraction, data on nest entrance and height of tree trunk from this study could be used as a reference point to cut or fell the tree trunk (Table 2). In this study, the nest

161 (100)

entrance of the stingless bee was found to be different according to the genus (Fig.2). The functions of the nest entrances are related to defense, foraging (Biesmeijer *et al.*, 2005) and physio-chemical regulation (Roubik, 2006). The narrow tube can be closed with resin or cerumen or externally coated with droplets of fresh resin where invaders like ants may be halted (Wittmann, 1989; Camargo, 1984). Among the five species, *T*. *thoracica* was found to form mount-shape entrance with the widest entrance compared to all other species. However, the structure of the nest entrance or the thickness of the resin enclosing the internal nest are influenced by the age of nest, bee genetics and micro environment including predators, parasites, symbionts, rain, wind and sun (Roubik, 2006).

TABLE 2 External nest characteristics of stingless bees by species

	Mean \pm s.d (cm)						
Species	Height of tree trunk	Circumference of the tree trunk (top)	Circumference of the tree trunk (bottom)	Height of entrance from bottom			
T. thoracica	108.7±43.7	105.3±23.7	111.6±17.5	54.7±29.8			
T. itama	86.2±20.2	96.3±24.9	100.4±27.1	45.8±21.1			
T. terminata	102.3±22.1	108.5±34.4	125±39.3	44.8±34.6			
H. scintillans	45	69	110	45			
T. laeviceps	70.3±42.2	84.3±1.52	101.7±18.9	37.7±37.8			

TABLE 3

Size and descriptions of entrance tube of the sampled stingless bees

Species	Entrano	ce tube (mean	± s.d) (cm)	Shana	Calar	Diaidity
	Length	Width	Tube Length	Shape	COIOI	Rigiuity
T. itama	1.53 ± 0.47	2.04 ± 0.69	7.84± 7.39	F, R	Br, Lb	S, H
T. throracica	3.97 ± 1.29	4± 0.92	7.38± 3.65	М	Br, Bl	Н
T. terminata	$1.84{\pm}~0.38$	1.96 ± 0.1	7 ± 2.02	F	Lb	S
T. laeviceps	$1.85{\pm}~0.35$	2.75 ± 0.75	$4.25{\pm}~1.75$	F	Bl	S,H
H. scintillans	NA*			R	Br	S

Entrance shape: F= funnel, M= mount, R= round-ringed; Color: Br=Brown, Bl=Black, Lb=Light Brown; Rigidity: S=soft, H=hard;

* NA: Not Available; entrance was accidentally destroyed

Species Diversity and External Nest Characteristics of Stingless Bees in Meliponiculture



Fig.2: Shape of the entrance of the stingless bees' nest. A - Funnel shape entrance of *T. itama*; B - Round ringed entrance of *T. itama*; C - Entrance in shape of mount (*T. thoracica*), D - Funnel shape entrance of *T. terminata*

CONCLUSION

From this study, five species of stingless bees and one unidentified bee species were sampled. The species were *T. itama*, *T. thoracica*, *T. terminata*, *T. laeviceps*, and *H. scintillans*. Meliponiculture in Malaysia is limited to two species of stingless bees, namely *T. itama* and *T. thoracica*. Although the extraction of wild is not sustainable in the long term, it is the authors' hope that in the future, colony propagation will be a good alternative with the expansion of the knowledge and research on the biology of stingless bees.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank Mr. Razip for his time and willingness to accommodate us while undertaking this study at his farm. This study received the financial support from research grant R/RAGS/A 07.00/00760A/002/2012/000092.

REFERENCES

- Biesmeijer, J. C., Giurfa, M., Koedam, D., Potts, S. G., Joel, D. M., & Dafni, A. (2005). Convergent evolution: floral guides, stingless bee nest entrances, and insectivorous pitchers. *Naturwissenschaften*, 92, 444-450.
- Camargo, J. M. F. (1984). Notas sobre habitos de nidificação de *Scaura (Scaura) latitarsis* (Friese)

(Hymenoptera, Apidae, Meliponinae). *Boletim* do Museu Paraense Emílio Goeldi, 1, 89–95.

- Cortopassi-Laurino, M., Imperatriz-Fonseca, V. L., Roubik, D. W., Dollin, A., Heard, T., Aguilar, I. B., Venturieri, G. C., Eardley, C., & Neto, P. N. (2006). Global Meliponiculture: challenges and opportunities. *Apidologie*, *37*, 1-18.
- Fonseca, V. L. I. (2012). Best management practices in agriculture for sustainable use and conservation of pollinators. Retrieved from http://www.internationalpollinatorsinitiative.org/ uploads/6-010.pdf
- Heard, A. E. (1988). Propagation of hives of *Trigona* carbonaria Smith (Hymenoptera: Apidae). Journal of the Australian Entomological Society, 27, 303-304.
- Norowi, M. H. (2010). Conservation and sustainable utilization of stingless bees for pollination services in agricultural ecosystems in Malaysia. Retrieved from http://www.niaes.affrc.go.jp/ sinfo/sympo/h22/1109/paper_04.pdf
- Rasmussen, C. (2008). Catalog of the Indo-Malayan/ Australasian stingless bees (Hymenoptera: Apidae: Meliponini). Zootaxa, 1–80.
- Ruttner, F. (1988). *Biography and taxonomy of honey bees*. Berlin: Springer-Verlag.

- Roubik, D. W. (2006). Stingless bee nesting biology. *Apidologie*, *37*, 124-143.
- Salim, H. M. W., Dzulkiply, A. D., Harrison, R. D., Fletcher, C., Kassim, A. R., & Potts, M. D. (2012). Stingless bee (Hymenoptera: Apidae: Meliponinae) diversity in dipterocarp forest reserves in Peninsular Malaysia. *The Raffles Bulletin of Zoology*, 60(1), 213-219.
- Sakagami, S. F., Ohgushi, R. I., & Roubik, D. W. (1990). Natural history of social wasps and bees in equatorial Sumatra: Hokkaido University Press.
- Schwarz, H. F. (1939). The Indo-Malayan species of Trigona. *Bulletin of the American Museum Natural History, LXXVI*, 83-141.
- Wille, A., & Michener, C. D. (1973). The nest architecture of stingless bees with special reference to those of Costa Rica. *Revista de biologia tropical*, 21, 1-278.
- Wittmann, D. (1989). Nest architecture, nest site preferences and distribution of *Plebeia wittmanni* (Moure and Camargo, 1989) in Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil (Apidae: Meliponinae). *Studies on Neotropical Fauna and Environment*, 24, 17–23.

PERTANIKA

TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Effects of Different Rates of Palm Kernel and Barley Residues as Organic Manures on Growth and Yield of Maize on a Degraded Upland Soil

M. T. Lahai¹, J. P. C. Koroma¹ and P. M. P. Mornya^{2*}

¹Department of Crop Science, Njala Campus, Njala University, PMB, Freetown, Sierra Leone ²Department of Horticulture, Njala Campus, Njala University, PMB, Freetown, Sierra Leone

ABSTRACT

Effect of organic manures and chemical fertilizers on maize (cv. DMR-ESR-Yellow) was studied in a degraded upland soil. Four levels $(0, 1, 3, and 5 t ha^{-1})$ of palm kernel and barley residues and a recommended rate of chemical fertilizers were tested in a randomized complete block design with three replications. Plant height, stem diameter, number of leaves, ear leaf area, 1000 grain weight, and grain yield increased with the increase rate of manures, but the increase was higher in palm kernel than the barley residue. The 3 and 5t ha⁻¹ rates of palm kernel residue were the best treatments due largely to higher supply of N, P, K, Ca and Mg as. Under high rainfall, grain yield increased likely by reducing days to tasseling and silking and anthesis silking interval (ASI). Under low rainfall, both organic manures, which may have maintained more favourable soil moisture and temperature regimes, gave considerably higher yield than the recomended fertilizer rate (NPK 15:15:15). Organic manure treated plants, especially under palm kernel residue with higher N supply reached 50% tasseling and silking earlier and had shorter ASI and longer grain-filling period than inorganic fertilizer. The use of 3 to 5t ha⁻¹ of palm kernel residue manure could substantially increase grain yield in Sierra Leone. However, the increase in yield with application rate showed that the highest rate used was not the optimum. Therefore, higher rates should be included in subsequent trials to obtain maize response curves for both manures.

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received: 2 April 2013 Accepted: 30 January 2014

E-mail addresses: drmtlahai@yahoo.com (M. T. Lahai), jamespatrickchristiankoroma@yahoo.com (J. P. C. Koroma), philip_mornya@yahoo.com (P. M. P. Mornya) * Corresponding author *Keywords:* Organic manure, palm kernel residue, barley residue, maize grain yield

INTRODUCTION

Maize is one of the major cereal crops in West and Central Africa, particularly in

areas with good access to fertilizer inputs and markets (Fakorede et al., 2003). In West Africa, Manyong et al. (1996) assessed maize as one of the five main crops of the farming systems in about 125 million hectares (about 72%) of the study area. The current on-farm average yield of maize in West Africa is about 2 t ha-1 compared with the average yield in the 1970s, which was below 1 t ha-1 (Fakorede et al., 2003). Even though the magnitude of the recent gains has been remarkable, there is still a wide yield gap between the research stations and that grown under on-farm conditions. Nevertheless, individual farmers who grow the improved varieties under well-managed, high input conditions usually obtain much higher grain yields. While yield increases achieved by farmers have resulted from the impacts of both genetics and improved crop husbandry, the contribution of improved management to yield increases is likely to be smaller in the next decade due to high cost and non-availability of agrochemicals, particularly chemical fertilizers and a reduction in soil fertility as a result of human activity (Kamara et al., 2004). Therefore, alternative nutrient sources to chemical fertilizers that are environmentally friendly, cheap and readily available need to be investigated for maize.

Organic manures made of natural materials that undergo little or no processing may be a good alternative to chemical fertilizers. Organic inputs play a key role in sustaining soil productivity as they contribute to fertility by adding nutrients such as N, P and K to the soil. They are also major sources of energy and nutrient for soil microbial communities. It improves physical properties of soil such as promoting soil aggregation and nutrient buffering capacity and reducing soil bulk density (Vanlanwe, 1996; Sanchez, 1987). In Sierra Leone, as in other parts of West Africa, where oil palm abounds and have established brewery industries, readily available organic materials in the forms of palm kernel and barley residues, by-products of palm kernel oil processing and brewery industries respectively are usually produced in large quantities annually, and these are normally left to waste. These materials may be used as alternatives to chemical fertilizers in the production of maize. However, little or no research has been reported in this direction for crops. Therefore, this study was initiated to determine the response of maize to different rates of palm kernel and barley residue organic manures on a degraded upland soil in Sierra Leone.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experimental Site Description

A field experiment was conducted at the east end of Freetown (latitude 8°, 30'N, longitude 13°, 17'W and 400 m above sea level) in the Western area of Sierra Leone in 2010 and 2011. Annual rainfall in the Western area ranges from 2000-3000 mm, with an average temperature of 26°C. The experimental site was cultivated with okra, followed by groundnut before the trial was established. During the trial period, mean temperature and relative humidity were about the same in both years, but rainfall was higher in 2010 than it was in 2011. The soil classified as ultisol (USDA, 1975) was sandy clay loam with a pH of about 4 in both years. The nutrient contents, particularly N, were low (Table 1).

TABLE 1

weather and soll characteristics of the experimental
site during the trial periods

Weather/Soil	2010	2011
characteristics		
Weather factor		
Rainfall (mm)	1194.3	991.5
Minimum	23.3	23.6
temperature (°C)		
Maximum	30.6	30.8
temperature (°C)		
Minimum relative	74.5	74.3
humidity (%)		
Maximum relative	86.8	84.5
humidity (%)		
Soil characteristics		
pH (H ₂ O)	4.1	4.0
Sand (%)	56	54
Silt (%)	20	22
Clay (%)	24	24
Organic Carbon	0.36	0.29
(%)		
N (%)	0.11	0.10
P (mg kg ⁻¹ Bray 1)	8.91	6.12
K (cmol kg ⁻¹)	0.54	0.38
Na (cmol kg ⁻¹)	0.26	0.17
Mg (cmol kg ⁻¹)	0.13	0.11
Ca (cmol kg ⁻¹)	0.32	0.24
CEC	6.00	4.70
Soil type	Sandy clay loam	Sandy clay loam

Planting Material

Zea mays L. (cv. DMR-ESR Yellow), obtained from the International Institute of Tropical Agriculture, Ibandon, Nigeria, was used as the planting material.

Experimental Design and Plot

The experiment was laid out in a randomized complete block design with three replications and four factors (palm kernel manure rate, berley manure rate, recommended chemical fertilizer rate and year) after manual land preparation. The plot size was 5 m x 3m with each plot consisting of 4 rows with 10 plant stands per row.

Manure and Fertilizer Rate and Method of Application

Four levels (0, 1, 3 and 5 t ha⁻¹) of palm kernel and barley residues and a recommended rate of chemical fertilizers (NPK 15-15-15) of 200 kg ha⁻¹ were used. The organic manures were applied one week before planting using the pocket application method. Inorganic fertilizer was split applied to the appropriate plots, one-half at three weeks after planting and the other half at the onset of tasseling (anthesis). Two-hand weedings were carried out at 3 and 6 weeks after planting.

Seed Sowing and Harvesting

Planting was done on 30th May 2010 and 1st June 2011 at a spacing of 0.75 m x 0.50 m. Four seeds were planted and later thinned to two per stand one week after germination to give a population of 53, 333 plants ha⁻¹. The maize matured around 90 days after planting in both years. Harvesting was done on 29th August 2010 and 30th August 2011 for the first and second year, respectively. The 32 plants in the two middle rows of each plot (excluding the end plants) were harvested. The harvested ears were dried in the sun for two days, shelled and oven-dried at 60°C for 4 days. Grain yield and 1000 grain weight were computed from the shelled dried grain adjusted to 12% moisture level.

Data Collection

Days from sowing to 50% pollen shed (anthesis date) and 50% silk extrusion (silking date) were determined on 40 plants in the two middle rows of each plot. Anthesis-Silking Interval (ASI) was calculated as the difference between days to silking and anthesis. Plant height and stem girth were measured on 10 plants per plot approximately 2 weeks after germination. The area of the leaf below the ear (cob) was measured *in situ* at mid-silking using a portable leaf area meter model LI-3000 A (head-scanner serial no. PAM 1684). The number of leaves per plant was determined at the same time as the ear leaf area.

Analysis of the Soil and Plant Samples

About 100g each of the palm kernel and barley residues were oven-dried at 60°C for 4 days, crushed and passed through a 0.5 mm sieve. The organic manure materials were analyzed for N, P, K, Ca, Na and Mg concentrations. In addition, C:N ratio and organic carbon were determined for the manure materials. The Walkley-Black and Macro-Kjeldahl methods were used to analyze for organic C and total N, respectively. Meanwhile, the C:N ratio was calculated as the ratio of organic C to that of total N. Bray I method was used to extract P, while Ca, Mg, Na and K were analyzed after extraction with 1N ammonium acetate at pH 7.0. Ca and Mg were measured using

atomic absorption spectrometry and Na and K by flame photometry (IITA, 1982).

The soil samples were collected in three positions in each replication at the depth of 0-20 cm with a 0.025 m-diameter Edelman auger. The soil samples were then bulked to make one composite sample. A subsample of 100 g was air dried, crushed and passed through a 0.5 mm and 2 mm sieved for the chemical and mechanical analyses, respectively. Soil pH was measured in 1:1 moisture of soil in deionized water using a glass electrode pH meter. The Walkley-Black and Macro-Kjeldahl methods were used to analyze soil organic C and total N, respectively. The C:N ratio was calculated as the ratio of organic C to that of total N. The Bray I method was used to extract available P. Exchangeable cations were analyzed after extraction with 1N HN₄OAc (ammonium acetate) at pH 7.0. Ca and Mg were measured using absorption spectrometry, and Na and K by flame photometry. The cation exchange capacity was determined by the summation of extractable cations by 1N NH₄OAc. The hydrometer method was used to determine the percentage of sand, silt and clay contents of the soil (IITA, 1982).

Statistical Analysis

The mixed model procedures of the Statistics Analysis System for Microsoft Windows Release 6.10 (SAS Institute, 1991) were used to detect differences between treatments for all the variables. Manure rate and year were the fixed effects and replication the random effect. The residual mean square was used to calculate approximate standard errors.

RESULTS

Nutrient Concentration in Manures

The palm kernel residue had about 3.1, 3.3, 4.1, 4.1, 1.2, 2.0% and 5.0% N, P, K, Na, C, Mg and Ca, respectively while barley residue contained 2.5, 2.9, 3.5, 5.6, 1.7, 1.8 and 3.9% N, P, K, Mg and Ca, respectively. This indicated that concentrations of N, P, K, Mg and Ca were 19, 11, 16, 11 and 21% higher in palm kernel than the barley residue, whereas, Na, C and C: N ratio were 27, 26 and 40% higher in barley than the palm kernel residue (Fig.1).

Grain Yield and Yield Components

Grain yield differed significantly between type (p < 0.0001) and rate (p < 0.0001) of manure, as well as year (p < 0.0001). Within each manure type, grain yield increased with the increase in the rate of manure in both years (Table 2). The palm kernel residue produced higher grain yield than the barley residue. Palm kernel residue treated plants gave about 19 and 28% higher grain yields than those treated with barley residue in 2010 and 2011, respectively. The plants treated with organic manures and NPK 15-15-15 fertilizer produced higher yield than the control. In 2010, only the 3 and 5 t ha-1 rates of palm kernel residue yielded higher than the 200kg ha-1 NPK 15-15-15 recommended fertilizer rate. In 2011, however, the 1, 3 and 5 t ha⁻¹ rates of both manures gave higher grain yield than the NPK 15-15-15 fertilizer. Grain yield was about 39% higher in 2010 than that of 2011. Meanwhile, trends in 1000 grain weight are similar to those in grain yield (Table 2).

Phenology

Days to 50% anthesis and silking, as well as Anthesis-Silking Interval (ASI),



Nutrient elements in manure

Fig.1: Concentration (%) of nutrient elements and C: N ratio in palm kernel and barley residue organic manures.

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 37 (3): 299 - 310 (2014)

varied significantly (p < 0.0001) among rate and type of manure and year. In general, flowering (anthesis and silking) and ASI decreased as the rates of both manures increased in both years (Table 2). The plants treated with palm kernel residue reached 50% anthesis and silking about 2 and 3 days earlier than those plants treated with barley residue in 2010 and 2011, respectively. Anthesis-Silking Interval was the same for the plants treated with both manures in 2010. In 2011, ASI was 1 day shorter for the plants subjected to palm kernel manure than those of the plants treated with barley residue manure. Plants with no manure application had higher number of days to flowering and ASI than the manure and fertilizer treated plants in both the years. NPK 15-15-15 fertilizer treated plants flowered later and had higher ASI than the organic manure in both the years. The plants tasseled and silked were about 3 and 4 days, respectively, earlier in 2010 than in 2011. ASI was also lower in 2010 than in 2011 (Table 2).

TABLE 2

Yield and yield components and days to anthesis and silking of maize (cv. 'DMR-ESR-Yellow) as influenced by different rates of palm kernel and barley residue organic manures and NPK 15:15:15 fertilizer in 2010 and 2011 on the upland soil

Treatment		Grain yi (kg ha ⁻¹)	eld	1000 g weight	000 grain Days to 50% reight (g) silking		Days to 50% anthesis		Anthesis- silking internal (days)		
Manure type	Rate	2010	2011	2010	2011	2010	2011	2010	2011	2010	2011
No manure	0 t ha-1	1826de	860f	189d	142f	57.7a	67.0a	51.7a	61.0a	6.0a	6.0a
NPK 15:15:15	200 kg ha ⁻¹	2136bc	945ef	194cd	147de	54.7c	61.0b	49.7c	56.3b	5.0b	4.7d
Palm kernel residue	1 t ha ⁻¹	1763e	1171cd	190cd	147de	54.0c	55.0de	49.7c	50.3de	4.3c	4.7d
Palm kernel residue	3 t ha-1	2174b	1577b	202b	154c	53.0d	54.3e	49.3c	50.0e	3.7d	4.3e
Palm kernel residue	5 t ha ⁻¹	2826a	1982a	222a	161a	52.7d	54.3e	49.0d	50.0e	3.7d	4.3e
Barley residue	1 t ha ⁻¹	1683e	974def	190cd	146e	56.3b	58.7bc	51.7d	53.0c	4.6bc	5.7b
Barley residue	3 t ha ⁻¹	1849de	1080de	195c	150d	54.7c	58.0c	51.0b	53.0c	3.7d	5.0c
Barley residue	5 t ha ⁻¹	1969cd	1343c	195c	160a	54.3c	57.0cd	51.0b	52.3cd	3.3d	4.7d
Year mean		2028a	1241b	197a	151b	54.7b	58.2a	50.4b	53.2a	4.3b	4.9a

Treatment means in a column and year means in row for each variable followed by a common letter are not significantly different at 5% level determined by LSD test

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 37 (3) 299 - 310 (2014)

Plant height, stem girth, leaf production and ear leaf area were significantly varied among manure type and rate, as well as year (Table 3). For both types of manure, plant height increased with the increase in rate of manure in both the years. Comparing the residues, palm kernel residue showed taller plants than the barley residue. The plants were also taller in the organic manure treated plots than the control. In 2010, both manures at the rate of 5 t ha-1 produced significantly taller plants than the 200 kg ha-1 NPK 15-15-15. In 2011, the plants treated with both types of organic manure at all application rates were taller than those treated with NPK-fertilizer. The plants were 17% taller in 2010 than those in 2011 (Table 3).

The stem girth increased with the increase in rate of organic manures, but at each rate the palm kernel residue treated plants produced bigger stems than those of plants treated with barley residue in both years (Table 3). In 2010, plants treated with organic manure had bigger stems than the control and the recommended fertilizer rate of 200 kg ha⁻¹ NPK 15-15-15. On the contrary, in 2011 only plants treated with 5 t ha⁻¹ palm kernel residue had bigger stems than those treated with NPK-fertilizer. In all cases the control (0 t ha⁻¹) produced the smallest stem size.

Leaf production increased as the rates of two manure types increased in both years (Table 3). At each manure rate, the palm kernel residue produced higher number of leaves than the barley residue. In 2010, NPK-fertilizer treatment plants produced more leaves than the control, but in 2011 both treatments had similar number of leaves. In 2010 and 2011, 200 kg ha⁻¹ NPK 15-15-15 and the control treatments produced lower number of leaves than the manure treatments. On average, plants produced more leaves in 2010 than in 2011 (Table 3).

In each type of manure, ear leaf area increased with the increase in rate of manure. At each rate, plants treated with palm kernel residue produced larger ear leaf area than those plants treated with barley residue. Plants treated with palm kernel residue at all rates and at 5 t ha⁻¹ for barley residue had significantly large ear leaf area than those of 200 kg ha⁻¹ NPK 15-15-15 fertilizer, while the control had the least ear leaf area. In 2011, irrespective of the rate and type, the manure treated plants had larger ear leaf area than the 200 kg ha⁻¹ NPK 15-15-15 ferilizer and the control. In both years, the chemical fertilizer treated plants produced larger ear leaf area than the control. The ear leaf area was about 12% larger in 2010 than in 2011 (Table 3).

DISCUSSION

Maize showed significant differences for grain yield and its components under different rates of palm kernel and barley residue manures. Grain yield and 1000 grain weight increased with the increase in the rate of both organic manures. The results are consistent with Kamara (1998) who reported that an addition of organic materials is important in maize production. Mugendi *et al.* (1994), and Sanginga and Swift (1992) reported that positive role is

Treatment		Plant height (cm)		Stem girth (cm)		No. of leaves plant ⁻¹		Ear leaf area (cm ²)	
Manure type	Rate	2010	2011	2010	2011	2010	2011	2010	2011
No manure	0 t ha ⁻¹	162.4d	121.3e	1.8d	1.9c	15.3d	13.6d	223.8e	186.8d
NPK 15:15:15	200 kg ha-1	175.5bc	130.1d	1.9cd	2.1b	16.0d	13.7d	286.4c	198.8d
Palm kernel residue	1 t ha ⁻¹	172.2c	144.5c	2.2b	2.0bc	16.6cd	16.7b	290.2c	261.1c
Palm kernel residue	3 t ha ⁻¹	176.1b	155.3b	2.4a	2.1b	19.7a	17.6b	326.4b	295.6b
Palm kernel residue	5 t ha ⁻¹	185.4a	167.0a	2.5a	2.8a	19.8a	18.8a	385.3a	345.5a
Barley residue	1 t ha ⁻¹	173.0bc	130.6d	2.0c	2.0bc	15.5d	15.4c	253.1d	258.5c
Barley residue	3 t ha ⁻¹	173.5bc	149.2bc	2.2b	2.0bc	16.3cd	16.7b	280.7c	262.6c
Barley residue	5 t ha ⁻¹	177.8b	153.4b	2.2b	2.1b	17.0c	17.1b	302.9bc	262.8c
Year mean		174.5a	143.9b	2.2a	2.1a	17.0a	16.2a	293.6a	259.0b

TABLE 3

Effect of different rates of palm kernel and barley residue organic manures and NPK 15:15:15 fertilizer on morphological characters of maize (cv. 'DMR-ESR-Yellow) in 2010 and 2011 on a degraded upland soil

Treatment means in a column and year means in row for each variable followed by a common letter are not significantly different at 5% level determined by LSD test

played by N released from decomposing organic materials. A similar trend in the grain yield as that in 1000 grain weight suggests that the manures increased yield by partly increasing the individual grain weight. This is supported by Kamara *et al.* (2003) who reported that maize genotypes with higher individual kernel weight gave higher yields than those of lower kernel weight.

While the palm kernel residue at the rates of 3 and 5t ha⁻¹ were the best treatments in both years, the 200 kg NPK 15-15-15 ha⁻¹ yielded higher than barley residue at 1 and 3t ha⁻¹ in 2010. In 2011, there was a 27-57% and 19-56% increases in yield with the application of 1-5t ha⁻¹ palm kernel residue compared to the control and the recommended 200 kg ha⁻¹ NPK 15-15-15.

The corresponding figures for barley residue were 9-36% and 0.2-30%. This indicates that the use of both organic manures, particularly at 5 t ha⁻¹, has substantial yield advantage over the inorganic fertilizer. The results of this study corroborate with those of Kamara (1998) who observed that organic materials obtained from *G. sepium* and *L. leucecophala* gave higher maize yield than the inorganic N fertilizer at 90 kg ha⁻¹.

The barley and palm kernel residues contained about 2.5 and 3.1% N, respectively, which translated to 25 and 31 kg N for each ton of manure, respectively. The ability of plant residues to decompose and release nutrients is determined by their litter quality which is a function of the chemical composition of the plant materials. Plant residues with high N content show high decomposition rates and nutrient release (Swift et al., 1979; Kamara, 1998). Therefore, the higher yield obtained from palm kernel residue application than that of barley residue could largely be due to higher N content, faster decomposition rate and nutrient release by the palm kernel than barley residue (Swift et al., 1979; Kamara, 1998). After oil extraction, the palm kernel residue is left in the form of fine particles, which might have contributed to its faster rate of decomposition and nutrient release. Thus, the use of barley residue as manure should be supplemented with inorganic nutrients to accelerate nutrient release as recommended by Mugendi et al. (1994) for pruning from tree leaves with low N content. Palm kernel residue could do without inorganic fertilizer.

Grain yield increased with the increase in rates of organic manures, due largely to increase in N supply, as was also observed by Mugendi et al. (1994) and Kamara (1998). The 200 kg of NPK 15-15-15 fertilizer had 30 kg N, indicating that at 3 and 5t ha⁻¹, the palm kernel residue contained about 3 and 5 times, while the barley residue had 21/2 and 4 times more N than the chemical fertilizer treatment. Hence, the higher grain yields at these rates (3 and 5t ha⁻¹) for both organic manures than the 200 kg of NPK 15-15-15 fertilizer. The low availability and high cost of inorganic fertilizers put them out of the reach of many small farmers in West Africa (FAO, 1992). Also, leaching of nutrients in the soil reduces the efficiency of inorganic fertilizers in the tropics (Sanchez et al., 1997). Organic inputs have an important advantage over inorganic fertilizers with regard to fertility replenishment; they provide a carbon source for microbial utilization resulting in the formation of soil organic nitrogen. Inorganic fertilizers do not contain such carbon sources. Therefore, most of the fertilizer nitrogen not used by the crops is subject to leaching and de-nitrification losses, while much of the nitrogen released from organic inputs and is not utilized by the crops can build soil organic nitrogen capital (Sanchez & Palm, 1996). Hence, the use of 3-5t ha⁻¹ of both manures, particularly palm kernel residue with higher nutrient content compared with barley residue, could substantially increase maize grain yield in Sierra Leone.

The 5t ha⁻¹ rate contained about 125 and 155 kg N ha⁻¹ for barley and palm kernel residues, respectively. Thus, the increase in grain yield and its components as the application rate of both manures increased showed that the highest rate used was not the optimum as maize has been reported to respond to up to 200 kg N ha⁻¹ in Sierra Leone (George, 1986). Therefore, rates higher than 5t ha⁻¹ should be included in subsequent trials in order to obtain maize response curves for both manures. Grain yield was about 39% higher in 2010 than in 2011, likely and partly due to higher rainfall (1615.5 mm) in the first than the second year (941.2 mm), which might have reduced drought stress in the first year (Table 1). During the period of lower rainfall, plants treated with both organic manures gave considerably higher grain yield than the chemical fertilizer compared with the yield under high rainfall. The organic manures might have maintained more favourable soil moisture and temperature regimes during low rainfall thereby substantially increasing yield. Consistent with our results, Martinez *et al.* (2009) observed 50% increases in yield of quinoa with the addition of organic matter even under conditions of low irrigation.

Plants treated with both organic manures reached 50% pollen shed and silk emergence earlier and had shorter ASI than those of plants treated with inorganic fertilizer and no manure application, with plants treated with palm kernel residue having shorter days to reproductive development than those of plants treated with barley residue. However, all the treatments attained physiological maturity at about 90 days. The reduction in days to silking and ASI likely resulted in effective pollination and longer grainfilling period, which might have contributed to the increased in yield for especially plants treated with palm kernel residue. The results of this study are consistent with the observation that delayed silking is associated with barrenness (Herrero & Johnson, 1981) and appear to reflect reduced partitioning of assimilates to the developing ear at flowering (Edmeades et al., 1993; Kamara et al., 2003). Environmental stress such as N-deficiency delays reproductive development (Bolanos & Edmeades, 1993; Kamara et al., 2005) and reduce ear biomass at flowering (Lemcoff & Loomis, 1986). The increased supply of N to the maize plants with increasing manure rate might have contributed to the early tasseling and silking and also to shorter ASI as the rates

of both organic manures increased. Delay in reproductive development under inorganic fertilization and barley residue as compared to palm kernel residue, respectively, could largely be attributed to lower N supplied by the former than the latter nutrient sources. The plants had shorter days to tasseling and silking and lower ASI in 2010 than in 2011. This could partly be attributed to the higher rainfall in 2010 than in 2011, which could have reduced drought stress in the first year, as drought stress has been reported to delay reproductive development in maize (Edmeades *et al.*, 1993).

Plant height, stem diameter, number of leaves and ear leaf area increased as the rate of both organic manures increased, but the increases in these growth parameters were higher under palm kernel than the barley residue. Kamara et al. (2005) showed that plant height, ear height and total dry matter increased with increasing rates of N application. The increase in nutrient availability, particularly N with increasing rate of manuring, may have contributed to the increase in growth parameters as the rate of both manures increased. This is supported by the fact that palm kernel residue with higher N, P, K, Ca and Mg produced taller plants that had bigger stems and higher number of leaves and ear leaf area than barley residue treated plants. Kamara et al. (2003) showed that maize genotypes with extended green leaf area duration have longer grain filling periods and higher kernel yields and also noted remobilization of assimilates from the stem to the ears. The manure treated plants with bigger stems and

higher number of leaves and ear leaf area, especially those under palm kernel residue likely had longer grain filling periods and more assimilates for remobilization to the developing ears and therefore higher grain yield than the recommended chemical fertilizer and the control.

CONCLUSION

Maize exhibited significant differences for growth parameters and yield under different rates of palm kernel and barley residue manures. These parameters increased with the increase in the rate of manures, but the increases were higher in palm kernel than the barley residue. Organic manure treated plants, especially under palm kernel residue, flowered earlier and had shorter anthesis silking interval (ASI) than those plants treated with inorganic fertilizer. High rainfall reduced days to tasseling and silking and ASI and increased yield. Under low rainfall, both organic manures yielded considerably higher than the inorganic fertilizer when compared with the yield under high rainfall. The use of 3 and 5t ha-1 of particularly, palm kernel residue could substantially increase grain yield without the use of inorganic fertilizer. However, the increase in yield with application rate showed that higher rates should be included in subsequent trials to obtain maize response curves for both manures.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors are grateful to Mr. Braima Sinneh Turay, Miss Jane F. Kabba-Sei, Miss Lucy Lahai and the field staff of the Department of Crop Science for data collection and to Dr. Melvin George for calculation of grain nutrient content.

REFERENCES

- Bolanos, J., & Edmeades, G. O. (1993). Eight cycles of selection for drought tolerance in low land tropical maize 1: response in grain yield biomass and radiation utilization. *Field Crops Research*, 31, 253-268.
- Edmeades, G. O., Bolanos, J., Hernadez, M., & Bello, S. (1993). Causes of silk delay in lowland tropical maize population. *Crop Science*, *33*, 1029-1035.
- Fakorede, M. A. B., Badu-Apraku, B., Kamara, A.Y., Menkir, A., & Ajala, S. O. (2003). Maize revolution in West and Central Africa. In
 B. Badu-Apraku, M. A. B. Fakorede, M. Ouedraogo, R. J. Carsky, & A. Menkir (Eds.), *Maize revolution in West and Central Africa*. (pp. 3-15).
- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization) (1992). The State of Food and Agriculture. *FAO Agricultural Series*, No. 25, Rome Italy.
- George, J. B. (1986). Maize response to nitrogen fertilization. Adaptive Crops Research and Extension (ACRE) Project 1985 Annual Report.
- Herrero, M. P., & Johnson, R. R. (1981). Drought stress and its effects on maize reproductive systems. *Crop Science*, *21*, 105-110.
- IITA (International Institute of Tropical Agriculture) (1982). Automated and semi-automated methods for soil and plant analysis; Manual series No. 7, International Institute of Tropical Agriculture (IITA), Ibadan, Nigeria, p. 33.
- Kamara, A. Y. (1998). Investigations into the effects of some selected multipurpose trees on weed and growth of maize (Zea mais (L.) and cowpea

(Vigna unguiculata (L.) in South-Western Nigeria. *Journal of Agriculture in the Tropics and Sub-tropics*, Beiheft Nr. 65.

- Kamara, A. Y., Menkir, A., Badu-Apraku B., & Ibikunle, O. (2003). Reproductive and stay-green trait responses of maize hybrids, improved openpollinated varieties and farmers' local varieties to terminal drought stress. *Maydica*, 48, 29-37.
- Kamara, A. Y., Menkir, A., Fakorede, M. A. B., Ajala, S. O., Badu-Apraku, B., & Kureh, I. (2004). Agronomic performance of maize cultivars representing three decades of breeding in the Guinea Savannas of West and Central Africa. *Journal of Agricultural Science*, 142, 1-9.
- Kamara, A. Y., Menkir, A., Ajala, S. O., & Kureh, I. (2005). Performance of diverse maize genotypes under nitrogen deficiency stress in the northern Guinea savanna of Nigeria. *Experimental Agriculture*, 41, 199-212.
- Lemcoff, J. H., & Loomis, R. S. (1986). Nitrogen influences on yield determination in maize. *Crop Science*, 26, 1017-1022.
- Manyong, V. M., Smith, J., Weber, G. K., Jagtap, S. S., & Oyewole, B. (1996). *Macro-characterization* of Agricultural Systems in West Africa: an Overview. Resource and Crop Management Research Monograph No. 21. Ibadan, Nigeria: IITA.
- Martinez, E. A., Veas, E., Jorquera, C., San Martin, R., & Jara, P. (2009). Re-Introduction of quinoa into Arid Chile: Cultivation of two lowland races under extremely low irrigation. *Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science*, 195, 1-10.
- Mugendi, D., O'Neil, M., & Seward, P. (1994). Evaluation of potential of leaves of multipurpose tree species as source of nitrogen for maize. *Africa Crop Science Journal*, 2, 273-278.

- Sanchez, P. A. (1987). Soil productivity and sustainability in agro-forestry systems. In H.A. Stepper and P. K. R. Nair (Eds.), *Agro-forestry: A decade of Development* (pp. 205-226). ICRAF, Nairobi, Kenya.
- Sanchez, P. A., & Palm, C. A. (1996). Nutrient cycling and agro-forestry in Africa. *Unasylva*, 47, 24-28.
- Sanchez, P. A., Izac, A-M N, Buresh, R. J., Shepherd, K. D., Soul, M., Mokwunye, A.U., Palm, C. A., Woomer, P. L., & Nderitu, C. G. (1997). Soil fertility replenishment in Africa as an investment in natral resource capital. *Replenishing soil fertility in Africa*. ASA-SSA Special Publication.
- Sanginga, N., & Swift, M. J. (1992). Nutritional effects of Eucalyptus litter on the growth of maize (Zea mays L.). Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 41, 55-65.
- SAS Institute; SAS/STAT (1991).User's Guide, Version 6, Fourth Edition. Cary, NC, USA: SAS Institute.
- Swift, M. J., Heal, O. W., & Anderson, J. M. (1979). Decomposition in terrestrial ecosystems. *Studies in Ecology* (5), United Kingdom Blackwell, Oxford.
- USDA. (1975). Soil taxonomy: a basic system of soil classification for marking, interpreting soil surveys. United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Agricultural Handbook No. 436, p. 1.
- Vanlauwe, B. (1996). Residue quality, decomposition and soil organic matter dynamics under Sub-Saharan Tropical conditions. Doctoraatsproefschrift Nr. 313 aan de Faculteit Landbouwkundige en Toegepaste Biologische Wetenschappen van de K. U. Leuven;



TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Thermotolerance Acquisition in Broiler Chickens through Early Feed Restriction: Response to Acute Heat Stress

Abioja, M. O.^{1*}, Sodipe, O. G.¹, Abiona, J. A.¹, Oladipo, K. A.¹, Kasali, O. D.¹, Akerele, Z.¹, Ola, A.¹, Oke, H.¹, Ogundele, O.¹ and Osinowo, O. A.²

¹Department of Animal Physiology, Environmental Resources and Agricultural Research, Federal University of Agriculture, PMB 2240 Abeokuta, Nigeria ²Institute of Food Security, Environmental Resources and Agricultural Research, Federal University of Agriculture, PMB 2240 Abeokuta, Nigeria

ABSTRACT

Broiler chicks were subjected to early feed restriction (EFR) on d3-5 post-hatch to determine the day that confers the best thermal tolerance during acute heat stress episode at market age. In Experiment I, 160 Marshall chicks were allotted to 4 treatments. One group received feed ad libitum (CONTROL), while others received no feed for a period of 24 hours on d3 (D3), d4 (D4) and d5 (D5), respectively. Each group had 4 replicates with a total of 10 birds per replicate. On d55 of age, rectal temperature (RT) was monitored and blood samples were taken from the birds before and 1h after exposure to temperature $37\pm2^{\circ}$ C and 50% relative humidity. There were a total of 120 chicks in Experiment II and they were divided into 3 groups which were either fed ad libitum (CONTROL) or had feed withdrawn for 12h (D5¹²) or 24h (D5²⁴) on d5 to determine the length of feed restriction that best conferred thermotolerance on the birds. RT and blood sampling were also done as described above. In Experiment I, haematological parameters were (P>0.05) similar among the treatments before and after exposure. Prior to the exposure to heat stress, RT was not affected (P>0.05) by feeding regimen but it was significantly (P < 0.05) affected by the treatment after the exposure. D5 chickens had significantly (P < 0.05) lower temperature than control. However, it was not different from D3 and D4 chickens. In Experiment II, initial RT did not differ

ARTICLE INFO Article history: Received: 30 May 2013 Accepted: 23 April 2014

E-mail addresses:

dimejiabioja@yahoo.com (Abioja, M. O.), bunmigraphics@yahoo.com (Sodipe, O. G.), abionajohn@yahoo.ca (Abiona, J. A.), kennylad4impact@yahoo.com (Oladipo, K. A.), olubukolakasali@gmail.com (Kasali, O. D.), zeelade@yahoo.com (Akerele, Z.) * Corresponding author among the 3 treatment groups although RT was (P<0.05) affected by the feeding regimen after 60 minutes of exposure. The control chickens had similar RT with that of D5¹². However, RT in control birds (P<0.05) was higher than RT in D5²⁴. Thus, applying EFR in broilers on D5 of post-hatch for 24

hours may help reduce hyperthermia during heat spell at market age.

Keyword: rectal temperature, acute heat stress, broilers, H:L, early feed restriction

INTRODUCTION

Broiler production continues to suffer under the influence of heat stress in the tropics (Lin *et al.*, 2006; Abioja, 2010; Sunil Kumar *et al.*, 2011) where environmental temperature is often above thermal comfort zone of most poultry species. It results in hyperthermia (Altan *et al.*, 2000; Garriga *et al.*, 2006) which leads to a cascade of events that affect the well-being of the birds. Heat stress causes changes in leucocyte number and other haematological parameters (Maxwell *et al.*, 1992; Yalcin *et al.*, 2004).

Broilers are more susceptible at growing phase and at market age than starting phase. The envisaged increase in environmental temperature, as climate change becomes more evident, has created fear in broiler industry. Moreover, IPCC (2007) report pointed to Africa as a continent that is most likely to be affected by climate variations. Climate change, in terms of both climate means and variability, poses a great threat to farmers and the livestock in the region.

Stress is usually avoided because of its perceived repercussions on living tissues. However, evidences are emanating from various research works that exposure of broiler chicks to mild stress at early age help in acquiring thermotolerance at latter age. This was first reported in rats by Levine (1962). The author discovered that mild stress at early age affects the adrenocortical functioning during adulthood. It was later confirmed in broiler chickens (Yahav and Plavnik, 1999; Zulkifli et al., 2000; Liew et al., 2003). From this assertion, there are two strategies that have been explored: thermal conditioning (TC) and early feed restriction (EFR). TC involves exposing chicks at early age post-hatch to elevated ambient temperature (Arjona et al., 1990; Yahav and Hurwitz, 1996; Yahav and McMurtry, 2001) within the first six days while EFR subjected the chicks to varying degrees of hunger during the same period (Zulkifli et al., 1994). TC has been demonstrated to be effective as a tool for thermotolerance acquisition in poultry but its application is not practicable in the traditional open-sided poultry houses common in most tropical and developing countries. The cost of heating poultry house to a desired temperature is high. Besides, the technicality associated with thermal conditioning such as length and degree of heat exposure may not be easily mastered by the local farmers. This leaves the only option for thermotolerance acquisition in the developing and underdeveloped world to application of early feed restriction.

Zulkifli *et al.* (2000) reported that acute heat stress resulted in increase in heterophil/lymphocyte ratio for all feed restricted groups and the *ad libitum* group. But broilers restricted from 60% of daily feed requirement on day 4, 5 and 6 had the least heterophil/lymphocyte ratio. The authors concluded it appeared 60% feed restriction is beneficial in improving growth and survivability of female broiler chickens exposed to heat stress later in life. The authors restricted the feed by percentage on three consecutive days (day 4, 5 and 6). Exact feed intake of the birds may not be ascertained: feed intake depends on strain, genotype, environmental condition in the pen, body weight, *etc*. Farmer may have problem calculating the feed intake. Besides, percentage feed restriction may not give the exact day the EFR is most effective. Therefore it is important to determine exact day of life the chicks should be subjected to early feed restriction by farmer which ensures best acquisition of thermotolerance.

Therefore, the objective of this study is to determine the effectiveness of EFR in conferring thermotolerance on broilers at market age with respect to change in blood parameters and rectal temperature during acute heat stress. It also sought to establish the actual day and length of time chicks should be exposed to EFR which will ensure the least fluctuation in body temperature and blood picture.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Meteorological observations: Minimum, maximum and mean temperature, and relative humidity at the level of the birds in the pen were monitored by means of digital thermo-hygrometer.

Animals and Management

Experiment I: This focused on appropriate day of exposure to EFR that confers the best thermotolerance on broiler chicks. One hundred and sixty *Marshall* broiler

chicks obtained from a reputable hatchery were allotted to four treatments. One group received feed *ad libitum* (CONTROL) while others received no feed for a period of 24 hours on day 3 (D3), day 4 (D4) and day 5 (D5) respectively. Each group had 4 replicates and 10 birds per replicate. Starter (23.05% crude protein, 11.73 MJ/Kg, 3.93% ether extract and 3.67% crude fibre) and finisher mash (19.91% crude protein, 11.71 MJ/Kg, 3.89% ether extract and 3.79% crude fibre) were supplied *ad libitum* to all birds except on days of feed restriction while water was made available always.

Acute heat stress: Four birds per treatment were transferred from the pen into a preheated room $(37\pm2^{\circ}C, 50\% \text{ RH})$ to test heat tolerant response to 1-hour acute heat stress episode on d55. The temperature was 24°C before the chickens were moved from the pen.

Blood analyses: Blood samples were collected from the birds via brachial vein before the transfer and 1 hour after transfer into the pre-heated room. The samples were centrifuged and the plasma stored at -20°C for analyses. Wintrobes microhaematocrit and colorimetry methods (Lamb, 1991) were used to determine packed cell volume (PCV), haemoglobin concentration (Hb), red blood cell count (RBC) and white blood cell count (WBC). Blood collected into labeled EDTA bottles were placed in the microhaematocrit centrifuge and spun for 5 minutes at a revolution of 1988 x g. The PCV values were subsequently determined by measuring the height of the red cell column and expressing this as a ratio of the height of the total blood column using microhaematocrit reader. Red blood cell count was done by diluting the blood sample with 0.9% NaCl and shaking well. The diluted blood was mounted on a haemocytometer and the number of erythrocytes counted microscopically. Four bBlood smears were stained using May-Grunwald and Giemsa stains approximately 4 h after preparation with methyl alcohol fixation. Leucocyte differentials (heterophils, lymphocytes, eosinophils, monocytes and basophils) were counted for each smear and heterophil:lymphocyte ratio was calculated according to Yalcin *et al.* (2005).

Blood glucose was determined using the enzymes glucose oxidase and peroxidase (Belo *et al.*, 1976). The former catalyses the oxidation of glucose to glucoronic acid and hydrogen peroxide. The hydrogen peroxide in the presence of the second enzyme and a chromogenic hydrogen donor, d-dinisidine forms a coloured substance. The following

TABLE 1

Haematological parameters and blood glucose (before and after acute heat stress episode) of broiler chickens exposed to 24-hour feed withdrawal during d3, d4 or d5 of age

Parameter		CONTROL	D3	D4	D5	Sem	Р
Desired call \cdots have $(0/)$	Before	32.3	33.5	32.5	34.0	1.33	0.97
Packed cell volume (%)	After	31.0	33.8	33.5	34.3	0.72	0.42
Haemoglobin concentration	Before	8.8	9.0	9.1	10.4	0.45	0.63
(g/dL)	After	9.0	10.0	8.8	9.0	0.37	0.70
$D = d + l = d = a + l (- 10)^2 / L$	Before	2.3	2.2	2.1	2.0	0.13	0.79
$\operatorname{Ked}\operatorname{blood}\operatorname{Cell}\left(\mathrm{X10^{12}/L}\right)$	After	1.7	2.2	1.9	1.9	0.10	0.44
White block call $(a, 109/L)$	Before	11.9	14.7	15.2	13.7	0.69	0.35
while blood cell $(X10^7/L)$	After	12.5	12.0	12.7	14.0	0.57	0.67
Ustaraphil (0/)	Before	27.0	36.8	34.5	33.3	1.53	0.12
neteropiin (%)	After	32.3	35.0	33.3	34.3	1.62	0.95
Lumphooute $(9/)$	Before	72.0	62.5	64.8	65.8	1.59	0.18
Lymphocyte (%)	After	66.5	64.0	66.0	64.8	1.74	0.97
Essinophil (9/)	Before	0.25	0.25	0.50	0.00	0.144	0.73
Eosmophin (76)	After	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.112	1.00
Pasanhil (9/)	Before	0.00	0.25	0.25	0.75	0.151	0.38
Basopiii (%)	After	0.50	0.50	0.25	0.25	0.125	0.83
Monoauta (%)	Before	0.75	0.00	0.25	0.75	0.144	0.22
Monocyte (76)	After	0.50	0.50	0.25	0.25	0.125	0.83
Clusses (mg/dL)	Before	149.8	148.0	132.8	146.5	3.98	0.45
Glucose (Ing/uL)	After	144.5	150.8	148.5	148.5	3.10	0.93
Heterophil:Lymphocyte	Before	0.39	059	0.54	0.51	0.33	0.14
ratio	After	0.50	0.57	0.51	0.54	0.04	0.95

procedure was used: 1:10 somogyi-filtrate stock was prepared by adding 0.2 ml of blood to a test tube with 1 ml distilled water. After this, 0.4 ml of 0.3N barium hydroxide was added and stirred vigorously. After 5-10 minutes, 0.4 ml of 5% zinc sulphate and filtered. 0.1 ml of the somogyi-filtrate was put into a tube and mixed with 1 ml of the glucose oxidase enzyme. A blank with 0.1 ml water and standard with 0.1 ml of glucose solution was included with each set of unknowns. All the tubes were incubated in a water bath thermostatically maintained at 37°C for 30-40 minutes. After incubation, 5 ml H₂SO₄ was added to each tube and mixed. The pink colour was read at 540mU against the blank tube (Spectronic® 20D model).

Rectal temperature: The rectal temperature (RT) of the birds was measured using *Jorita* digital thermometer (\pm 0.1°C accuracy, model ECT-5) inserted into the rectum (colon) of the birds and held till the thermometer beeped as described by Abioja *et al.* (2012). The readings were taken before and 1 hour after being transferred into the pre-heated room.

Experiment II: Subsequently *Experiment II* focusing on the length of EFR on day 5 was designed. One hundred and twenty day-old chicks were divided into three treatment groups of 40 each. Group I was fed *ad libitum* (CONTROL) while the remaining 2 groups had feed withdrawn for 12 hours (D5¹²) or 24 hours (D5²⁴). The methods employed and data collection are the same to those of Experiments I. Data were subjected to analysis of variance using SYSTAT

(1992) computer statistical package. Ninety five percentage level of confidence (P<0.05) was taken as significant. Means that are statistically different were separated with Tukey test.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Fig.1 shows the RT of the broiler chickens before and after the exposure to heat stress in Experiment I. There was no significant (P>0.05) difference in the RT of the birds in the four treatments before the exposure. The RT ranged between 41.5 and 42.2°C. However, after 60 minutes of heat episode, RT revealed significantly (P<0.05) higher value in the control chicks than those exposed to EFR on D5. D3 and D4 birds had similar RT with that of the control. The change in the RT of birds in the four groups was not statistically (P>0.05) different (data not presented). The results of haematological parameters and blood glucose (before and after acute heat stress episode) in broiler chickens exposed to 24hour feed withdrawal during D3, D4 and D5 of age are presented in Table 1. For packed cell volume, haemoglobin concentration, red blood cell count, white blood cell count, differential counts, H:L and blood glucose, there were no significant (P>0.05) differences among the four groups before and after the heat stress exposure. Fig.2 presents the results of the initial and final rectal temperature of broilers feed restricted on day 5 for either 12 or 24 hours. The initial RT was not (P>0.05) different from each other. Nevertheless, exposure to acute heat stress resulted in different (P<0.05)







^{a,b} Means with different superscripts differ significantly (P<0.05)

Fig.1: Rectal temperature (before and after acute heat stress episode) of broiler chickens exposed to 24-hour feed withdrawal during d3, d4 or d5 of age



^{a,b} Means with different superscripts differ significantly (P<0.05)

Fig.2: Rectal temperature (before and after acute heat stress episode) of broiler chickens exposed to 12 and 24-hour feed withdrawal during d5 of age

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 37 (3) 311 - 319 (2014)

316

responses in the birds. In particular, D5²⁴ chickens had lower RT than that of the CONTROL chicks. The RT of the D5¹² broilers fell in between the two.

Rectal temperature is used as a major indicator of heat stress in poultry (Abioja et al., 2012). Heat stress leads to elevated body temperature as the environmental temperature shoots ahead of the comfort zone of the birds (Kumar et al., 2011). All the broiler chickens in this study experienced increased rectal temperature during acute heat stress. However, the increment was the highest in birds that had no prior treatment of EFR (Zulkifli et al., 1994). EFR for 24 hours on day 5 gave the least increment in body temperature. This finding shows that they acquire heat tolerance that helps them in limiting the increased body temperature. Similarly, Yahav and Hurwitz (1996) reported that male broiler chickens exposed to thermal conditioning during d5 and d7 had lower body temperature when subjected to acute heat stress (35±1°C; 20-30% relative humidity) than broiler that did not experience thermal conditioning. Yahav and Plavnik (1999) corroborated the report of Yahav and Hurwitz (1996). Birds on restriction on day 3 and day 4 could also tolerate the elevated ambient temperature to some extent but not as much as those on day 5. Most authors who had worked on EFR did not report on its effects on body temperature. Comparing the duration of EFR, the results showed that a whole day restriction conferred a better heat tolerance on the broiler chickens than half day restriction.

Although early feed restricted broiler chickens could resist the effects of excess environmental temperature by limiting the increase in body temperature, there was no influence of EFR in any day compared with the control in haematological parameters and blood glucose. This finding is similar to that of Zulkifli et al. (2000) who stated that although exposing the birds led to an increment in blood glucose, the concentrations of glucose were not affected by feeding regimes. In other words, the stress imposed by feed restriction may not be sufficient enough to elicit the thermotolerant response anticipated. Moreover, feed withdrawal was only done for a period of 24 hours. In contrast, Zulkifli et al. (2000) reported that 60% EFR was found to have lowered H/L ratio compared to the results of the present study where there was no difference detected in the H/L ratio regardless of whether the restriction was on day 3, day 4 or day 5.

It can be concluded that blood parameters of acutely heat-stressed broilers were not affected by EFR. However, applying EFR to broiler chicks of d5 post-hatch for 24 hours may help reduce hyperthermia that is common during heat spell in pen at market age.

REFERENCES

Abioja, M. O. (2010). Temperature-humidity effects on egg fertility and evaluation of vitamin C and cold water on broiler growth in hot season. *Ph.D thesis submitted to the Department of Animal Physiology, University of Agriculture, Abeokuta, Nigeria.* 165p.

- Abioja, M. O., Ogundimu, K. B., Akibo, T. E., Odutola, K. E., Ajiboye, O. O., Abiona, J. A., Williams, T. J., Oke, O. E., & Osinowo, O. A. (2012). Growth, mineral deposition and physiological responses of broiler chickens offered honey in drinking water during hot-dry season. *International Journal of Zoology*, 1-6.
- Altan, O., Altan, A., Oguz, I., PabuAscuoglu, A., & Kanyalioglu, S. (2000). Effects of heat stress on growth, some blood variables and lipid oxidation in broilers exposed to high temperature at an early age. *British Poultry Science*, 41(4), 489-493.
- Arjona, A. A., Denbow, D. M., & Weaver, W. D. (1990). Neonatally induced thermotolerance: Physiological responses. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology*, 95, 393–399.
- Baarendse, P. J. J., Debonne, M., Decuypere, E., Kemp, B., & Van Den Brand, H. (2007). Ontogeny of avian thermoregulation from a neural point of view. *World's Poultry Science Journal*, 63(2), 267-276.
- Belo, P. S., Romsos, D. R., & Leveille, G. A. (1976). Blood metabolites and glucose metabolism in the fed and fasted chickens. *The Journal of Nutrition*. Retrieved from http://jn.nutrition.org/ content/106/ 8/1135.full.pdf.
- Garriga, C., Hunter, R. R., Amat, C., Planas, J. M., Mitchell, M. A., & Moreto, M. (2006). Heat stress increases apical glucose transport in the chicken jejunum. *American Journal of Regulatory Integrative Comparative Physiology*, 290, 195-201.
- IPCC. (2007). Climate Change 2007: Synthesis Report, Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.
- Lamb, G. N. (1991). Manual of veterinary laboratory technique. CIBA-GEIGY, Kenya, pp 98-99.
- Levine, S. (1962). Plasma-free corticosteroid response to electric shock in rats stimulated in infancy. *Science*, 135, 795–796.

- Liew, P. K., Zulkifli, I., Hair-Bejo, M., Omar, A. R., & Israf, D. A. (2003). Effects of early age feed restriction and heat conditioning on heat shock protein 70 expression, resistance to infectious bursal disease and growth in male broiler chickens subjected to heat stress. *Poultry Science*, 82, 1879-1885.
- Lin, H., Jiao, H. C., Buyse, J., & Decuypere, E. (2006). Strategies for preventing heat stress in poultry. *World's Poultry Science Journal*, 62(1), 71-86.
- Maxwell, M. H., Robertson, G. W., Mitchell, M. A., & Carlisle, A. J. (1992). The fine structure of broiler chicken blood cells, with particular reference to basophils, after severe heat stress. *Comparative Haematology Int.*, 2(4), 190-200.
- Sunil Kumar, B. V., Kumar, A., & Kataria, M. (2011). Effect of heat stress in tropical livestock and different strategies for its amelioration. *Journal* of Stress Physiology and Biochemistry, 7(1), 45-54.
- SYSTAT (1992). Systat analytical computer package (version 5.0). systat Inc., USA.
- Tzschentke, B. (2007). Attainment of thermoregulation as affected by environmental factors. *Poultry Science*, *86*(5), 1025-1036.
- Yahav, S., & McMurtry, J. P. (2001). Thermotolerance acquisition in broiler chickens by temperature conditioning early in life: the effect of timing and ambient temperature. *Poultry Science*, 80, 1662-1666.
- Yahav, S., & Hurtwitz, S. (1996). Induction of thermotolerance in male broiler chickens by temperature conditioning at an early age. *Poultry Science*, 75, 402–406.
- Yahav, S., & Plavnik, I. (1999). Effect of early-age thermal conditioning and food restriction on performance and thermotolerance of male broiler chickens. *British Poultry Science*, 40, 120–126.
- Yalcin, S., Ozkan, S., Cabuk, M., & Siegel, P. B. (2004). Duration of tonic immobility, leukocyte

cell numbers and relative asymmetry in broilers under heat stress. *Book of abstracts of XXII World's Poultry Congress WPSA, Istanbul, Turkey*, p. 290.

- Yalcin, S., Ozkan, S., Cabuk, M., Buyse, J. Decuypere, E., & Siegel, P. B. (2005). Pre- and post-natal conditioning induced thermotolerance on body weight, physiological responses and relative asymmetry of broilers originating from young and old breeder flocks. *Poultry Science*, 84, 967-976.
- Zulkifli, I., Che Norma, M. T., Israf, D. A., & Omar, A. R. (2000). The effect of early age feed restriction on subsequent response to high environmental temperatures in female broiler chickens. *Poultry Science*, 79, 1401-1407.
- Zulkifli, I., Dunnington, E. A., Gross, W. B., & Siegel, P. B. (1994). Inhibition of adrenal steroidogenesis, food restriction and acclimation to high ambient temperatures in chickens. *British Poultry Science*, 35, 417–426.


TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Silt Pit Efficiency in Conserving Soil Water as Simulated by HYDRUS 2D Model

Mohsen Bohluli*, Christopher Teh Boon Sung, Ahmad Husni Mohd Hanif and Zaharah A. Rahman

Department of Land Management, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Silt pit is one of the recommended soil water conservation practices in oil palm plantations. It is commonly regarded that the larger and deeper the silt pit, the more effective the pit would be to conserve soil water. This hypothesis was tested in this paper, where the effectiveness of four silt pit dimensions on conserving soil water in the oil palm active rooting zone was simulated using the HYDRUS 2D model. These silt pits had different sizes and total wet wall-to-floor area ratio (W:F): H1 silt pit (1x1x1 m of width, length, and depth, respectively, and W:F ratio of 4.0), H2 (1.5x1x1 and W:F of 2.5), H3 (2x1x0.5 and W:F of 1.5) and H4 ($2 \times 1 \times 2$ and W:F of 1.5). Simulations showed that silt pits with larger W:F ratios could store water for longer periods and feed water to a farther horizontal distance within the soil compared to silt pits with smaller W:F ratios. H1 took the longest to dry out, whereby it took 14 to 19 hours longer to dry out compared to than H2, H3 and H4. H1 and H3 could feed water as far as 80 cm away from the pit more than H2 and H4 (60 and 50 cm, respectively). This is because silt pits with larger W:F ratios had larger horizontal water flow than the vertical water flow. Meanwhile, the depth of a silt pit should not be below the oil palm active rooting depth, which water would flow out of reach by the roots. This study is a preliminary work to a field experiment where simulations from this paper would be validated against measurements obtained in the field before recommending the use of silt pits and their size to be constructed in oil palm plantations.

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received: 28 May 2014 Accepted: 19 June 2014

E-mail addresses:

bohluli.mohsen@gmail.com (Mohsen Bohluli), cbsteh@yahoo.com (Christopher Teh Boon Sung), husni@upm.edu.my (Ahmad Husni Mohd Hanif), zaharah47@gmail.com (Zaharah A. Rahman) * Corresponding author *Keywords:* HYDRUS 2D, oil palm, silt pit, soil water conservation

INTRODUCTION

Further expansion of new oil palm plantations in Malaysia is currently limited to marginal lands which include steep lands. Accelerated

soil erosion on steep slopes causes soil fertility reduction, fresh and ground water pollution and other environmental problems. Hartemink (2006) reported that the erosion under natural forests is less than 1 Mg ha-1 yr¹, while the maximum soil erosion under oil palm plantations is 78 and 28 Mg ha-1 yr¹ for Oxisols and Ultisols, respectively. Chew et al. (1999) also determined 7 to 21 Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ of soil erosion in matured oil palm plantations. Soil erosion reduces oil palm production not only by decreasing soil fertility and organic matter but also by reducing soil water infiltration, soil water content and soil water holding capacity that would consequently cause lesser available soil water content.

Although Malaysia experiences high total annual rainfall (2000-3000 mm), studies have shown that proper water management could further increase oil palm yield. Annual oil palm production, for example, could increase by a mean of 73% when all of the oil palm's daily water demands were fulfilled through irrigation (Foong, 1999). Roslan (2006) observed that irrigation could increase fresh fruit bunches yield of oil palm by 10% compared with rain-fed oil palms in the first harvesting year. Gawankar et al. (2003) showed that water stress reduced leaf production by 30 and 12.5% at the early and later growth periods, respectively, as well as a decrease by 91% in the number of fresh fruit bunches due to the reduction of female inflorescences by 86%.

Hartemink (2003) has shown that soil erosion in oil palm plantations is highly related to slope steepness and soil water management practices. Silt pit is one of the recommended soil-water conservation methods in Malaysia (Teh et al., 2011). Goh et al. (1994) mentioned that maximum oil palm yield production in Malaysia could be increased by yield intensification through land management practices such as silt pits. Silt pits are close-ended trenches dug between oil palm plantation rows, particularly on steep slopes, to break the slope length to smaller catchments, collect run-off and sediments (which contain nutrients) and to redistribute water and nutrients into the oil palm root zone area after rainfall. Silt pits function by reducing soil erosion, controlling run-off and sedimentation, increasing oil palm yield through supplying more water, especially during dry weather, as well as protecting and increasing soil fertility through reduction of nutrient loss and redistribution of eroded nutrients back into the soil. Although silt pits have been practiced for several decades, there have been only a few studies done to determine the effectiveness of silt pits, particularly in high rainfall areas like in Malaysia.

One of the few studies was by Soon and Hoong (2001) who had recorded the highest runoff for plots with pruned fronds stacked down the slope (30.83%), followed by plots with contour stacked fronds (17.88%), and plots with the least runoff were those with contour stacked fronds + silt pit (10.68%). Hidayat and Sutarta (2008) reported that bund terraces were effective to reduce overland flow and soil erosion by 50.8% and 67.5%, respectively. Compared with the

control, however, silt pit reduced overland flow and soil erosion by 94.9% and 98.1%, respectively. Murtilaksono et al. (2008) observed that the number of fronds, number of bunches, average bunch weight and fresh fruit bunches (FFB) were significantly increased by silt pit. Nonetheless, bund terrace increased FFB (25.2 t ha-1) more than silt pit (23.6 t ha⁻¹) and both these methods yielded more than that of the control (20.8 t ha⁻¹). Although bench terraces were able to improve oil palm production more than silt pits, silt pits were more effective in reducing erosion and increasing soil water conservation compared with bench terraces. For example, the combination of bund terraces and silt with mulches reduced overland flow to 26.17 and 1.99 mm, respectively, and total soil erosion to 238.68 and 13.90 kg ha⁻¹, respectively, compared with the control (60.66 mm overland flow and 729.28 kg ha⁻¹ total soil erosion) (Hidayat & Sutarta, 2008). Murtilaksono et al. (2011) also found that bench terraces and silt pits increased soil water contents from 133.80 to 141.25 mm and 165.11 to 200.98 mm, respectively, compared to the control.

Silt pits have been used in the "Ngoro" system in Tanzania for several hundred years. This indigenous soil and water conservation method enables plantation to be done in areas with 10 to 60% slopes (Kayombo *et al.*, 1999). Mally *et al.* (2004) studied the effects of different pit sizes in the Ngoro system for maize cultivation. They reported that application of pits reduced soil erosion significantly and that the larger the pit, the higher the yield of maize would be because of the higher water infiltration and soil water content.

It is commonly believed that the larger and deeper the silt pit, the higher the amount of stored water would be returned to the soil. A silt pit must be able to capture maximum run-off and also to redistribute the collected water into the oil palm active root zone to avoid it from being lost through deep percolation. The water must also be stored for long periods of time for it to be used by oil palm during the dry periods. Hence, the main question in this study was: how does the size of silt pit (dimensions) affect the effectiveness of pits to conserve water into oil palm root zone? In other words, is it better to have larger and deeper silt pit? The objective of this study was to simulate the effectiveness of various silt pit dimensions in conserving soil water content by using the HYDRUS 2D model. This simulation is a preliminary work to a field experiment in which the effectiveness of silt pit dimensions, as reported in this paper, would be compared with one another in field conditions.

The HYDRUS 2D/3D model (Simunek *et al.*, 2006; Sejna & Simunek, 2007) is a software package used for the simulation of two- and three-dimensional movement of water (as well as heat and multiple solutes) in a variably saturated media. The HYDRUS model assumes the following: an insignificant role of air phase in liquid flow process, zero pressure head along a drain located in saturated zone, water leaves the saturated zone by overland flow, and the mass transfer rate is proportional to the

differences in water contents rather than pressure head.

The most important input parameters required by HYDRUS are the water flow parameters including residual water content (Q_r) , saturated water content (Q_s) , saturated hydraulic conductivity (K_s) , empirical coefficients of the hydraulic functions (α and n) and pore-connectivity (I), which affect total soil water capacity and soil water movement (Brooks & Corey, 1964). Water flow parameters can be estimated from measured soil water retention curve, measured soil texture or soil textural classes, which are represented as defaults in the soil hydraulic catalogue of HYDRUS.

There are almost one thousand peerreviewed journal references where the HYDRUS model has been used. For example, Tadaomi *et al.* (2012) simulated the distribution of water content and water fluxes in a water harvesting system (ditches filled with sand) by using HYDRUS 2D. Comparisons between simulated and measured results showed an acceptable agreement. The validity of HYDRUS 2D in terms of water distribution and infiltration in terraced slopes had been tested by Haishen et al. (2008), who reported a good agreement between simulated and measured data. Meanwhile, Raoof and Pilpayeh (2011) examined the accuracy of numerical inversion solution of HYDRUS 2D in simulating soil wetting profile (1m depth) under saturated and unsaturated conditions in different degrees of slope steepness. They reported an estimation average error of 3.22% and root mean square error of 0.032 between measured and simulated data. Zhang et al. (2013) investigated the distribution of infiltrated water in the cross section of furrow irrigation system through laboratory experiments and HYDRUS 2D model. They remarked that the observed and simulated data were highly in agreement based on the mean square error and coefficient of determination (R^2) .

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Four treatments of silt pit dimensions were selected and shown in Table 1.

The data on soil hydraulic and physical properties were collected from Tuan Mee oil palm plantation (03° 16' N and 101° 28' E) at Sg. Buloh in Malaysia. The field site

Treatment	Silt pit size (m) Width × Length × Depth	Volume (m ³)	Opening or floor area (m ²)	Wet wall to floor area ratio (W:F)	Head of water* (m)
H_1	1.0×1.0×1.0	1.0	1.0	4.0	1.00
H_2	1.5×1.0×1.0	1.5	1.5	2.5	0.75
H_3	2.0×1.0×0.5	1.0	2.0	1.5	0.50
H_4	2.0×1.0×1.0	2.0	2.0	1.5	0.50

TABLE 1Silt pit sizes used in the simulations

* Indicates the height of stored water from the floor of silt pit. A fixed volume of 1m³ of water was placed in all silt pits at the beginning of simulation.

has a slope steepness of 11°. The soil of this area is classified as Bungor Series (Typic Paleudult), which comprises low grade schists or in-durated shales. The mean total rainfall in Tuan Mee estate is 2440 mm, with an average of 160 mm monthly rain. The data used in the model were measured from the field: bulk density (1.35 Mg m⁻³, core ring method, Blake & Hartage, 1986); sandy clay loam texture (USDA) with 24.92, 7.34 and 67.74 % clay, silt and sand, respectively; and the soil hydraulic properties (pressure plate and membrane technique. Richards (1974) were: permanent wilting point (0.13 $m^{3} m^{-3}$), saturated point (0.44 $m^{3} m^{-3}$), parameter α and n in the soil water retention function (2.00 cm⁻¹ and 1.30, respectively), saturated hydraulic conductivity (0.02 m day⁻¹) and tortuosity parameter in the conductivity function (0.50).

The HYDRUS model numerically solves Richards' equation for water flow:

$$\frac{\partial \theta}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left[K \left(K_{ij}^A \frac{\partial h}{\partial x_j} + K_{iz}^A \right) \right] - S \quad [1]$$

where θ is the volumetric water content (L³L⁻³), h is the pressure head (L), S is the sink term (T⁻¹), x_i (i = 1, 2) is the spatial coordinates (L), t is the time (T), $K\frac{A}{ij}$ is the components of dimensionless anisotropy tensor and K is the unsaturated hydraulic conductivity (LT⁻¹).

Van Genochten (1980) function was used to characterize the shape of the soil water retention curve:

$$\theta(h) = \theta_r + \frac{\theta_s - \theta_r}{[1 + (\alpha|h|)^n]^{1 - 1/n}}$$
^[2]

where $\theta(h)$ is the water content (L³L⁻³), |*h*| is the pressure (L⁻¹ or cm of water), θ_s is the saturated water content (L³L⁻³) and θ_r is the residual water content (L³L⁻³) taken to be the permanent wilting point in this study. Note that θ_s , θ_r , α and n are the four independent parameters that must be estimated from the measured soil water retention data. Meanwhile, α can be determined by solving the following:

$$\alpha = \frac{1}{h} \left(\Theta^{-1/m} - 1 \right)^{1/n}$$
 [3]

where Θ is the dimensionless normalized volumetric soil water content and m is given by:

$$m = 1 - 1/n \tag{4}$$

The following empirical formula was used to estimate m:

$$m = \begin{cases} 1 - \exp(-0.8 S_p) \\ 1 - \frac{0.5755}{S_p} + \frac{0.1}{S_{p^2}} + \frac{0.025}{S_{p^3}} \\ (0 < S_p \le 1) \end{cases}$$
[5]

where S_p is the slope of the soil water retention curve at a point halfway between θ_r and θ_s .

The soil geometrical and environmental conditions were set as constant across all silt pit treatments (dimensions). The topography was flat. Simulations assumed no evaporation and no plant water uptake and free drainage was further assumed in order to make the simulation simple. A 50-cm soil depth was selected for the determination of soil water content because oil palm has a shallow active root system within the first 50 cm soil depth (Gray & Hew, 1968).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Simulations showed that the smaller the silt pit floor area (or opening area), the longer it took for the pits to dry out (see Fig.1). In particular, H1, H2, H3 and H4 dried out in 72, 57.6, 52.8 and 52.8 hours, respectively. The simulations also showed that a larger horizontal distance (80 cm) of wetted front for H1 and H3, compared with 60 and 50 cm for H2 and H4, respectively (Fig.2). This means H1 and H3 could feed water horizontally farther into the top soil than H2 and H4.

Water can infiltrate vertically and laterally into a soil (Lal & Shukla, 2004). There would be a larger horizontal movement of water for silt pits with larger total wet wall-to-floor area (W:F) ratio. The narrow opening area of silt pits (H1 and H2) have larger W:F ratios (4 and 3.3, respectively) than H3 and H4 (1.5 for both). When a pit has a larger W:F ratio, the height of stored water in the silt pit would be nearer to the soil surface. Therefore, a larger wall area would be wetted, and this in turn would lead to a larger total water flux through the walls and smaller total flux through the floor compared with a silt pit with smaller W:F. Meanwhile, Sawhney and Parlange (1974) reported that the vertical infiltration is about twice as fast as horizontal infiltration. Therefore, the horizontal water infiltration is always slower than the vertical water infiltration into the soil. This is because vertical soil water movement is driven by both gravity and water potential differences compared with horizontal water movement which is driven only by the water potential



Fig.1: Temporal changes to the height of stored water from the floor of silt pit (Note: lines for H3 and H4 overlap each other)

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 37 (3) 321 - 330 (2014)

Silt Pit Efficiency in Conserving Soil Water as Simulated by HYDRUS 2D Model



Fig.2: Volumetric soil water content at various horizontal distances from the silt pit walls. Soil water content at 0.50 m soil depth and at 72 hours.

gradient. Hence, silt pits with larger floor area lose water more through vertical than horizontal infiltration.

There is a slowing effect of horizontal infiltration on vertical infiltration (Talsma, 1969; Talsma & Parlange, 1972). In other words, an increasing horizontal infiltration causes a decreasing vertical infiltration. Slowing effect is another reason why silt pits with larger W:F ratios could release water slower (hence, store water longer). When larger wall areas in H1 become in contact with water, the quantity of horizontal infiltration will increase. This will then reduce the vertical infiltration.

Fig.3 displays a relationship between total water flux from walls and W:F values. When W:F ratio increases, the proportion of total horizontal water flux to total vertical flux increases. There is an inverse relationship between vertical flux and W:F. Therefore, H3 and H4 with the same W:F had similar horizontal and vertical total flux. The similar performance of H3 and H1 in terms of the wetted front distance (80 cm for both; Fig 2) was because both these pits had equal height of water inside the pit (50 cm) at 50 cm soil depth where the infiltration water was measured.

Increasing the W:F ratio resulted in increasingly more water flux out of the silt pit through its walls than through its floor. This is an important implication because the oil palm roots are located around the walls and not below the floor of the silt pit. Therefore, a silt pit with a large W:F ratio is able to redistribute the stored water to the surrounding root zone and avoid it from being lost through percolation via the silt pit floor and away from the root zone. This

Mohsen Bohluli, Christopher Teh Boon Sung, Ahmad Husni Mohd Hanif and Zaharah A. Rahman



Fig.3: The amount of water output from the walls and floors of the silt pit treatments. Values in parentheses indicate total wall-to-floor area ratio (W:F) for the silt pit dimension. Width, length and depth for H1, H2, H3 and H4 are $1 \times 1 \times 1$, $1.5 \times 1 \times 1$, $2 \times 1 \times 0.5$ and $2 \times 1 \times 1$ m, respectively).

also means that the floor depth of a silt pit cannot be lower than the depth of the active oil palm roots, which will cause water loss to be particularly large for silt pits with very small W:F ratios.

As stated previously, water evaporation was not considered in this simulation. It was however expected that evaporation from a larger opening area would be higher from that of a smaller opening area. Therefore, water loss via evaporation would be more in a silt pit with a bigger opening area than that from a silt pit with smaller opening area. The opening area of H4 is twice of H1, which also means evaporation from H4 is double of that from H1. So, if evaporation was to be included in the simulations, H3 and H4 would dry out even quicker (see Fig.1) and have a smaller wetting front distance (Fig.2) than that reported here.

CONCLUSION

The simulations carried out in this study have shown that the water conservation ability of silt pits is dependent upon their W:F ratios. The larger the W:F ratio, the longer the silt pits could store water and the farther the water could be fed back to the surrounding soil. For the same volume of water, silt pits with a larger W:F ratio would have higher water head and are more horizontal than the vertical movement of water out of the silt pit. This made silt pit, H1 (1x1x1), to store the water the longest and had the farthest horizontal wetting distance than the other silt pit sizes (H2, H3 and H4). Hence, H1 was the best silt pit dimension to conserve soil water. The depth of the silt pit floor could not be lower than oil palm active rooting depth.

The next step of this study would be to carry out a field experiment using the four silt pit dimensions so as to determine the validity of the simulation carried out in this earlier work. Hence, the researchers hope to be able to recommend not only using silt pits as a soil water conservation method in oil palm plantations, but also the silt pit sizes to be constructed.

REFERENCES

- Blake, G. R., & Hartge, K. H. (1986). Bulk Density. In A. Klute (Ed.) Methods of Soil Analysis: Part I. *Physical and Mineralogical Methods*. 2nd Edh. ASA-SSSA.
- Brooks, R. H., & Corey, A. T. (1964). Hydraulic properties of porous media. *Hydrol*. (Paper No. 3). Colorado State Univ., Fort Collins CO.
- Chew, P. S., Kee, K. K., & Goh, K. J. (1999).
 Cultural practices and their impact. Oil Palm and the Environment, Malaysian Perspective.
 In G. Singh, L.K. Huan, T. Leng, & D. L., Kow. (Eds.), *Malaysian Oil Palm Growers Council*.
 Kuala Lumpur.
- Foong, S. F. (1999). Impact of Moisture on Potential Evaporatranspiration, Growth and Yield of Oil Palm. Proc. Of the 1999 international Palm Oil Congress Emerging Technologies and Opportunities in the Next Millennium (pp. 64-86). PORIM, Bangi.
- Gawankar, M. S., Devmore, J. P., Jamadangi, B. M., Sagvekar, V. V., & Khan, H. H. (2003). Effect of Water Stress on Growth and Yield of Tenera Oil Palm. *Journal of Applied Horticulture*, 5(1), 39-40.
- Goh, K. J., Chew, P. S., Teo, C. B., & Chee, K.
 H. (1994). Maximising and maintaining oil palm yields on commercial scale in Malaysia. *International Planters Conference on*

Management for Enhanced Profitability in Plantations, Kuala Lumpur, pp. 121-141.

- Gray, B. S., & Hew, C. K. (1968). Cover crop experiments in oil palms on the West Coast of Malaysia. In P. D. Turner (Ed.), *Oil palm developments in Malaysia*. Inc. Soc. Planters, Kuala Lumpur.
- Haishen L., Yonghua Z., Todd H. S., & Zhongbo Y. (2008). Comparison of Measured and Simulated Water Storage in Dryland Terraces of Loess Plateau, China. *Agricultural Water Management*, 96, 299-306.
- Hartemink, A. E. (2003). Soil Fertility Decline in the Tropics with Case Studies on Plantations. Wallingford: ISRIC-CABI Publishing.
- Hartemink, A. E. (2006). Soil Erosion: Perennial Crop Plantations. ISRIC. *Encycolopedia of Soil Science*.
- Hidayat, Y., & Sutarta, E. S. (2008). Eefktivitas as Teras Gulud dan Rorak dalam Mengendalikan Aliran Permukaan dan Erosi pada Perkebunan Kelapa Sawit di Unit Usaha Rejosari, PT. Perkebunan Nusantara VII, Lampung. *Study Program Science of Land.* Faculty of Agriculture. Bogor Agricultural University.
- Kayombo J., Ellis-Jones, & Martin H. L. (1999). Indigenous Conservation Tillage System in East Africa with an Example of Their Evaluation from South West Tanzania. In P.G. Kaumbutho and T.E. Simalenga (Eds.), conservation tillage with animal traction. A Resource Book of the Animal Traction Network for Eastern and Southern Africa (ATNESA).
- Lal, R., & Shukla M. K. (2004). Principles of Soil Physics. Books in Soils, Plants, and the Environment. The Ohio State University Columbus. Marcel Dekker, Inc. New York, Basel.
- Malley Z. J. U., Kayombo B., Willcocks T. J., & Mtakwa P. W. (2004). Ngoro: an Indigenous,

Sustainable and Profitable Soil, Water and Nutrient Conservation System in Tanzania for Sloping Land. *Elsevier: Soil and Tillage Research* 77, 47-58.

- Murtilaksono, K., Darmosarkoro, W., Sutarta, E. S., Siregar, H. H., & Hidayat, Y. (2008). Effort in Increasing of Oil Palm Production through Application of Soil and Water Conservation Measures. Developing Tomorrow's Leaders in Agriculture and Rural Development: Responding to the Challenges of Globalization. Posters.
- Murtilaksono, K., Darmosarkoro, W., Sutarta, E.S., Siregar, H. H., Hidayat Y., & Yusuf, M. A. (2011). Feasibility of soil and water conservation techniques on oil palm plantation. *Journal of Agriculture Science*, 33, 63-69.
- Raoof, M., & Pilpayeh, A. (2011). Estimating Unsaturated Soil Hydraulic in Sloping Lands by Numerical Inversion. *Journal Food, Agriculture* and Environment, 9(3&4), 1067-1070.
- Richards, L. A. (1974). Pressure Membrane Apparatus – Construction and Use. Agri. Eng. 28, 451-454.
- Roslan, M. N. (2006). Effects of Water Stress on the Physiological Processes and Water Use Efficiency in Oil Palm. *Master Thesis, University Putra Malaysia.*
- Sawhney, B. L., & Parlange J. Y. (1974). Two-Dimensional Water Infiltration from a Trench in Unsaturated Soils. *Soil Science Society of American Journal*, 38(6), 867-871.
- Sejna, M., & Simunek, J. (2007). HYDRUS (2D/3D): Graphical User Interface for the HYDRUS Software Package Simulating Two- and Three-Dimensional Movement of Water, Heat, and Multiple Solutes in Variably-Saturated Media. Published online at www.-pc-progress.cz, PC-Progress, Prague, Czech Republic.

- Simunek, J., Van Genuchten, M. T., & Sejna, M. (2006). The HYDRUS Software Package for Simulating Two- and Three-Dimensional Movement of Water, Heat, and Multiple Solutes in Variably-Saturated Media. *Technical Manual, Version 1.0, PC Progress, Prague, Czech Republic,* pp. 241.
- Soon, B. B. F., & Hoong, H. W. (2001). Agronomic Practices to Alleviate Soil and Surface Runoff Losses in an Oil Palm Estate. *Malaysia Journal* of Soil Science, 6(Special Ed.), 53-64.
- Tadaomi, S., Hiroshi, Y., Haryuki, F., Koji, I., & Yukuo, A.B.E. (2012). Numerical Calculation of Soil Water Movement in a Water Harvesting System with Sand Ditches Using HYDRUS 2D. *Journal of Arid Land Studies, 22*(1), 215-218.
- Talsam, T. (1969). In Situ Measurement of Sorptivity. Aust J. Soil Res., 7, 269-276.
- Talsma, T., & Parlange, J.Y. (1972). One-Dimensional Infiltration. *Aust J. Soil Res.*, 10, 143-150.
- Teh, C. B. S., Goh, K. J., Law, C. C., & Seah, T. S. (2011). Short-term Changes in the Soil Physical and Chemical Properties due to Different Soil and Water Conservation Practices in a Sloping Land Oil Palm Estate. *Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci.*, 34(1), 41-62.
- Van Genuchten, M. T. (1980). A Closed-form Equation for Predicting the Hydraulic Conductivity of Unsaturated Soils. SSSA J. 44(5), 892-898.
- Zhang, Y., Wu, P., Zhao, X., & Wang, Z. (2013). Simulation of Soil Water Dynamics for Uncropped Ridges and Furrows under Irrigation Conditions. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 93(1), 85-98.



TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Multivariate Classification of Promising Paddy Cultivars on the Basis of Physical Properties

Singh, Y. and Prasad, K.*

Department of Food Engineering and Technology, SLIET, Longowal - 148 106, India

ABSTRACT

Properties of materials play important role in the development of processing, storing and handling equipment. Genetic diversity is one of the important tools to qualify genetic variability in both cross and self-pollinated crops. Through this study, efforts were made to find out variability and relationship between paddy cultivars of various economically important traits. Paddy of twenty two selected genetically diverse strains was evaluated for physical and optical characteristics. The moisture content of kernels of selected paddy cultivars ranged from 7.89 to 14.15% (DWB). Multivariate classification techniques were applied to determine the coherent physical and optical characteristics in order to reduce dimensionality problems. The properties heavily loaded on different components are dimensional with frictional in first principal component, dimensional and optical in the second component and optical with gravimetric in the third components found responsive for major variations (79.36%) in the Eigen analysis of data. The observed physical and optical characteristics differed significantly and found to be cultivar dependent, which has paved the way for the classification of selected paddy cultivars on the basis of principal component and cluster analysis. Accordingly, the dominating similar prominent physical and optical characters formed at least three verifiable distinct separate and coherent clusters of paddy cultivars, indicating the usefulness multivariate analysis in identifying promising cultivars with the appropriateness in design and development of agricultural and processing equipment based on opto-physical characteristics.

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received: 1 July 2013 Accepted: 19 February 2014

E-mail addresses: yogender784@yahoo.co.in (Singh, Y.), dr_k_prasad@rediffmail.com (Prasad, K.)

* Corresponding author

Keywords: Paddy, oryza sativa, physical properties, principal component analysis, cluster analysis

INTRODUCTION

Paddy (*Oryza sativa* L) is a widely cultivated cereal crop of the family Gramineae. The paddy production in India has witnessed

more than three folds increase in the past 50 years and contributed to more than one fifth of the total paddy production in world. The present production figure of paddy in India is 152.6 MMT (FAO, 2013). Among 23 recognized species of Oryza in the world, sativa is widely cultivated mainly due to economic reasons with limited cultivation of glaberrima on ritual context specifically grown in West Africa. Also, the desired attributes such as disease and insect resistances with higher climatic adaptability of other wild species have been explored to transfer the desired characteristics to cultivated species through inter breeding for the development of diverse improved paddy variants. The diversities among the cultivars also existed for kernel size, shape, cooking, colour, flavour, milling, nutritive value and their ability to make different rice products. Apart from calorie and protein, rice being staple food, also supplies to some extent vitamins and minerals in the poorman's diet.

Paddy undergoes different levels of processing prior to its conversion into usable form (Singh & Prasad, 2012) for various product preparations (Prasad *et al.*, 2013). The knowledge of physical properties comprised of dimensional, gravimetric and frictional characteristics are thus necessary in the design of equipment for their effective implementation in various operations (Mohsenin, 1980; Sahay & Singh, 1994; Ghadge & Prasad, 2012) starting from harvesting till their conversion into edible form mainly as white rice or rice powder (Prasad *et. al.*, 2012). The obtained data on opto-physical properties may be utilized in the development of equipment related to direct seeded rice (DSR) technology in order to have associated potential benefits of labour, water (20-25%) and cost of cultivation (Kamboj *et al.*, 2012).

Multivariate statistical methods have been applied for the classification of paddy genotypes based on coherent physical and optical characteristics to reduce dimensionality problems. Principal component analysis (PCA) and cluster analysis (CA) as multivariate statistics are often employed purposely (Kara, 2009) to get the relationships among parameters of the original data matrix (Kosa *et al.*, 2001). The multivariate analysis has successfully been applied by the author in characterization of okra genotypes (Sharma & Prasad, 2010a; Prasad & Sharma, 2012).

The comparative characteristics of Indian promising paddy varieties for their classification based on the physical and optical properties are not available yet. Hence, the present study was conducted to determine the physical and optical properties of paddy in order to classify it based on the chemo-metric approach supported by the clustering technique of multivariate analysis.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Twenty two cultivars of paddy kernels were procured from different agro climatic regions of India (Table 1). The acquired cultivars of paddy were cleaned in an air classifier to remove the foreign matter, broken and immature kernels. The initial moisture Multivariate Classification of Promising Paddy Cultivars on the Basis of Physical Properties

TABLE 1 Paddy cultivars and source

Paddy cultivar	Source	Symbol
BR 4-10	Chaudhary Charan Singh Haryana Agricultural University, Hissar, Haryana	1
CSR 10	Indian Agricultural Research Institute, New Delhi	2
Haryana Mahak 11	Chaudhary Charan Singh Haryana Agricultural University, Hissar, Haryana	3
HBC 19	Chaudhary Charan Singh Haryana Agricultural University, Hissar, Haryana	4
HKR 95-157	Chaudhary Charan Singh Haryana Agricultural University, Hissar, Haryana	5
HKR 95-407	Chaudhary Charan Singh Haryana Agricultural University, Hissar, Haryana	6
HKR 99-66	Chaudhary Charan Singh Haryana Agricultural University, Hissar, Haryana	7
HKR H7	Chaudhary Charan Singh Haryana Agricultural University, Hissar, Haryana	8
IR 64	Indian Agricultural Research Institute, New Delhi	9
Jehlum	Sher-e-Kashmir University of Agricultural Sciences and Technology, Jammu & Kashmir	10
Muchhal	Chaudhary Charan Singh Haryana Agricultural University, Hissar, Haryana	11
Palman 579	Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana, Punjab	12
PAU 201	Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana, Punjab	13
Pusa 1121	Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana, Punjab	14
Pusa Basmati	Indian Agricultural Research Institute, New Delhi	15
Pusa Sugandh	Indian Agricultural Research Institute, New Delhi	16
Shabnam	Seed Collection Centre, Sangrur, Punjab	17
Shalimar 1	Sher-e-Kashmir University of Agricultural Sciences and Technology, Jammu & Kashmir	18
Shalimar 2	Sher-e-Kashmir University of Agricultural Sciences and Technology, Jammu & Kashmir	19
Shalimar 3	Sher-e-Kashmir University of Agricultural Sciences and Technology, Jammu & Kashmir	20
Sugandha	Seed Collection Centre, Sangrur, Punjab	21
Usha	Seed Collection Centre, Sangrur, Punjab	22

content of paddy cultivars was determined as per standard method (USDA, 1990) and it was found to vary between 7.89 ± 0.37 to $14.15\pm0.28\%$ (dry weight basis). The physical properties of paddy cultivars were determined for the dimensional, gravimetric and frictional characteristics (Ghadge & Prasad 2012).

Physical Properties

The dimensional characteristics were evaluated for three major perpendicular dimensions: length (L), breadth (B) and thickness (T). The dimensions were measured manually using a dial type vernier caliper (Mitutoyo Corporation, Japan) with the least count of 0.02 mm. The geometric mean dimension (GMD) and aspect ratio (AR) of the sample were assessed using the relationship given by Mohsenin (1980) as:

$$GMD = (LBT)^{\frac{1}{3}} \tag{1}$$

$$AR = \frac{B}{L} \times 100 \tag{2}$$

The criteria used to describe the shape of paddy kernel are sphericity and aspect ratio. Thus, the sphericity (SPH) was accordingly computed (Mohsenin, 1980) as:

$$SPH = \frac{(LBT) \frac{1}{2}}{L} \times 100 \tag{3}$$

The surface area (*SA*) of paddy kernel was evaluated using the relationship given by McCabe *et al.* (1986) as:

$$SA = \pi (GMD)^2 \tag{4}$$

The weight of the paddy samples was recorded using electronic balance (Ishida Co. Ltd., Japan) to an accuracy of 0.001 g. The bulk density (*BD*) of the seed sample was evaluated using the methods suggested by Williams *et al.* (1983). True density (*TD*) was determined using liquid displacement technique (Shepherd & Bhardwaj, 1986). Toluene as liquid was used in spite of water to prevent absorption and also to get the benefit of low surface tension (Ogut, 1998). The porosity (POR) of seeds was computed from the values of true density and bulk density by using the following relationship by Mohsenin (1980):

$$POR = \frac{TD - BD}{TD} \times 100$$
 (5)

The angle of repose (AOR) was determined using the relationship:

$$AOR = tan^{-1} \frac{(2H)}{D} \tag{6}$$

Where, H and D are the height and diameter of the heap in mm.

The static coefficient of friction (COF) was determined for four frictional surfaces namely glass (COFG), galvanized iron sheet (COFGI), plywood parallel (COFPAR) and plywood perpendicular (COFPER). A plastic cylinder of 50 mm diameter and 60 mm height was placed on an adjustable tilting flat plate faced with the test surface and filled with nearly 100 g sample. The cylinder was raised slightly to avoid touching the surface. The structural surface with material filled cylinder on it was inclined gradually until the cylinder just started to slide.

Optical Properties

The optical characteristics of the paddy samples were evaluated using the Hunter Colorimeter (Gretag Macbeth, Model No. i5, USA) in terms of l, a, b and ΔE values, where, I corresponds to the luminance or brightness and a, b to the chromaticity. The 'a' value particularly represents the redgreen component from positive to negative values; the 'b' value represents the yellowblue component in similar ways (Prasad et al., 2010a; Prasad et al., 2010b). Total colour difference (ΔE) is the measure of modulus of the distance vector between the reference colour values and the actual colour coordinates. The total colour difference indicates the colour difference from the standard plate or the reference sample colour (Rhim et al., 1999), which was evaluated as:

Where, l_0 , a_0 and b_0 represented the least observed colour values among the selected paddy cultivars. The total colour difference can be used for the analytical classification on optical basis as small, distinct (and very distinct (colour difference (Adekunte *et al.*, 2010).

Statistical Analysis

In order to determine any statistically significant effects prevailed due to paddy cultivars, analysis of variance (ANOVA) was carried out and critical difference (CD) at P≤0.05 was determined. Descriptive statistics including the means of each attributes were determined and represented graphically for assessing the varietal performance and dependent separations. Principal components analysis (PCA) and hierarchical cluster analysis (CA) for multivariate data were statistically analysed using MINITAB v 13.2 and Microsoft Excel v 2000. The principal component and hierarchical cluster analyses provided the characteristic patterns to classify the selected 22 paddy cultivars. Clustering of the samples was done according to Ward (1963) based on minimizing the loss of information from joining two clusters (Sharma & Prasad, 2010a; Sharma & Prasad, 2010b).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Physical Properties

The comparative characteristic variability of twenty two paddy cultivars (Fig.1) with their overall individual response with respect to their mean is presented in Figures 2 and 3. The analysis of variance (ANOVA) revealed that the differences in selected cultivars were significant for all the attributes indicating the presence of associated variability among them ($p \le 0.05$). The length (L), breadth (B) and thickness (T) of the paddy cultivars varied from 8.10±0.40 to 11.83±0.40 mm, 2.19±0.08 to 3.06±0.19 mm and 1.77±0.11 to 2.20±0.06 mm, respectively. The comparison of the dimensional data with the existing work on paddy can play a vital role in machine design and thus be sufficient in making symmetrical projections towards process equipment adaptation (Mohsenin, 1980). The geometric mean diameter (GMD), which integrates three major dimensional parameters, varies from 3.46±0.01 to 3.85±0.14 mm. Aspect ratio (AR) and sphericity (SPH) of the samples varied in the range of 18.92±0.00 to 36.154±0.68% and 31.16±0.58 to 45.48±0.92%, respectively. Lower values of sphericity with intermediate value of aspect ratio suggest that the paddy tend towards a cylindrical shape rather spherical indicating a likely difficulty in getting the kernel to roll than sliding on surface. This tendency of sliding is necessary in the design of hoppers or sowing equipment. As evident, the surface area (SA) of the paddy kernels ranging from 37.68±0.28 to 46.67±3.43 mm² is a relevant tool in determining the material shape. The dimensional characteristics of the selected paddy cultivars significantly differ ($p \le 0.05$) to each other, support the results reported by Reddy and Chakraverty (2004).

The significant ($p \le 0.05$) difference in bulk density (BD) 323.863±2.281 to 612.126±11.713 kg/m³ and true density (TD) 756.533±3.101 to 1521.737±3.069 kg/m³ have been found evident from the works of Correa *et al.* (2007), Muramatsu *et al.* (2007), and Singh *et al.*, (2005). Higher level of porosity (POR) ranging from 46.42±1.68 to 75.17±0.08% has indicated the dependency on bulk and true densities of the material.

The frictional characteristics for paddy cultivars were found to have significant difference. The experimental values of the angle of repose (AOR) ranged from 30.555±0.288 to 43.807±2.788° (Fig.3). Similar trends have been reported by Ghasemi *et al.* (2008) for emptying angle of repose for rough rice. The coefficient of friction (COF) was found to be minimum for glass surface (COFG) and maximum for plywood surface vertically aligned (Fig.3). The differences in the values may be due to the fact that the roughness of the material used for determining the coefficient of friction (Correa *et al.*, 2007). Thus, the frictional characteristics have imperative roles in the food grain processing, particularly in the designing of the hopper and sowing equipment applied for the purpose of direct seeded rice technology.



Fig.1: Charged coupled device snapshot showing selected paddy cultivars

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 37 (3) 331 - 345 (2014)



Fig.2: Dimensional and gravimetric properties of selected paddy cultivars

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 37 (3): 331 - 345 (2014)

Singh, Y. and Prasad, K.



Fig.3: Frictional and optical properties of selected paddy cultivars

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 37 (3) 331 - 345 (2014)

TABLE 2 Correlation matrix	of variabl	le proper	ties of th	ie paddy	/ cultiva	ILS											
Variables B	Т	GMD	SA	AR	HdS	BD	TD	POR	COFG	COF GI	COF PER	COF PAR	AOR	-	а	þ	DE
L -0.55) -0.62	0.24	0.24	-0.86	-0.92	-0.06	-0.14	-0.04	-0.44	0.25	0.15	0.19	-0.61	0.62	0.36	-0.73	0.50
В	0.70	0.59	0.59	0.92	0.84	0.61	0.18	-0.45	0.73	0.52	0.52	0.52	0.65	-0.26	-0.20	0.30	-0.15
Т		0.45	0.45	0.76	0.81	0.38	0.16	-0.26	69.0	0.24	0.35	0.36	0.43	-0.43	0.08	0.21	-0.40
GMD			1.00	0.26	0.15	0.68	0.10	-0.57	0.49	0.85	0.80	0.84	0.13	0.24	0.25	-0.43	0.23
SA				0.26	0.15	0.67	0.10	-0.57	0.49	0.84	0.79	0.84	0.13	0.23	0.25	-0.43	0.22
AR					0.98	0.42	0.19	-0.26	0.69	0.23	0.28	0.26	0.72	-0.46	-0.28	0.55	-0.34
HdS						0.32	0.18	-0.18	0.66	0.09	0.17	0.15	0.68	-0.54	-0.26	0.59	-0.42
BD							0.25	-0.80	0.47	0.76	0.75	0.73	0.29	0.18	-0.05	-0.20	0.16
TD								0.37	0.06	0.21	0.28	0.27	0.07	0.12	-0.18	0.14	0.22
POR									-0.38	-0.6	-0.54	-0.53	-0.20	-0.10	-0.11	0.27	-0.03
COFG										0.43	0.47	0.46	0.39	-0.07	-0.14	0.22	-0.04
COFGI											0.94	0.95	0.28	0.39	0.25	-0.35	0.43
COFPER												0.99	0.25	0.34	0.25	-0.33	0.37
COFPAR													0.21	0.31	0.31	-0.38	0.34
AOR														-0.23	-0.21	0.36	-0.11
-															-0.23	-0.33	0.94
а																-0.49	-0.20
p																	-0.13

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 37 (3): 331 - 345 (2014)

Optical Properties

The optical properties, l, a and b values of the samples lie in the range of 55.333 ± 2.082 to 68.667 ± 5.132 , 4.00 ± 2.92 to 10.243 ± 0.110 and 20.865 ± 0.292 to 31.333 ± 2.309 , respectively. The value of total colour difference (ΔE) which varied from 12.230 ± 4.861 to 22.134 ± 4.641 further confirms the existence of very distinct colour difference (Adekunte *et al.*, 2010) with a variety of specific associated characteristic variability (p ≤ 0.05) in distinguishing on the basis of considered parameter (Fig.3).

Multivariate Analysis

The correlation matrix of physical and optical characteristics spread over dimensional (seven), gravimetric (three), frictional (five) and optical (four) attributes are shown in Table 2. Nearly, 80% of the correlation coefficients in the matrix are over 0.20 (Table 2). Kernel length was observed having positive significant correlation with optical parameters (l, a, ΔE) whereas negative correlation with dimensional (breadth, sphericity, aspect ratio, thickness), optical (b value) and frictional (AOR) attributes. The strong correlation is indicative for the cultivar associative character towards longer kernel length and the feeble correlation vice versa. The results are in agreement with the physical properties of white rice reported elsewhere (Bhatia et al., 2009).

The data set of the observed measurements was subjected to principal component analysis (PCA), which has eliminated the prevailed variations of highly inter-correlated nature. The initial statistics of the Eigen analysis is given in Table 3. It can be seen that three principal components (PCs) appeared to account for 79.36% of the total variance in the data. According to Kaiser Criterion (Kaiser, 1960), only the first four PCs could be retained because the Eigen values of more than one reduced dimensionality descriptor space to four. The descriptors were represented graphically in the form of loading plot for three components (Fig.4).

TABLE 3 Eigen analysis of principal components

No.	Eigen value	Individual Percent	Cumulative Percent
1	7.524	39.60	39.60
2	5.480	28.84	68.44
3	2.075	10.92	79.36
4	1.252	6.59	85.96
5	0.722	3.80	89.75
6	0.663	3.49	93.25
7	0.447	2.35	95.60
8	0.330	1.74	97.33
9	0.228	1.20	98.53
10	0.152	0.80	99.33
11	0.083	0.44	99.77
12	0.021	0.11	99.88
13	0.010	0.05	99.93
14	0.006	0.03	99.97
15	0.004	0.02	99.99
16	0.002	0.01	100.00
17	0.000	0.00	100.00
18	0.000	0.00	100.00

The loading of components on the principal axes indicated the presence of variability among the selected paddy

cultivars (Fig.4). In order to study the prevailed pattern for the measured attributes and to categorize factors that are substantively meaningful, the chemo-metric approach was applied. It can be seen that the first component explaining 39.60% of variance is highly correlated both positively (porosity) and negatively (dimensional properties, coefficient of friction and other gravimetric properties). Thus, it classifies and distinguishes the score of paddy cultivars on the basis of these components. The second principal component explaining 28.84% of total variance is highly correlated with most of the observed parameters leaving the gravimetric attributes, while the third component has explained only 10.92 % of the total variance and is loaded with mainly the optical attributes and the mass per unit volume occupied by different paddy cultivars as represented in terms of true density (Fig.2).

Fig.4 illustrates the biplot of scores and loadings on the three principal components for the observed parameters of the paddy cultivars. The biplot of principal component 1 (PC1) and principal component 2 (PC2) shows the separation of the paddy cultivars according to their respective scores. The first quadrant of the plot contains samples having positive PC1 and PC2 scores. The cultivars forming a distinct cluster with five cultivars, namely Muchhal (11), PUSA 1121 (14), Shabnam (17), Sugandha (21) and Usha (22), are found loaded with the length and colour difference (ΔE) attributes (Fig.4). Another distinct cluster formed by cultivars Jehlum (10), Shalimar 1 (18), Shalimar 2 (19) and Shalimar 3 (20), the short bold rice kernel characteristics and occupied their position in third quadrant in principal space (Fig.4). The remaining 13 cultivars have formed a separate cluster and occupied their place in the fourth quadrant in principal space (Fig.4).

A graphical depiction of classification based on measured characteristics of selected paddy cultivars was obtained by means of cluster analysis (CA) of standardized compositions using Ward's method (Ward, 1963) as an amalgamation rule and squared Euclidean distances as the measure of proximity between samples. A dendogram is shown in Fig.5. As a result of applying CA to the principal component score matrix, the paddy cultivars were grouped into three different clusters (Table 4) supporting the findings obtained using principal component analysis. It was revealed that clusters I, II and III have 5, 4 and 13 cultivars, respectively. The formed first cluster represents mainly the long grain rice varieties (Singh & Prasad, 2013) and was found susceptible to breakage during milling (Singh & Prasad, 2012). The clustering pattern of paddy cultivars reveals considerable characteristic diversity among themselves pertaining basically on the attributes of dimensional and total colour difference characteristics by occupying three clusters. Thus, the above characterizations of paddy cultivars on the basis of dissimilarity in scores with respect to extracted principal components justify the existence of variability and may be used varietal improvement programme with the development of equipment pertaining to the processing and agricultural purposes.

Singh, Y. and Prasad, K.



Fig.4: Biplot of loadings and scores for paddy cultivars on principal axes 1, 2 and 3

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 37 (3) 331 - 345 (2014)

Multivariate Classification of Promising Paddy Cultivars on the Basis of Physical Properties



Fig.5: Dendogram of Cluster Analysis for selected paddy cultivars

TABLE 4Distribution of 22 paddy cultivars into three clusters

Cluster No.	Paddy cultivars in different cluster
Ι	Muchhal (11), PUSA 1121 (14), Shabnam (17), Sugandha (21) and Usha (22)
II	Jehlum (10), Shalimar 1 (18), Shalimar 2 (19) and Shalimar 3 (20)
III	BR 4-10 (1), CSR 10 (2), Haryana Mahak 11 (3), HBC 19 (4), HKR 95- 157 (5), HKR 95-407 (6), HKR 99-66 (7), HKR H7 (8), IR 64 (9), Palman 579 (12), PAU 201 (13), PUSA Basmati (15) and PUSA Sugandh (16)

CONCLUSION

Characteristic variations among physical and optical properties existed among the paddy cultivars. Cultivars Muchhal, PUSA 1121, Shabnam, Sugandha and Usha showed greater potentials in terms of handling attributes as it may outperform processing as compared the other cultivars due to significant dimensional variations. This indicates the usefulness multivariate analysis in identifying promising cultivars for the likely possibility to produce new recombinants with desired characters or appropriateness in the development of agricultural and processing equipments based on the opto-physical characteristics.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge the support of all the institutions in making the paddy cultivars available for the present work.

REFERENCES

Adekunte, A., Tiwari, B., Cullen, P., Scannell, A., & O'Donnell, C. (2010). Effect of sonication on colour, ascorbic acid and yeast inactivation in tomato juice. *Food Chemistry*, 122(3), 500–507.

- Bhatia, T, Sharma R. K., Kumar, R., & Prasad, K. (2009). Some studies on quality assessment of exotic promising rice cultivars on the basis of physical characteristics. *Research and Reviews in Biosciences*, 3(4), 153-156.
- Correa, P. C., Schwanz da Silva, F., Jaren, C., Afonso Junior, P. C., & Arana, I. (2007). Physical and mechanical properties in rice processing. *Journal* of Food Engineering, 79, 137-142.
- FAO STAT. (2013). FAOSTAT Statistical Database, 2013.
- Ghadge, P. N., & Prasad, K. (2012). Some Physical Properties of Rice Kernels: Variety PR-106. *Journal of Food Process Technology*, 3, 175. doi:10.4172/2157-7110.1000175.
- Ghasemi, V. M., Mobli, H., Jafari, A., Keyhani, A. R., Heidari, S. M., Rafiee, S., & Kheiralipour, K. (2008). Some physical properties of rough rice (*Oryza Sativa* L.) grain. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 47, 496-501.
- Kaiser, H. F. (1960). The application of electronic computers to factor analysis. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 20, 141–151.
- Kamboj, B. R., Kumar, A., Bishnoi, D. K., Singla, K., Kumar, V., Jat, M. L., Chaudhary, N., Jat, H. S., Gosain, D. K., Khippal, A., Garg, R., Lathwal, O. P., Goyal, S. P., Goyal, N. K., Yadav, A., Malik, D. S., Mishra, A., & Bhatia, R. (2012). Direct Seeded Rice Technology in Western Indo-Gangetic Plains of India: CSISA Experiences. CSISA, IRRI and CIMMYT. 16 pp.
- Kara, D. (2009). Evaluation of trace metal concentrations in some herbs and herbal teas by principal component analysis. *Food Chemistry*, 114, 347-354.
- Kosa, A., Cserhati, T., Forgacs, E., Morais, H., Mota, T., & Ramos, A. C. (2001). Profiling of colour pigments of chili powders of different origin by high-performance liquid chromatography. *Journal of Chromatography A.*, 915, 149-154.

- MaCabe, W. L., Smith, J. C., & Harriorth, P. (1986). Unit operations of chemical engineering. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company.
- Mohsenin, N. N. (1980). Physical properties of plant and animal materials (Vol. 1). New York: Gordon and Breach Science Publishers.
- Muramatsu, Y., Tagawa, A., Sakaguchi, E., & Kasai, T. (2007). Prediction of thermal conductivity of kernels and a packed bed of brown rice. *Journal* of Food Engineering 80, 241-248.
- Ogut, H. (1998). Some physical properties of white lupin. Journal of Agricultural Engineering Research, 56, 273-277.
- Prasad, K., & Sharma, R. K. (2012). Characterization of okra seeds of promising genotypes on the basis of physical properties. *Indian Journal of Agricultural Research 46*(3), 199-207.
- Prasad, K. Prakash, P., & Prasad, K. K. (2010a). *Rice* based functional cookies for celiac: Studies on its formulation, Lambert Academic Publishing, Saarbrucken, Germany, 128p.
- Prasad, K., Prakash, P., & Prasad, K. K. (2010b). Some studies on formulation of rice based functional cookies for celiac. *World Journal of Dairy & Food Sciences*, 5(2), 164-172.
- Prasad, K., Anil, A., Singh, Y., & Sinha, A. S. K. (2013). Concentration dependent rheological behaviour of promising basmati and non basmati rice flour. *International Food Research Journal* 20(4), 2005-2008.
- Prasad, K., Singh, Y., & Anil, A. (2012). Effects of grinding methods on the characteristics of Pusa 1121 rice flour. *Journal of Tropical Agriculture* and Food Science 40(2), 193–201.
- Reddy, B. S., & Chakraverty, A. (2004). Physical properties of raw and parboiled paddy. *Biosystems Engineering, 88,* 461-466.
- Rhim, J., Wu, Y., Weller, C., & Schnepf, M. (1999). Physical characteristics of a composite film of

soy protein isolate and propyleneglycol alginate. *Journal of Food Science*, *64*(1), 149–152.

- Sahay, K. M., & Singh, K. K. (1994). Unit Operations of Agricultural Processing. Vikas Publishing House Pvt. Ltd. New Delhi India.
- Sharma, R. K., & Prasad, K. (2010a). Classification of promising okra [Abelmoschusesculentus (L.) Moench] genotypes based on principal component analysis. Journal of Tropical Agriculture and Food Science, 38(2), 161-169.
- Sharma, R. K., & Prasad, K. (2010b). Characterisation of promising Okra genotypes on the basis of Principal Component Analysis, *Journal of Applied Horticulture*, 12(1), 71-74.
- Shepherd, H., & Bhardwaj, R. K. (1986). Moisturedependent physical properties of pigeon pea. *Journal of Agricultural Engineering Research*, 35, 227–234.
- Singh, N., Kaur, L., Sodhi, N. S., & Sekhon, K. S. (2005). Physicochemical, cooking and textural properties of milled rice from different Indian rice cultivars. *Food Chemistry*, 89, 253-259.

- Singh, Y., & Prasad, K. (2012). Rice grain quality assessment as affected by level of processing. *Crop Improvement 39*(S), 1359-1360.
- Singh, Y., & Prasad, K. (2013). Physical characteristics of some of the paddy varieties as affected by shelling and milling operations. *Oryza* 50(2), 174-180.
- USDA. (1990). Inspection handbook for the sampling, inspection, grading, and certification of rice. Washington DC USA.
- Ward, J. H. (1963). Hierarchical grouping to optimize an objective function. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 58, 236-244.
- Williams, P. C., Nakoul, H., & Singh, K. B. (1983). Relationship between cooking time and some physical characteristics in Chickpea (*Cicer* arietinum L.). Journal of Science of Food and Agriculture, 34, 492–496.



TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Multivariate and an Ordination Approach to Classify the Attractiveness of the Plant Species in Pastoral Lands

Fazel Amiri1* and Abdul Rashid Mohamed Shariff²

¹Department of Natural Resources, Faculty of Engineering, Islamic Azad University, Bushehr Branch, Iran ²Department of Biological and Agricultural Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

To identify the foraging plants by honeybees and determine apicultural potential, a sample collection of species was carried out with the commencement of rangeland plants at 6 different stations in the Freidan summer rangelands during 2010. Attractive index (AI) of each plant was determined by direct observations based on the average number of bees visiting and the length of time that each bee spents on the flowers. By using ordinate method, the AI data were classified into four main groups. The most import vegetation families utilized by the bees in the area were Compositae Labiatae, Umbeliferae, Cruciferae, Gramineae, Liliaceae and Caryophyllaceae. The results of the assessment carried out on the plant diversity showed that between 88 plant species, 70 species were utilized by the bees. These species were unpalatable for grazing animals and were dominant in degraded rangelands. The Class I group comprised of Papaver dubium, Onobrychys sativa, Astragalus gossipianus, Thymus kotschvanus, Eryngium billardieri, Echinops cephalotes and Alhagi camelorum. The Class II group comprised of Eremurus persicus, Peganum harmala, Astragalus sp., Centaurea sp., Scariola orientalis, Medicago lupulina, Ferula gummosa and Mentah longifolia. The Classes III and IV comprised of the species, Euphorbia, Tragopagon caricifolius, Centaurea, Salvia sp, Acantholimon erinaceum, Convolvulus arvensis, Achillea falcate and Cynodon dactylon. The results indicated that the more extensive uses of the pollen of these plants by the honeybees were associated with

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received: 4 July 2013 Accepted: 18 February 2014

E-mail addresses: amiri_fazel@yahoo.com (Fazel Amiri), rashidsnml@gmail.com (Abdul Rashid Mohamed Shariff) * Corresponding author the higher attractiveness of the flowers and the presence of more nutritive materials in the pollen and nectar.

Keywords: Multivariate, Cluster analysis, Attractive index (AI), beekeeping, *Apis mellifera persica*

INTRODUCTION

To utilize the natural resource capabilities for apicultural purposes, there is a need for precise and comprehensive information regarding the attractiveness of plant species in order to raise and keep honeybees. The existence of plants with high pollen and nectar producing potential in semiarid rangeland will enable employment of these species for bee keeping as one of the multiple aspects of rangeland use. Thus, their development based on native knowledge is an important strategy to create new employment and compensate for the income decline among ranchers due to the recommended decrease in livestock pressure to be applied to rangelands.

Recognition of favorite bee plants, their dispersion areas, determination of the attractiveness of plant species, as well as phenology (especially during flowering period) is important planning tools for the protection and prevention of rangeland destruction and beekeeping development (Amiri & Mohamed Shariff, 2012). Since there is close interaction between bees and flowering plants, it is necessary to identify and study plants used by honeybees and be aware of their biological needs in order to raise them (Abou-Shaara, 2013). Therefore, detailed knowledge is necessary to achieve maximum production in bee keeping (Abou-Shaara et al., 2013).

Lack of attractiveness of plants would indicate lack of apicultural capacity of the rangelands. Hence, the study on the nectar and pollen producing potential of plants in an area is important to determine bee keeping effectiveness. In this respect, Ghalechnia (2006) studied the summer rangelands of Mazandaran province and noted that the most nectar bearing species were from the Leguminosae, Labiatae, Compositae and Rosaceae families. In the Markazi province, Asadi et al. (2004) reported 139 plant species from among 32 plant families, while Nazarian et al. (2006) identified 186 genera with 301 plant species used by honeybees among 54 plant families and specified their attractiveness. In the summer rangelands to the east of Mazandaran, Razaghi Kamrodi (2009) introduced plant species from the Labiatae, Compositae, Leguminosae, Rosaceae, and Cruciferae families. In the Tarobar basin area, Sabaghi et al. (2006) named the more important families as Compositae, Labiatae, Rosaceae, Leguminosae, Cruciferae, Umbelliferae, Scrophulariaceae and Plumbaginaceae. In Esfahan province, however, Faghih et al. (2005) attached greater importance to Papilionaceae, Compositae, Labiatae and Umbelliferae families. This was due to the existence of flowers bearing a great deal of pollen and the special characteristics of compounds in the pollen and nectar of the flowers. In Far province, Karimi and Jafari (2009) also noted that Compositae, Papilionaceae, Labiatae, Rosaceae, Umbelliferae and Cruciferae families are important families. In Mazandaran province, Akbarzadh and Razaghikamrodi (2006) identified 123 species from 22 families and 68 genera based on nectar and pollen bearing potential of the plant species. Coffey and Breen (1997) identified 76 nectar and

pollen bearing plant species in Ireland. In Ghana, Amoako (1997) studied 399 plant species from 59 families and introduced 255 pollen and nectar bearing species. Freitas (1994) identified 62 plant species used by honeybees by analyzing pollen samples in the Caatinga area of Brazil. Shahid (1992) studied the attractiveness of 178 plant species from 45 plant families and reported that the most important plant families in the frontier province of northwest of Pakistan are Compositae, Rosaceae, Leguminosae and Labiatae. Maskey (1992) reported that the most important plant families in Kathmandu are Rosaceae and Cruciferae. In Nepal, Verma and Attri (2008) identified 31 plant species and specified their attractiveness to honeybees. There is a wealth of literature on the apicultural capacity of many species of plants. However, little is known on the

nature and apicultural capacity of plant species in the rangelands of Freidan, which is located in the north-west of Isfahan Province. Hence, the aim of this study was to identify the diversity of plant species of the area and suggest suitable strategies to enhance apicultural capacity of the rangelands. The study also aimed to identify the diversity of the plant species in terms of their pollen and nectar bearing potential and determine the attractiveness of the species to *Apis mellifera persica* bees.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Area

The study area included 6 different stations in the Freidan rangelands in the north-west of Isfahan Province (50°, 00′-50°, 12′E and 32°, 56′-33°, 48′N) covering a 25,221 ha



Fig.1: Location of the study area

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 37 (3): 347 - 362 (2014)

plain. The average altitude of this region is 2828 meters above sea level (see Fig.1). It has semi-arid climate with an average annual rainfall of 452 mm yr⁻¹. Rainfall mainly occurs in the autumn and winter. The mean annual temperature is about 10 degrees Celsius. About 86.62% (21666 hectares) of the study area are rangelands, which include 10 vegetation types.

Sampling Methods

A quantitative survey of the vegetation was carried out during May and June 2010. The survey included the concentration of honeybee colonies. The survey was carried out with the aid of 1:20,000 and 1:50,000 scale maps.

Vegetation Types and Identification of Diversity of the Plant Species

A random-systematic sampling method was used to sample the diversity of plant species in each vegetation type (Potts *et al.*, 2009). In each vegetation type, two 200 meter transects were made along and perpendicular to the slope (Fig.2). Along each transect, one square meter (1 m²) of the sampling areas was marked at 20 meter intervals and plant characteristics within the sampling areas were determined. The



Fig.2: Vegetation type mapping of Freidan summer rangelands

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 37 (3) 347 - 362 (2014)

presence or absence and cover percentages of nectar and pollen producing plants within the sampled plots were also determined (Ebeling *et al.*, 2008). The plants were identified by comparing them with available herbarium samples, published information and were based on interviews with local bee keepers (Asadi *et al.*, 2004; Afzali, 2006; Faghih *et al.*, 2005; Nazarian *et al.*, 2006; Amoako, 1997; Coffey & Breen, 1997).

Flowering Period

The flowering periods of plants were recorded from start to finish during weekly field visits to the area. Plant communities with at least 10 to 20% of dominant flowering pattern were determined.

Attractiveness Index of Plant Species

The attractiveness of plants for honeybees were determined in field observations by recording the number of visiting bees, and the time bees settle on each species during the flowering period (Rastgar *et al.*, 2007). At 100 to 1000 meter intervals, honeybee colonies were counted and recorded in the relevant forms. The number of visitor bees on each species was counted within a square meter area during 10 minutes. The honeybee settlement period of each species was measured using a stopwatch. The attractiveness of the species was determined as follows:

The average time and number of honeybees settling on each plant was divided by the total time and number of bees settling on all plants, and multiplied by 100, respectively. The two indices were added up and the mean was considered as the attractiveness index (AI) of each plant species.

$$AI = \frac{R_n + R_i}{2} \tag{1}$$

where AI is the attractiveness index, R_n and R_t are the average time and number of honeybees settling on each plant, respectively.

Data Analysis

Multivariate analysis was performed using SPSS® software, with XlStat an add-in package of Microsoft Excel 2010. Agglomerative hierarchical clustering (AHC) and Gap statistic (Gs) were used to identify differences between the classes and to cluster the samples with similar coefficients. AHC was undertaken according to the Ward-algorithmic method. Results are presented in a dendrogram where steps in the hierarchical clustering solution and values of distances between clusters (squared Euclidean distance) are represented. Thus, species having excellent attractiveness (Group, I), species with good attractiveness (Group II), species having average attractiveness (Group III), and species with weak attractiveness (Group IV) were separately classified into the distinct groups. The attractiveness index (AI) of each plant species was classified into four levels as in Table 1.

Fazel Amiri and Abdul Rashid Mohamed Shariff

IADLE I	
The Score of each spec	cies based on AI index
Range	Class
5	Ι
4	II
3	III
1	IV

TARLE 1

RESULTS

The results of assessment of plant diversity showed that out of 88 plant species belonging to 29 families existing in the area, 70 species were of interest to honeybees. Among the identified plants, 14 species belonging to the Leguminosae and 11 and 13 species of Compositae and Labiatae families, respectively, were preferred by the honeybees, while Gramineae and Umbelliferae had 5 and 7 species that were preferred by honeybees, followed by Caryophyllaceae with 4 species and Cruciferae and Liliaceae families with 3 species each. Among the identified plant species preferred by honeybees, 16 species (22.8%) belonged to the "excellent" attractiveness group, 23 species (32.8%) were of "good" attractiveness, 22 species (31.4%) with "average" attractiveness, and 8 species (11.4%) had "weak" attractiveness. Floristic listing of species used by honeybees, including the flowering period and the plant attractiveness for bees is presented in Table 2. The results of the cluster analysis showed 65% similarity level. Based on the two characteristics, the honeybee settling time and the number of visits by bees, all the plant species were classified into the four general groups (see Fig.3A and 3B).

Species with Excellent Attractiveness (Group I)

In this group, Papaver dubium species had the most number of visitor bees, and the longest bee settling time, with an average of 26 visitors lasting about 234 seconds on average, with a DA_{Index} equal to 130. The main reason for the high index value is the flowering period of this species, which is from late April to the middle of June. The lowest attractiveness was observed for Alyssum linifolium and Alhagi camelorum species with attractiveness indices of 69.7 and 72.2, respectively. The average number of bees visiting Astragalus camelorum species was 14 and the settlement time was 125.2 seconds. Astragalus camelorum, Astragalus linifolium, Bellevalia sp., Astragalus lycioides, Onobrychys melanotricum, Echinops cephalotes, Stachys acerosa, Phlomis persica, Astragalus adsendence, Astragalus parroaianus, Eryngium billardieri, Thymus kotschyanus, Stachys inflate, Astragalus gossipianus, Onobrychys sativa and Papaver dubium had a similarity level of 65% and were placed in one class (Fig.2; Fig.3a). The common aspects between these species are the number of visitor honeybees and the high rate of settlement time for each plant species. Based on the similarity characteristics of the species with each other (80%), four subgroups are distinguishable (Fig.3b).

TAE	\$LE 2 istic list of species used by hor	neybees, flowering p	eriod and th	he plant attrac	tiveness rate fo	or bees in t	the study a	ırea				
				Floweri	ng period		Bee activi	ity	Bee 2	activity o	f the pla	nt
.oV	Scientific name	Family	Growth form	Start	End	nectar	pollen	nectar and pollen	Exellent (I)	bood (II)	Moderate (III)	(IV) Weak
	Acantholimon erinaceum	Plumbaginaceae	SH.	late June	Late July	*						*
0	Acanthophyllum bracteatum	Caryophyllaceae	SH.	June	Early July			*			*	
ŝ	Achillea falcate	Compositeae	PF.				*					*
4	Aegilops sp	Gramineae	AF.	ı		ı		ı				
5	Agropyron trichophoum	Gramineae	PG.	ı		ı		ı				
9	Ajuga chamasistus	Labiatae	SH.	Early June	Early July	ı	ı	ı	ı			
٢	Alhagi camelorum Fisch.	Legominosae	PF.	late June	Early August			*	*			
8	Alyssum linifolium	Cruciferae	PF.	Mid May	late June			*	*			
6	Anthemis	Compositae	AF.	ı		ı	,	ı				
10	Artemisia aucheri	Compositae	SH.	ı		ı		ı				
11	Astragalus adsendence	Legominosae	BT.	Early July	Mid August	*			*			
12	Astragalus brachycalyx	Legominosae	SH.	Late May	Mid June	*				*		
13	Astragalus canesens	Legominosae	SH.	Late May	late June	*				*		
14	Astragalus cyclophylus	Legominosae	PF.	Late May	late June	*				*		
15	Astragalus gossipianus	Legominosae	SH.	Mid July	Early August	*			*			
16	Astragalus lycioides	Legominosae	SH.	Late May	Mid June	*			*			
17	Astragalus parroaianus	Legominosae	SH.	Mid June	Mid July	*			*			
18	Astragalus. sp	Legominosae	PF.	Mid July	Early August	*					*	

Multivariate and an Ordination Approach to Classify the Attractiveness of the Plant Species in Pastoral Lands

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 37 (3): 347 - 362 (2014)

cont	'd Table 2											
19	Bellevalia sp	Liliaceae	PF.	May	Early June	*			*			
20	Bieberstenia multifida	Geraniaceae	PF.	May	June		*				*	
21	Bromus tomentellus	Gramineae	PG.	Early June	late June	ı	ı	,	·	ı	ı	ı
22	Caradaria draba	Cruciferae	PF.	Late May	Early July			*			*	
23	Carex stenophylla	Cyperaceae	PF.	ı	I	ı	ı	,	,	·	ī	I
24	Centaurea behen	Compositae	PF.	late June	Mid July			*		*		
25	Centaurea virgata	Compositae	PF.	late June	Mid September	*				*		
26	Convolvulus arvensis L.	Convollvulaceae	PF.	Early June	Late August			*				*
27	Cousinia bachtiarica	Compositae	PF.	Late June	Early August	ı	ı	ı				*
28	Cousinia cylanderica	Compositae	PF.	Late June	Early August			*		*		
29	Cynodon dactylon (L.)	Gramineae	PG.	June	July		*					*
30	Daphne macronata	Thymelaeaceae	BT.	Early July	MidJuly		*				*	
31	Dianthus crinitus Sm.	Caryophyllaceae	AF.	Late June	Mid July	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı
32	Echinophora platyloba	Umbelliferae	PF.	Mid July	Late August		*				*	
33	Echinops cephalotes DC.	Compositae	PF.	June	July	*			*			
34	Eremostachys mocrophylla	Labiatae	PF.	Late May	Late June		*					*
35	Eremurus persicus	Liliaceae	PF.	Late May	Mid June		*			*		
36	Eryngium billardieri	Umbelliferae	PF.	Mid July	late June			*	*			
37	Euphorbia decipiens Boiss.	Euphorbiaceae	PF.	Mid May	Mid June			*			*	
38	Euphorbia virgata	Euphorbiaceae	PF.	June	July		*				*	
39	Euphorbia macroclada	Euphorbiaceae	PF.	Mid May	Mid June	*					*	
40	Ferula gumnosa Boiss.	Umbelliferae	PF.	Late May	Mid June			*		*		
41	Ferula ovina	Umbelliferae	PF.	Early July	Late July			*			*	
42	Festuca ovina	Gramineae	PG.	Early June	late June	ı	ı		·	ı	ı	ı

Fazel Amiri and Abdul Rashid Mohamed Shariff

354

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 37 (3) 347 - 362 (2014)

cont	t'd Table 2											
43	Gallium Verum L.	Rubiaceae	PF.	Early June	Mid August		*			*		
44	Geramium tuberosum	Geraniacae	PF.	Mid May	Mid June			*			*	
45	Gundelia tournefortii	Compositae	PF.	Late May	late June			*		*		
46	Iris s p	Iridaceae	PF.	June	July		*					*
47	Isatis capadosica	Cruciferae	AF.	Early June	Early July			*			*	
48	Ixilirion tataricum	Amaryllidaceae	PF.	Mid May	Early June		*				*	
49	lactuca scarioloides	Compositae	PF.	Mid June	Early July			*			*	
50	Mathiola ovatifolia	Cruciferae	BF.				*				*	
51	Medicago lupulina L.	Leguminosae	PF.	Mid June	Early August			*		*		
52	Medicago sativa	Leguminosae	PF.	Mid June	Early August			*				
53	Melica persica	Gramineae	PG.	Early June	Late June		ı	ı	ı	ı		ı
54	Mentah longifolia	Labiatae	PF.	Mid June	Mid August			*		*		
55	Nepeta micranatha	Labiatae	PF.	June	July			*		*		
56	Noea mucronata	Chenopodiaceae	SH.	Early August	Late August	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı
57	Onobrychys melanotricum	Legominosae	PF.	Late May	Mid June			*	*			
58	Onobrychys sativa	Legominosae	PF.	Late May	Early August			*	*			
59	Papaver dubium	Papaveraceae	AF.	Late May	Mid June		*		*			
60	Peganum harmala	Zygophyllaceae	PF.	May	July		*			*		
61	Phlomis olivieri	labiatae	PF.	June	July			*			*	
62	Phlomis persica	labiatae	PF.	Mid June	Late July	*			*			
63	Plantago major L.	Plantaginaceae	PF.	June	July		*			*		
64	Poa bulbosa	Gramineae	PG.	Mid May	Mid June		ı	ı	ı	ı		ı
65	Ploygonum sp	Polygonaceae	AF.	Early July	Late July	,	ı	,	,	ı	,	ı
99	Prangus ferulacea	Umbelliferae	PF.	Late May	Mid June		*			*		

Multivariate and an Ordination Approach to Classify the Attractiveness of the Plant Species in Pastoral Lands

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 37 (3): 347 - 362 (2014)

355

cont	'd Table 2												
67	Pterocephalus canus	Dipsaceae	PF.	May	June	*				*			
68	Ranunculus sp	Ranunculaceae	PF.	May	June			*			*		
69	Rheum ribes	Polygonaceae	PF.	ı			I	ı	·	ı	·	I	
70	Rosa sp	Rosaceae	SH.	May	June			*			*		
71	Salvia sp	Labiatae	PF.	May	June			*			*		
72	Sanguisorba minor	Rosaceae	PF.	Late May	Mid June			*			*		
73	Scariola orientalis	Compositae	PF.	Early September	Early July		*			*			
74	Scrophullaria sp	Scrophullariaceae	PF.	Late May	late June		I	ı		ı	ı	I	
75	Silene arbescula	Caryophyllaceae	PF.	May	June		I	ı	·	ı	·	I	
76	Silene sp	Caryophyllaceae	PF.	Mid May	June		ı	ı	,	ı	ı	ı	
LL	Stachys aserosa	Labiatae	SH.	Early June	Early July	*			*				
78	Stachys inflata	Labiatae	PF.	late June	Late July	*			*				
79	Stachys pilifera	Labiatae	PF.	June	July	*				*			
80	Taraxacum polycphalum	Compositae	PF.	Early May	late June			*		*			
81	Thalictrum isopyroides	Ranunculacea	PF.	Early May	Early June		*					*	
82	Thymus kotschyanus	Labiatae	PF.	late June	Early August	*			*				
83	Tragopagon caricifolius	Compositae	PF.	Late May	late June			*		*			
84	Trigonella sp	Legominosae	AF.	Late May	Mid June			*		*			
85	Trifolium repens L.	Legominosae	PF.	Mid June	Mid August			*		*			
86	Tulipa sp	Liliaceae	PF.	Late April	Mid May		*				*		
87	Valeriana officinalis	Valerianaceae	PF.	Early June	late June	ı	I	ı	ı	ı	ı	I	
88	Veronica orientalis	Scrophulariaceae	PF.	Mid May	late June			*			*		
This AF. = BF. =	symbol (*) demonstrates bees' ^z = Annual Forb : Biennial Forb	PF. = Perennial Forb PG. = Perennial Grass	en, nectar	and pollen, and e SH. = Shru BT. = Bush	sach plant group lb 1 Tree	: (-) Dash	symbol sh	iows inactivi	ty of honyt	Jee.			

Fazel Amiri and Abdul Rashid Mohamed Shariff

356

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 37 (3) 347 - 362 (2014)


Multivariate and an Ordination Approach to Classify the Attractiveness of the Plant Species in Pastoral Lands

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 37 (3): 347 - 362 (2014)

Fig.3: The cluster analysis of plants used by honeybees in the study area

Species with Good Attractiveness (Group II)

The results of the cluster analysis showed that at the similarity level of 75%, 3 subgroups were classified separately based on the number of visitor honeybees and the fairly high rate of bee settlement time on each plant species (Fig.3 a, b). Species located in subgroups based on the similarity percentage are presented separately (Fig.2 b). The number of visitor honeybees and the settlement time in this group are associated with Eremurus persicus, with an average of 12.7 visiting bees and a time of 172 seconds, yielding an average index of attractiveness of 92.35, while the lowest rate was associated with Trigonella sp., with an average of 7.32 visiting bees and a time of 98.8 seconds yielding an average index of attractiveness of 53 (Table 2).

Species with Average and Weak Attractiveness (Groups III and IV)

In Group III, *Phlomis olivieri* species with an average of 6.5 visiting bees for a period of 85.3 seconds and *Isatis capadosica* with an average of 6.5 visiting bees for the same period of time resulting in attractiveness indices of 45.9 and 30.3 respectively, were the most and the least attractive species of this group. The most attractive index (48.1) in Group IV was associated with *Cousinia bachtiarica* with 4.1 visitor bees for a period of 26.1 seconds, while the least A_{Index} (27.6) was associated with *Acantholimon erinaceum* with an average of 2.3 visiting bee numbers for a period of 14.9 seconds (Table 2). The results of the cluster analysis indicated that in Group III with 75% similarity level, there were 3 subgroups, while in the group IV with a 70% level there were 2 subgroups (see Fig.3a,b). The differences between the species of the two groups were the average low numbers of visitor honeybees and the average weak period of bee settlement of each species.

DISCUSSION

Due to the differences in elevation and topography of the study area, there was high species diversity, while the presence of various species showed adaptations to local conditions. The most important plant families used by honeybees in the study area were Leguminosae, Compositae, Labiatae, Gramineae, Umbelliferae, Caryophyllaceae, Cruciferae and Liliaceae (Table 2).

Nazarian et al. (2006) reported the most important plant families as: Compositae, Leguminosae, Labiatae, Rosaceae, and Cruciferae, while Maskey (1992) in Kathmandu stated Rosaceae and Cruciferae as important families. The results of the present study when compared to previous studies showed that the plant families including Leguminosae, Compositae, Labiatae, Umbelliferae, Rosaceae and Cruciferae are very important families for bee keeping, especially in terms of the number of species, accumulation, dispersion, and attractiveness in addition to the production of nectar and pollen. These families have attractive and nutritious materials useful to honeybee nutrition are of significant importance (Nation & Robinson, 1968; Ebadi & Ahmadi, 2006). The results

obtained in this research correspond with similar studies carried out in Iran and elsewhere in the world. A comparison of the species in the area showed that most plants used by honeybees are species producing nectar and pollen. The results of the study showed that the number of plants producing nectar and pollen is more than the number of plants producing nectar or pollen.

The results of the classification analysis showed different levels of attractiveness (excellent, good, average and weak). The differences among the plant species mainly result from the density of flowers on each plant, density and dispersion of species in the area, physical characteristics of flowers, flowering date, climatic factors and plant distances from honeybee colonies. Hegland and Boeke (2006) found the diversity of floral resources and the diversity and abundance of pollinators in a temperate grassland community resulted in differences in attractiveness of different species to the bees.

The results of the classification analysis indicated that the species located in the low palatable class had the highest level of attractiveness in terms of apicultural applications and formed the species of Group I. Further, the flowering dates of these species may have been favourable and attracted the honeybees. In other words, the absence of competing plants can cause greater attraction of bees to one special species. Moreover, the results of Rabinowitch *et al.* (1993) showed that the distance of the colonies from flowers influences the attraction of bees to one effective species. Lack of knowledge of the existing environmental resources in the area resulted in the utilization of these resources more for livestock production. However, the presence of plant species with potential for other usage, including recreation and bee keeping, can result in increased income. Behan (1984) stated that multiple usage of environmental resources should be based on scientific planning in agreement with politics, law, economy and sociology under the supervision of an authorized committee for decision making.

An increase in the number of livestock to increase income and fulfil the economic needs caused a change in the species composition and a decline in the diversity of plant species. An increase in the livestock caused extinction of palatable species and a decrease in livestock performance. According to the food communion of livestock and honeybees, early grazing before the flowering period of plant species will cause a decrease in forage produced in the following years and a decrease in the use of flowers during the flowering period by honeybees and soil degradation (Vulliamy et al., 2006). The entry date of livestock in the area should be after the flowering period so that the use of that particular bee species could be made possible. Among the invasive and secondary plant species unpalatable species not preferred by livestock are attractive and of interest for honeybees (Wilke & Irwin, 2010). Ralphs (2002) studied the ecological interaction among unpalatable plants in the west pastures of America and found that some species are useful for beekeeping.

CONCLUSION

Knowledge on plants, their dispersion areas and phonology (especially flowering period) is an important planning tool for the protection of the natural environment and development of beekeeping. Awareness of honeybee biology, knowing the plants preferred by honeybees and studying plant cover types are necessary to raise honeybees. In the study area, the floristic list of available plants and plant types in terms of nectar and pollen producing were identified and classified. Considering the geographical width of the area and the climate, soil, and topography, the interacting characteristics provide a good natural environment to raise honeybees. The results of the study on the floristic composition, the climatic conditions and the presence of nectar and pollen producing species indicate good potential for rehabilitation of the area. Based on the diversity of the plant species available in the area, it can be concluded that the environmental resources indicate a strong potential for bee keeping.

REFERENCES

- Abou-Shaara, H.F., Al-Ghamdi, A. A., & Mohamed, A. A. (2013). ASuitability Map for Keeping Honey Bees Under Harsh Environmental Conditions Using Geographical Information System. *World Applied Sciences Journal*, 22(8), 1099-1105. doi: 10.5829/idosi.wasj.2013.22.08.7384.
- Abou-Shaara, H. (2013). Wintering Map for Honey Bee Colonies in El-Behera Governorate, Egypt by using Geographical Information System (GIS). Journal of Applied Sciences and Environmental Management, 17(3), 403-408.

- Afzali, M. (2006). Identify pollen and nectar plants uses by honeybees in center province. Proceedings of 2th Research Conference of Honeybees, Research Institute of Animal Husbandry, Tehran, Iran. (pp. 23-27).
- Akbarzadh, M., & Razaghikamrodi, Sh. (2006). Study of pollen and nectar plants used by honeybees in Vaz summer natural land in Mazanderan province. Proceedings of 2th research conference of honeybees, Animal Science Research Institute of Mazanderan province, Iran. (pp. 10-14).
- Amiri, F., & Mohamed Shariff, A. (2012). Application of geographic information systems in land-use suitability evaluation for beekeeping: A case study of Vahregan watershed (Iran). *African Journal of Agricultural Research*, 7(1), 89-97.
- Amoako, J. (1997). Apiculture in Ghana and the use of palynology to determine the renewable resources exploited by the honeybee Apis mellifera adansonii. University of Wales, Cardiff; UK. 408 pp.
- Asadi, N. A., Tahmasbi, gh. Nazerian, H., Ranjbar, M., & Mirdavodi, H. R. (2004). *Identity and introduce of pollen and nectar plants used by honeybees in Markazi province*. Proceedings of 2th Research Conference of Honeybees, Research Institute of Animal Husbandry, Tehran, Iran. (pp. 45-49).
- Behan, R. W. (1984). Multiple use management: kudos and caveats. Boulder, Colo., USA: Westview Press, 258 pp.
- Coffey, M. F., & Breen, J. (1997). Seasonal variation in pollen and nectar sources of honeybees in Ireland. *Journal of Apicultural Research*, 36, 63 -76.
- Ebadi, R., & Ahmadi, A. (2006). Honeybee's culture, Arkane denesh press. 572 pp.
- Ebeling, A., Klein, A. M., Schumacher, J., Weisser, W. W., & Tscharntke, T. (2008). How does plant richness affect pollinator richness and temporal stability of flower visits? *Oikos*, *117*, 1808-1815.

- Faghih, A. R., Ebadi, R., Nazarian, H., & Noroozi, M. (2005). Determination of attractiveness of different plants for honey bess in Khansar and Faridan regions of Isfahan province. *Iranian Journal of Agriculture Science*, *36*, 521-536.
- Freitas, B. M. (1994). Pollen identification of pollen and nectar loads collected by Africanized honeybee in the state of care, Brazil. International conference on Apiculture in Tropical climates, Trinidad and Tobago. Proceedings Cardiff, UK, Ibra (pp. 73-79).
- Ghalechnia, H. (2006). Identify and study of pollen and nectar plants in Mazanderan summer natural land. Proceedings of 3th Seminar on bee research, Animal Science Research Institute of Iran. (pp. 11-14).
- Hegland, S. J., & Boeke, L. (2006). Relationships between the density and diversity of floral resources and flower visitor activity in a temperate grassland community. *Ecological Entomology*, 31, 532-538.
- Karimi, A., & Jafari, A. (2009). Study of pollen and nectar plants uses by honeybees in Fars natural land. Proceedings of 5th Seminar on Honeybee Research, Animal Science Research Institute of Iran. (pp. 25-33).
- Maskey, M. (1992). Mountain women and beekeeping in Nepal. *Honeybee in Mountain Agriculture*, 119 - 130.
- Nation, J. L., & F. A., Robinson. (1968). Brood rearing by caged honeybees in response to inositol and certain pollen fractions in their diet. *Annals of the Entomological Society*, 61, 514-517.
- Nazarian, H., Shriat penahi, M. Tahmasbi, Gh., & Taghavi Zadeh, R. (2006). *Identify plants uses by honeybees in Tehran province*. Proceedings of 2th Research Conference of Honeybees, Research Institute of Animal Husbandry, Tehran, Iran. (pp. 8-11).

- Potts, S., Woodcock, B., Roberts, S., Tscheulin, T., Pilgrim, E., Brown, V., & Tallowin, J. (2009). Enhancing pollinator biodiversity in intensive grasslands. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 46, 369-379.
- Rabinowitch, H. D., Fahn, A., Meir, T., & Lensky, Y. (1993). Flower and nectar attributes of pepper (Capsicum annuum L.) Plants in relation to their attractiveness to honeybees (*Apis mellifera*). *Annals of Applied Biology, 123*, 221-232.
- Ralphs, M. H. (2002). Ecological relationship between poisonous plant and natural land condition. *Journal of Range management*, 55, 285-290.
- Rastgar, Sh., Barani, H., Sepehri, A., & Taghipour, A. (2007). Assessment of the apicultural potential in Polour summer natural lands. *Rangeland Journal*, 1, 357-369.
- Razaghi Kamrodi, Sh. (2009). *Study of pollen and nectar plants uses by honeybees in Mazanderan summer natural land*. Proceedings of 5th Seminar on bee research, Animal Science Research Institute of Mazanderan province, Iran. (pp. 32-48).
- Sabaghi, Sh., Nazarian, H., Akbarzadeh, M., & Tahmasbi, Gh. (2006). Investigation flowering period and plants attractiveness for honeybees in Tar and Bar watershed in Mazanderan province. Proceedings of 3th honeybees research conference. (pp. 23-37).
- Shahid, M. (1992). Beekeeping in the North West frontier province of Pakistan. *Honeybee in Mountain Agriculture*, 193-209.
- Verma, S., & Attri, P. (2008). Indigenous beekeeping for sustainable development in Himachal Himalaya. Indian Journal of Traditional Knowledge, 7, 221-225.
- Vulliamy, B., Potts, S., & Willmer, P. (2006). The effects of cattle grazing on plant-pollinator communities in a fragmented Mediterranean landscape. *Oikos*, 114, 529-543.

Wilke, B. J., & Irwin, R. E. (2010). Variation in the phenology and abundance of flowering by native and exotic plants in subalpine meadows. *Biological Invasions*, 12, 2363-2372.



TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Genetic Diversity of *Fusarium solani* Isolates from Black Pepper (*Piper nigrum* L.) in Malaysia by ISSR marker

Shahnazi, S.¹, Meon, S.^{1,2*}, Vadamalai, G.^{1,2}, Yazdani, D.³ and Shabanimofrad, M.⁴

¹Institute of Tropical Agriculture, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia ²Department of Plant Protection, Faculty of Agriculture, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia ³Pharmacognosy and Pharmaceutic Department of Medicinal Plants Research Center,

Institute of Medicinal Plants-ACECR, Karaj, Iran ⁴Department of Crop Science, Faculty of Agriculture, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang,

Selangor, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

For effective management and control of yellowing disease, inter-simple sequence repeat (ISSR) markers were employed to investigate genetic diversity among 34 isolates of *Fusarium solani*, which had been isolated from major growing areas of black pepper in Malaysia. Over 15 primers, with fragment sizes ranging from 200 bp to 3600 bp, and a total of 253 amplified loci were amplified in all 34 isolates, with an average of 17 bands per primer; among which 248 (98.02 %) were polymorphic. High genetic diversity at species level was revealed (Nei's gene diversity h = 0.2671 and Shannon information index I = 0.4134, respectively). Sarikei population was found to have a higher degree of polymorphism compared to other populations. The dendrogram generated from UPGMA cluster analysis categorized the 34 *F. solani* isolates into two major clusters based on Jaccard's similarity coefficients. Cluster I contained a unique isolate. Cluster II contained 33 isolates which were split into two different subclusters. Results showed that the clusters were not related to geographic origins. Meanwhile, ISSR fingerprinting generated highly polymorphic markers that could be used to study genetic characterization of *F. solani* and to clarify phylogenic relationships, as well as useful for efficient management of yellowing

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received: 26 August 2013 Accepted: 29 May 2014

E-mail addresses: saharshahnazi1355@yahoo.com (Shahnazi, S.), sariahm@upm.edu.my (Meon, S.), ganesanv@upm.edu.my (Vadamalai, G.), dayazdani@yahoo.com (Yazdani, D.), r_shabani56@yahoo.com (Shabanimofrad, M.) * Corresponding author disease and finding breeding programmes to find cultivars of black pepper that are resistant to *F. solani*.

Keywords: Fusarium solani, Genetic diversity, Intersimple sequence repeat (ISSR), *Piper nigrum* L.

INTRODUCTION

One of the most recognized spices in the world is black pepper (*Piper nigrum* L.; Family: Piperaceae). Black pepper is a perennial climbing vine grown for its berries and it is extensively used as spice in traditional medicine. Malaysia is one of the major producers and exporters of pepper (Ravindran, 2000). The productivity of black pepper is slowly declining (Krishnamoorthy & Parthasarathy, 2010), while crop losses caused by diseases are a major production limitation in Malaysia and other pepper-producing countries (Kueh & Sim, 1992; Sarma *et al.*, 1992).

The most serious diseases of black pepper are ones caused by fungal pathogens and plant parasitic nematodes (Bong & Saad, 1986; Ramana & Eapen, 2000; Thankamani et al., 2008). One of the most important diseases of black pepper is yellowing disease, which is also known as slow decline (Kueh et al., 1993; Sitepu & Mustika, 2000). Fusarium solani was identified as the causal agent of this particular disease (Hamada et al., 1988). It is important to note that Fusarium infection in black pepper plantation has been reported to reduce the economic life of the plantation from 20 to 6-8 years and the productivity per plant from 3.0 to 1.5 kg (Anandaraj, 2000).

Genetic characterization of plant pathogens variants established in an area is required for effective management and to increase crop yield. The *Fusarium* wilt disease can be managed by the use of resistant cultivars (Jalali & Chand, 1992). Plant pathogens are continuously mutating and changing, resulting in new strains and new challenges to growers (Koike et al., 2000). Development of a molecular marker technique to differentiate highly virulent and nonpathogenic isolates is important in managing the Fusarium disease in a variety of crops (Belabid et al., 2004). Disease management is difficult due to the presence of several pathogen types. For any one crop, the grower must deal with a variety of fungi, bacteria, viruses and nematodes. Hence, an increase in the genetic diversity of the crop host rotation is an important management step that incorporates ecological considerations (Koike et al., 2000).

The choice of a molecular marker technique for genetic diversity assay is dependent upon its reproducibility and simplicity (Bornet & Branchard, 2001). The most common used PCR-based DNA marker systems are random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD), amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP) and simple sequence repeats (SSRs) (Pradeep Reddy et al., 2002). The main limitations of these techniques include low reproducibility of RAPD, high cost of AFLP and the need to know the flanking sequences to develop specific SSR primers. ISSR is a technique that overcomes most of these limitations (Zietkiewicz et al., 1994; Pradeep Reddy et al., 2002).

A new molecular marker method called ISSR has been available since 1994 (Zietkiewicz *et al.*, 1994). ISSR is a technique which involves the use of microsatellite sequences as primers in a PCR to generate multilocus markers (Pradeep Reddy *et al.*, 2002). ISSRs are known to be abundant, very reproducible and highly polymorphic tandem repeat motifs composed of 1 to 7 nucleotides (Bornet *et al.*, 2004).

PCR analysis using ISSR primers has been acknowledged as a valuable technique in studies concerning genetic diversity, phylogenies and evolutionary biology (Pradeep Reddy *et al.*, 2002). The information about genetic diversity within a species is helpful to come up with proper management programmes (Frankham, 1995). Distinct genetic differentiation within the same races can be assumed as an environmental factor affecting pathogen properties (Weller, 1988).

The aim of the present study was to examine the genetic diversity of *F*. *solani* populations obtained from black pepper fields in Malaysia and to assess the phylogenic relationships of *F. solani* isolates using ISSR markers to managing yellowing disease in black pepper in future studies.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Fungal Isolates

For the purpose of this study, the roots of black pepper plants with yellowing disease symptoms and rhizosphere soils were collected from major growing areas in Sarawak (Sibu and Sarikei) and Johor (Kulai). Based on their morphological characteristics and molecular techniques (DNA sequencing of the ITS regions), 34 *Fusarium solani* isolates were obtained. The isolates of this species were used for ISSR fingerprinting.

DNA Extraction

Genomic DNA of *F. solani* isolates was extracted using CTAB method (Doyle & Doyle, 1990) and DNA concentration was determined using NanoDrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc., USA) by computing UV absorbance at 260/280-nm ratio. The isolated genomic DNA was diluted to 50 ng/mL and stored at -20°C for ISSR amplification.

PCR Amplification

A total of 20 primers were initially screened for PCR amplification and 15 primers that produced clear and reproducible banding patterns were chosen for final analysis. The ISSR markers were amplified using 15 primers (First Base Laboratories Sdn. Bhd., Malaysia), unanchored and anchored on 5' or 3'- ends with di- or tri-nucleotide repeats in the ISSR analysis (Table 1). The PCR amplification was carried out in 20 µl reaction mixtures containing 2 µl of 10x PCR buffer (100 mM Tris-Hcl [pH 8.3], 500 mM KCl, 20 mM MgCl₂), 2 µl of dNTP mixture (2.5 mM each), 0.4 µl of Tag (5 U/ ul) (iNtRON Biotechnology, Inc., Seoul, Korea), 1 µl of ISSR primer (10 µM) and 1 µl of diluted genomic DNA.

The PCR amplifications were performed in Biometra Tpersonal Thermocycler. This involved an initial step at 94°C for 5 min, followed by 40 cycles of denaturing at 94°C for 1 min, annealing at primer specific temperature (Table 1) for 45 seconds and extension at 72 °C for 2 min, followed by a final extension step for 7 min. The amplification products were separated via electrophoresis on 1.4% agarose gel with 1x TBE buffer at 110 Vcm⁻¹ for 2.5 hours by electrophoresis. The 1000 plus DNA ladder (iNtRON Biotechnology, Inc., Seoul, Korea) was used as a DNA marker for electrophoresis. To prepare ethidium bromide solution, 0.01 g ethidium bromide was dissolved in 1 ml distilled water and 50 µl of this stock was added to 500 ml distilled water. The gels were stained with ethidium bromide and the bands were visualized and photographed under UV light using a gel documentation imaging system (Bio-Rad, USA).

Data Analysis

Amplified bands from each primer were scored as present (1) or absent (0). Only the bands which had been amplified consistently were considered. Fragments of the same molecular weight were considered as the

TABLE 1 Primers, amplification conditions and polymorphism of ISSR markers

ISSR primer type	Sequence (5'-3')	Annealing temperature (°C)	G + C content (%)	NABª	NPB ^b	PPB ^c (%)	PCR product size range (bp ^d)
UBC 807	(AG) ₈ T	51	47.1	10	10	100	300-1200
UBC 808	(AG) ₈ C	49	52.9	19	19	100	250-1700
UBC 809	(AG) ₈ G	52	52.9	12	11	91.67	250-1500
UBC 810	$(GA)_8T$	48	47.1	20	20	100	300-3200
UBC 811	(GA) ₈ C	51	52.9	22	22	100	250-2400
UBC 818	(CA) ₈ G	49	52.9	16	15	93.75	250-2200
UBC 825	$(AC)_8T$	50	47.1	8	7	87.50	550-2400
UBC 835	(AG) ₈ YC	55	52.8	20	19	95	200-2200
UBC 841	(GA) ₈ YC	49	52.8	24	23	95.83	200-2100
UBC 855	(AC) ₈ YT	50	47.2	22	22	100	250-2500
UBC 856	(AC) ₈ YA	54	47.2	19	19	100	250-3200
UBC 858	(TG) ₈ RT	53	47.2	8	8	100	400-3000
UBC 864	(ATG) ₆	52	33.3	12	12	100	400-1800
UBC 885	BHB(GA) ₇	53	51	27	27	100	200-3600
UBC 886	VDV(CT)7	49	51	14	14	100	250-2200

^aNAB: number of amplified bands; ^bNPB: number of polymorphic bands; ^cPPB: percentage of polymorphic bands; ^d bp: base pair. *Note:* R = (A,G) = Purine, Y = (C,T) = Pyrimidine, B = (C,G,T) (i.e. not A), D = (A,G,T) (i.e. not C), H = (A,C,T) (i.e. not G), V = (A,C,G) (i.e. not T)

same locus. The data were used to calculate the number of bands produced by each primer and the percentage of polymorphic loci.

To study the genetic relationships among the isolates, a pair-wise similarity matrix was generated using Jaccard's similarity coefficient. Cluster analysis was performed to develop a dendrogram. The dendrogram was constructed using an unweighted paired group method of cluster analysis using arithmetic averages algorithm (UPGMA) of NTSYS-pc Version 2.1, a numerical taxonomy and multivariate analysis software package (Rohlf, 2000).

The binary data matrix was input into POPGENE 32 version 1.31 (Yeh *et al.*, 1999), assuming HardyeWeinberg equilibrium. Meanwhile, the POPGENE software was used to calculate genetic similarity coefficient and Nei's unbiased genetic distance among the populations. The percentage of polymorphism band (PPB), Nei's gene diversity (h), Shannon's information index (I), observed number of alleles per locus (n_a) and effective number of alleles per locus (n_e) were calculated to estimate the genetic variation.

RESULTS

ISSR polymorphism

Three populations of F. solani were studied for genetic diversity based on locations and geographical distributions (Table 2). Over the 15 primers, the fragment size obtained from F. solani isolates ranged from 200 bp to 3600 bp and a total of 253 amplified bands (loci) were generated, with an average of 17 bands per primer. The number of amplified bands per primer ranged from a maximum of 27 discrete bands in BHB(GA)₇ to a minimum of 8 in (AC)₈T and (TG)₈RT (Table 1). The number of polymorphic bands was 248 while the percentage of polymorphism was 98.02% among 34 individual isolates (Table 3). The average number of polymorphic bands per primer was 16.5. It is important to note that BHB(GA)₇ produced the greatest number of polymorphism (Table 1).

Genetic Diversity

Among the populations of *F. solani*, the percentage of the polymorphic bands for populations I (Sibu), II (Sarikei) and III (Kulai) were 68.77, 92.09 and 55.34%, respectively (Table 3). The observed average

Populations	Sample size	Location	Latitude	Longitude
Ι	10	Sarawak-Sibu	2° 34' N	111° 55' E
II	18	Sarawak-Sarikei	2° 07' N	111° 31' E
III	6	Johor-Kulai	1° 39' N	103° 36' E

TABLE 2Population distribution of F. solani

Populations	Sample size	No. of PB ^a	PPB ^b (%)	^c n_a (^g S.D.)	$^{d}n_{e}(S.D.)$	^e h (S.D.)	^f I (S.D.)
Overall populations	34	248	98.02	1.9802 (0.1395)	1.4446 (0.3505)	0.2671 (0.1707)	0.4134 (0.2199)
Within populations							
I (Sibu)	10	174	68.77	1.6877 (0.4643)	1.3531 (0.3523)	0.2135 (0.1858)	0.3276 (0.2627)
II (Sarikei)	18	233	92.09	1.9209 (0.2704)	1.4523 (0.3601)	0.2680 (0.1779)	0.4107 (0.2339)
III (Kulai)	6	140	55.34	1.5534 (0.4981)	1.3536 (0.3985)	0.2010 (0.2077)	0.2982 (0.2936)

TABLE 3
Genetic diversity of F. solani populations

^a PB: Polymorphic bands; ^b PPB: Percentage of polymorphic bands; ^c n_a: Observed average number of alleles; ^d n_e:

Average effective number of alleles; ^e h: Nei's (1973) gene diversity;

^f I: Shannon's information index; ^g S.D.: Standard deviation

number of alleles (n_a) for populations I (Sibu), II (Sarikei) and III (Kulai) were 1.6877, 1.9209 and 1.5534, respectively, while the average effective numbers of alleles (n_e) were 1.3531, 1.4523 and 1.3536, respectively (Table 3).

In the total populations of *F. solani*, the values of Nei's gene diversity (*h*) for populations I (Sibu), II (Sarikei) and III (Kulai) were 0.2135, 0.2680 and 0.2010, respectively, while the values of Shannon's information index (*I*) for populations I (Sibu), II (Sarikei) and III (Kulai) were 0.3276, 0.4107 and 0.2982, respectively (Table 3).

The genetic structure was further investigated using Nei's gene diversity statistics, including total genetic diversity (H_t), genetic diversity within populations (H_s) and the mean coefficient of genetic diversity among the populations (G_{ST}). An estimate of gene flow among populations (N_m) was computed using the formula of McDermott and McDonald [$N_m = (1 \ G_{ST})/2G_{ST}$] (McDermott & McDonald, 1993). Among the three populations of *F. solani*, total genetic diversity (H_t) was 0.2635 and genetic diversity within populations (H_s) was 0.2275. The proportion of genetic diversity among populations (G_{ST}) was 0.1365 and gene flow (N_m) was 3.1623.

In order to study the relationships among populations, genetic similarity coefficients (Nei's coefficient) of different populations were analyzed. The highest genetic similarity coefficient was 0.9764 and the lowest genetic coefficient was 0.9140 (Table 4). TABLE 4

Genetic similarity coefficient and genetic distance among *F. solani* populations based on the ISSR markers

Populations	Ι	II	III
Ι	****	0.9764	0.9140
II	0.0239	****	0.9479
III	0.0899	0.0535	****

Nei's unbiased genetic identity is listed above diagonal and genetic distance is listed below diagonal.

Cluster Analysis

To examine the genetic similarity among the isolates, a pair-wise similarity matrix was generated using Jaccard's similarity coefficient. The values of Jaccard's genetic similarity coefficients among 34 tested isolates of *F. solani* were found to range from 0.15 to 0.85.

The UPGMA method of clustering was used to estimate the phylogenetic relationships among isolates. The dendrogram generated using the UPGMA cluster analysis based on Jaccard's similarity coefficients categorized the 34 F. solani isolates into two major clusters (see Fig.1). Cluster I contained a unique isolate Fs-H6. Cluster II was split into two subclusters that were designated as subclusters IIa and IIb. Subcluster IIa was further divided into two small groups. Group 1 consisted of three isolates (Fs-D1, Fs-E3, Fs-G1) and Group 2 consisted of two isolates (Fs-B2, Fs-E1). Similarly, subcluster IIb was also divided into two groups. Group 1 included three isolates (Fs-H5, Fs-H8, Fs-K1) and group 2 was further split into two subgroups. Subgroup 1 included Fs-



The scale is based on Jaccard's similarity coefficient

Fig.1: The dendrogram based on ISSR polymorphism and UPGMA clustering method showing genetic relationships of 34 *F. solani* isolates.

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 37 (3): 363 - 374 (2014)

B3 isolate and subgroup 2 included the remaining 24 *F. solani* isolates. Similarity index was calculated at 21% between the two major clusters. The isolates in cluster II showed 31.6% similarity. The isolates in subcluster IIa showed 35.6% similarity and the isolates in subcluster IIb exhibited 34.9% of similarity (Fig.1).

DISCUSSION

Fusarium disease is difficult to control because the pathogen has survived in infected soil for many years (Haware *et al.*, 1996). Due to the variability of genetic structure, one of the useful methods to control *Fusarium* wilt is the development of resistant cultivars and the races of pathogen (Nene & Haware, 1980). Successful management is largely dependent upon a complete knowledge of the species, including levels and structure of genetic variation (Jin & Li, 2007).

In this study, the ISSR technique has been demonstrated as applicable to evaluation of genetic diversity among the F. solani isolates. First, a great number of primers (20 primers) were assayed with (AG), (GA), (AC), (CA), (TG), (CT), (ATG) repeats in order to select suitable polymorphic ISSR markers for the study. Five primers [(GC)₉YR, (AT)₉YR, (CT)₈RG, (CA)₈RT and (GA)₈YT] failed to produce any amplification patterns. In this study, the optimum annealing temperature for the ISSR markers varied from 48° to 55°C, and the ISSR markers gave constant and reproducible bands across separate PCR runs. Regardless of the relatively small sample sizes, 248 polymorphic ISSR loci were sufficient enough to detect the variation and to differentiate *F. solani* populations with different geographical origins.

The UPGMA cluster analysis of Jaccard's similarity coefficients generated a dendrogram which categorized the 34 F. solani isolates into two major clusters. Cluster I contained a unique isolate that showed a unique banding pattern and was distinct from other isolates. Cluster II contained 33 isolates that were further split into two subclusters. The low similarity index value (21%) between the two clusters showed the high genetic variability among the isolates. The relatively low value of the similarity index was mainly due to isolate Fs-H6. This isolate was clearly distinct from the rest of F. solani isolates based on morphological characteristics. The dendrogram indicated that the clusters were not related to geographic origins.

Many studies revealed that there is a clear association between population characteristics and the environments in which they occur (Zhao et al., 2007). The genetic relationships between the populations in a species do not often accord with their geographical distance, especially for the species with large distribution area. Other factors including mutation, reproduction mode, gene flow, geographic range of populations, number of populations studied, sample size of populations and type of markers used can influence the patterns of genetic variability among and within the populations (Ma et al., 2008). Lack of genetic diversity decreases the ability of a particular species to survive environmental changes (Cao *et al.*, 2006).

The genetic diversity of F. solani was high at both the species and population levels. It is similar to the genetic diversity of some other Fusarium species revealed by the ISSR markers as reported by Nagarajan et al. (2004), Mishra et al. (2006) and Dinolfo et al. (2010). Among the three populations of F. solani, Population II (Sarikei) showed the maximum variation (92.09%), while population III (Kulai) showed the minimum variation (55.34%). The present study found the PPB value of 92.09% in population II, indicating that the population tested had a higher degree of polymorphism compared to other populations, while population III had the lowest genetic diversity levels. Based on Nei's coefficient, the highest genetic similarity coefficient was between Sibu population and Sarikei population, whereas the lowest genetic coefficient was revealed between Sibu population and Kulai population. Based on Jaccard's coefficients, the lowest similarity coefficient (0.15) was found between Fs-H6 and Fs-F2 isolates, whereas the greatest extent of similarity coefficient (0.85) was shown between Fs-K3 and Fs-H7 isolates.

Among the overall populations of *F. solani*, the observed average number of alleles (n_a) and the average effective number of alleles (n_e) were 1.9802 and 1.4446, respectively. The analysis of the ISSR markers using different approaches (Nei's gene diversity and Shannon's information measure) demonstrated similar interpretations of the genetic structure of the

populations of *F. solani*. Similarly, Nei's gene diversity and Shannon's information index also revealed high genetic variation at species level of *F. solani* (0.2671 and 0.4134, respectively), with an average of 0.2275 and 0.3452, respectively. Genetic variation at species level was found to be generally higher than at the population level.

Meanwhile, gene flow affects genetic diversity level among and within populations. In population genetics, a value of gene flow $(N_m) < 1.0$ and a value of gene differentiation $(G_{st}) > 0.25$ are regarded as significant population differentiation (Slatkin, 1987).

The low coefficient of genetic diversity (G_{ST}) and the high gene flow (N_m) among the overall populations influenced the emergence and evolutionary development of *F. solani* (G_{ST} =0.1365, N_m =3.1623). This result is supported by Mishra *et al.* (2006). The result suggests that frequent gene flow and low coefficient of genetic diversity are predominant evolutionary forces determining the evolution and development of this particular fungus in Malaysia.

The distribution of genetic diversity among the *F. solani* isolates taken from major growing areas of black pepper in Malaysia was examined and a high level of variability was observed among the isolates by ISSR. Genetic characterization of *F. solani* is essential for an efficient management of yellowing disease through the use of resistant cultivars in black pepper growing areas.

CONCLUSION

The results of this study have proven the suitability and reliability of ISSR-PCR fingerprinting as a useful tool for population structure studies and discrimination among individual fungal isolates. ISSR is a reliable technique for genetic analysis of *Fusarium solani* and clarify phylogenic relationships in order to establish breeding programmes. In more specific, the ISSR fingerprinting generated highly polymorphic markers for *F. solani* and it is useful molecular markers for further genetic diversity studies. This method could be helpful for breeders to find cultivars of black pepper that are resistant to *F. solani*.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors acknowledged the financial support by Universiti Putra Malaysia. The authors would also like to thank Ali Ranjbarfard and Dr. Mazmi Ahmad for their invaluable suggestions.

REFERENCES

- Anandaraj, M. (2000). Diseases of black pepper. In P. N. Ravindran (Ed.), Black Pepper, *Piper nigrum*. (pp. 239-252). Volume 13 of the book series Medicinal and Aromatic Plants-Industrial Profiles. Amsterdam, The Netherlands: Harwood Academic Publisher.
- Belabid, L., Baum, M., Fortas, Z., Bouznad, Z., & Eujayl, I. (2004). Pathogenic and genetic characterization of algerian isolates of *Fusarium* oxysporum f. sp. lentis by RAPD and AFLP analysis. African Journal of Biotechnology, 3(1), 25-31.

- Bong C. F. J., & Saad M. S. (1986). Pepper (Piper nigrum L.) in Malaysia. Universiti Pertanian Malaysia Cawangan Sarawak.
- Bornet, B., & Branchard, M. (2001). Nonanchored inter simple sequence repeat (ISSR) markers: Reproducible and specific tools for genome fingerprinting. *Plant Molecular Biology Reporter*, 19(3), 209-215.
- Bornet, B., Antoine, E., Bardouil, M., & Baut, C. M. (2004). ISSR as new markers for genetic characterization and evaluation of relationships among phytoplankton. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, 16(4), 285-290.
- Cao, P. J., Yao, Q. F., Ding, B. Y., Zeng, H. Y., Zhong, Y. X., Fu, C. X., & Jin, X. F. (2006). Genetic diversity of *Sinojackia dolichocarpa* (Styracaceae), a species endangered and endemic to China, detected by inter-simple sequence repeat (ISSR). *Biochemical Systematics and Ecology*, 34, 231-239.
- Dinolfo, M. I., Stenglein, S. A., Moreno, M. V., Nicholson, P., Jennings, P., & Salerno, G. L. (2010). ISSR markers detect high genetic variation among *Fusarium poae* isolates from Argentina and England. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 127, 483-491.
- Doyle, J. J., & Doyle, J. L. (1990). Isolation of plant DNA from fresh tissue. *Focus*, *12*, 13-15.
- Frankham, R. (1995). Conservation genetics. *Annual Review of Genetics, 29*, 305-327.
- Hamada, M., Uchida, T., & Tsuda, M. (1988). Ascospore dispersion of the causal agent of Nectria blight of *Piper nigrum*. Annals of the *Phytopathologicial Society of Japan*, 54, 303-308.
- Haware, M. P., Nene, Y. L., & Natarajan, M. (1996). Survival of *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *ciceri* in soil absence of chickpea. *Phytopathologia Mediterranea*, 35, 9-12.

- Jalali, B. L., & Chand, H. (1992). Chickpea wilt. In U.S. Singh, A.N. Mukhopadhayay, J. Kumar & H.S. Chaube (Eds.), *Diseases of cereals* and pulses (pp. 420-444). Plant diseases of International Importance, 1Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ.
- Jin, Z., & Li, J. (2007). Genetic differentiation in endangered *Heptacodium miconioides* Rehd. based on ISSR polymorphism and implications for its conservation. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 245, 130–136.
- Koike, S. T., Gaskell, M., Fouche, C., Smith, R., & Mitchell, J. (2000). *Plant disease management* for organic crops. Retrieved from http:// anrcatalog. ucdavis.edu/pdf/7252.pdf
- Krishnamoorthy, B., & Parthasarathy, V. A. (2010). Improvement of black pepper. CAB Reviews: Perspectives in Agriculture, Veterinary Science, Nutrition and Natural Resources, 5(3), 1-12
- Kueh, T. K., & Sim, S. L. (1992). Important pepper diseases in Sarawak, Malaysia. In P. Wahid, D. Sitepu, S. Deciyanto & U. Superman (Eds.), *The International workshop on black pepper diseases* (pp. 101-117). Bandar Lampung, Indonesia, Institute for spice and medicinal crops, Bogor, Indonesia.
- Kueh, T. K., Gumbek, M., Wong, T. H., & Chin, S. P. (1993). A field guide to diseases, pests and nutritional disorders of black pepper in Sarawak. Agricultural research centre Semongok, Department of Agriculture Kuching. Lee Ming Press Company, Sarawak, Malaysia.
- Ma, X., Zhang, X. Q., Zhou, Y. H., Bai, S. Q., & Liu, W. (2008). Assessing genetic diversity of *Elymus sibiricus* (Poaceae: Triticeae) populations from Qinghai-Tibet Plateau by ISSR markers. *Biochemical Systematics and Ecology*, 36, 514–522.
- McDermott, J. M., & McDonald, B. A. (1993). Gene flow in plant pathosystems. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*, 31, 353-373.

- Mishra, P. K., Tewari, J. P., Clear, R. M., & Turkington, T. K. (2006). Genetic diversity and recombination within populations of *Fusarium pseudograminearum* from western Canada. *International Microbiology*, 9, 65-68.
- Nagarajan, G., Nam, M.H., Song, J. Y., Yoo, S. J., & Kim, H. G. (2004). Genetic Variation in *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *fragariae* populations based on RAPD and rDNA RFLP analyses. *Journal of Plant Pathology*, 20(4), 264-270.
- Nene, Y. L., & Haware, M. P. (1980). Screening chickpea for resistance to wilt. *Plant Disease*, 64, 379-380.
- Pradeep Reddy, M., Sarla, N., & Siddiq, E.A. (2002). Inter Simple Sequence Repeat (ISSR) polymorphism and its application in plant breeding. *Euphytica*, 128, 9-17.
- Ramana, K. V., & Eapen, S. J. (2000). Nematode induced diseases of black pepper. In P.N. Ravindran (Eds.), *Black Pepper, Piper nigrum*. (pp. 269-296). Volume 13 of the book series Medicinal and Aromatic Plants- Industrial Profiles. Amsterdam, the Netherlands: Harwood Academic Publishers.
- Ravindran, P. N. (2000). Introduction. In P. N.
 Ravindran (Eds.), *Black Pepper*, *Piper nigrum*.
 (pp. 1-12). Volume 13 of the book series Medicinal and Aromatic Plants- Industrial Profiles. Amsterdam, the Netherlands: Harwood Academic Publishers.
- Rohlf, F. J. (2000). NTSYS-PC: Numerical taxonomy and multivariate analysis system version 2.1. Stony Brook, New York: State University of New York.
- Sarma, Y. R., Anandaraj, M., & Ramana, K. V. (1992). Present status of black pepper diseases in India and their management. In P. Wahid, D. Sitepu, S. Deciyanto & U. Superman (Eds.), *The International workshop on black pepper diseases* (pp. 67-78). Bandar Lampung, Indonesia, Institute for spice and medicinal crops, Bogor, Indonesia.

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 37 (3): 363 - 374 (2014)

- Sitepu, D., & Mustika, I. (2000). Diseases of black pepper and their management in Indonesia. In P. N. Ravindran (Eds.), *Black Pepper, Piper nigrum.* (pp. 297-305). Volume 13 of the book series Medicinal and Aromatic Plants-Industrial Profiles. Amsterdam, the Netherlands: Harwood Academic Publishers.
- Slatkin, M. (1987). Gene flow and the geographic structure of natural populations. *Science*, 236, 787-792.
- Thankamani, C. K., Srinivasan V., Dinesh, R., Santhosh J. E., & Rajeev, P. (2008). Black pepper. Indian Institute of Spices Research. Retrieved from http://www.spices .res.in/ package/ pepper.pdf
- Weller, D. M. (1988). Biological control of soilborne plant pathogens in the rhizosphere with bacteria. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*, 26, 379-407.

- Yeh, F. C., Yang, R. C., & Boyle, T. (1999). Microsoft Window-based Freeware for Population Genetic Analysis (POPGENE), Version 1.31. Retrieved from ftp://ftp.microsoft.-com/softlib/mslfiles/ hpgl.exe.
- Zhao, W., Wang, Y., Chen, T., Jia, G., Wang, X., Qi, J., Pang, Y., Wang, S., Li, Z., Huang, Y., Pan, Y., & Yang, Y.H. (2007). Genetic structure of mulberry from different ecotypes revealed by ISSRs in China: An implication for conservation of local mulberry varieties. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 115, 47–55.
- Zietkiewicz, E., Rafalski, A., & Labuda, D. (1994). Genome fingerprinting by simple sequence repeat (SSR)-anchored polymerase chain reaction amplification. *Genomics*, 20(2), 176-183.



TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Demographics of Horseshoe Crab Populations in Kota Kinabalu, Sabah, Malaysia with Emphasis on *Carcinoscorpius rotundicauda* and Some Aspects of its Mating Behaviour

Robert, R.1*, Muhammad Ali, S. H.1 and Amelia-Ng, P. F.2

¹Borneo Marine Research Institute, Universiti Malaysia Sabah, Sabah, Malaysia ²Marine Science Laboratory, School of Biological Sciences, Universiti Sains Malaysia, Minden, Penang, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Survey results of two populations of *Carcinoscorpius rotundicauda* at a fishing ground and within a protected area were compared so as to establish effects of human activities on the species. *Tachypleus tridentatus* and *Tachypleus gigas* were also found in both sites but in substantially less abundance. The operational sex ratios were male-biased at both sites; 5.50 (n = 52) at the fishing ground (Site 1) and 2.58 (n = 68) at the protected area (Site 2). Size distributions at both sites were similar of which females were approximately 16% larger than males. A captive experiment was conducted where pair-forming behaviour of *C. rotundicauda* was observed for 30 days. Amplexus were most frequently formed when the sex ratio was balanced, lasting for 2.44 ± 2.03 days, and eight days maximum. Female body size and amplex-forming frequency were positively correlated (r = 0.678, n = 7, p = 0.10), attributable to fitness projected by the phenotype. Solitary males did not exhibit aggression towards paired males, allowing the latter to retain mate exclusivity for considerable periods. Anthropogenic pressures caused an unnatural shift in the population structure of local horseshoe crabs that could lower their reproductive success, making eventual extirpation possible.

Keywords: Carcinoscorpius rotundicauda, horseshoe crab, mating behaviour, population structure, *Tachypleus gigas*, *Tachypleus tridentatus*

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received: 16 December 2013 Accepted: 6 June 2014

E-mail addresses: rolando.robert211@gmail.com (Robert, R.), muhd_ali@ums.edu.my (Muhammad Ali, S. H.), amelia_npf@yahoo.com (Amelia-Ng, P. F.) * Corresponding author

INTRODUCTION

All three Asian species of horseshoe crab are present in the waters of Sabah, namely, the tri-spine horseshoe crab, *Tachypleus tridentatus*, the Indian horseshoe crab,

ISSN: 1511-3701 © Universiti Putra Malaysia Press

Tachypleus gigas, and the mangrove horseshoe crab, Carcinoscorpius rotundicauda (Waterman, 1958; Sekiguchi, 1988a). A survey conducted from 2004 through 2006 along the coastal fishing villages in Peninsular Malaysia and Sabah indicated that the population of horseshoe crabs in Malaysia is undergoing a rapid decline (Christianus et al., 2008). Horseshoe crabs exhibit site-specificity especially in areas where eggs and juveniles have developed successfully, making them vulnerable to overexploitation. In addition to being philopatric, the populations of horseshoe crabs have low genetic connectivity and high genotypic variations based on molecular genetics data (Obst et al., 2012; Rozihan et al., 2013) attributed to low migratory ability and hence demographic exchange between them. Unlike two other Asian species, C. rotundicauda does not travel out to deeper water after spawning since adults can be found buried 2 - 3 cm deep in the mud, while juveniles remain near the surface (Cartwright-Taylor et al., 2011). Habitat loss is particularly hazardous to the genetically and ecologically constrained C. rotundicauda in Kota Kinabalu city where rapid coastal developments and reclamation over the past few decades have greatly decimated its mangrove cover.

All Asian horseshoe crab species share a similar habit of travelling upstream following incoming tides during full moon and new moon to spawn (Sekiguchi *et al.*, 1988; Chatterji *et al.*, 1992). A five-year survey on *C. rotundicauda* in Mandai Mudflats at Kranji in Singapore found that spawning occurred year-round and the sex ratio was balanced, showing consistently little change (Cartwright-Taylor *et al.*, 2009; Cartwright-Taylor & Hsu, 2012). Male dominant populations are regarded as a rarity in Asian horseshoe crabs, while male-biased populations are a norm in the American horseshoe crab, *Limulus polyphemus* (Sekiguchi *et al.*, 1988; Brockmann & Smith, 2009). A mating pair of horseshoe crab consists of a male mounting the back of a female and clasping the latter at the margin of its opisthosoma, forming an amplexus.

Limulus polyphemus is the most intensely-studied marine invertebrate in the world and its mating ecology has been well documented relative to the Asian species. According to Botton et al. (1996), although the Asian horseshoe crabs and L. polyphemus have over 100 million years of isolation in their lineages, their mating system are fundamentally the same. Studies showed that the species' behaviour in selecting mates is governed by a number of sensory cues which include visual, chemical and tactile cues (Hassler & Brockmann, 2001; Barlow, 2009; Saunders et al., 2010). Size was suspected to play a role in mating selection as males tended to form amplexus with larger females (Suggs et al., 2002). The same could be said of the Asian species since all the four extant species of horseshoe crabs share a lot of common features in terms of their biology and life history.

In Sabah, there have been very few studies done to determine the population status of horseshoe crabs. Demographic data on vulnerable species are vital in understanding the mechanisms that are driving their decline, especially factors that perturb the balance between fecundity and longevity (see Owens & Bennett, 2004). Thus, this study aimed to compare the ecological status of C. rotundicauda populations at a fishing ground and a protected area in the vicinity of Kota Kinabalu to demonstrate the effects of anthropogenic pressure on a population and to provide information on some aspects of its mating behaviour. A brief discussion on T. tridentatus and T. gigas in Sabah is also included here so that the results of this study can be used as baseline data to be adopted in future appraisals of horseshoe crabs at other localities.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Sites

Surveys were conducted at two sites, Menggatal River (Site 1) (6° 3' 52.9"E, 116° 7' 21.1"N) and Kota Kinabalu Wetland Centre (Site 2) (5° 59' 6.07"N, 116° 5' 14.48"E) (Fig.1). Site 1 is a river that is approximately 60 m wide and lined with narrow (5 to 10 m) strips of mangroves that, at most parts, have been cleared by fishermen living along the banks. Fishing activities are intense in the area for subsistence and commercial harvest of a myriad of species including bivalves and gastropods that form the major dietary components of horseshoe crabs (see Akbar John et al., 2012). Site 2 is a 2.4 km² patch of mangrove which was once part of an extensive mangrove forest lining the coastline of Kota Kinabalu. Site 2 was accorded Bird Sanctuary status in 1996 and declared a State Cultural Heritage Site in 1998. A small stream that is approximately 10 m in width connects the mangrove patch to Likas Bay, where horseshoe crabs have been frequently sighted. Samples collected were brought to Borneo Marine Research Institute (BMRI) of Universiti Malaysia Sabah, Kota Kinabalu, for further analyses and captive experiment.

Sampling Technique

Periodicity of breeding activities of *C. rotundicauda* at both sites coincided with lunar phases, as reported by Sekiguchi (1988b). In order to ensure sampling efficiency, horseshoe crabs were intercepted when they were swimming upstream into the mangrove to spawn, usually in the evening following the rising tide. Sampling was conducted twice per month, i.e. during spring tides of full moon and new moon for two consecutive days in the span of four months (a total of 16 nights) from October 2008 through January 2009 at Site 1 and from January through April 2013 at Site 2.

Horseshoe crabs at Site 1 were caught using three-layer trammel nets that had been deployed along the banks of the river with the help of a local fisherman. The nets were left overnight and checked for horseshoe crabs in the morning. Meanwhile, samples from Site 2 were collected through direct capture because accumulation of debris in the nets deployed made them difficult to be hauled. The conditions in which the individuals from Site 2 were found (solitary or amplexed) were also recorded to provide supplementary data for the mating behaviour study. Amplexus in Site 1 were often dissociated upon entanglement in the net, and thus, it could not be ascertained whether the individuals caught were solitary or amplexed. Captures were brought to BMRI for species identification, sexing, and to be measured.

Specimens were placed in culture tanks with aerated seawater that was partially exchanged once every day. In captivity, they were fed chopped fish and squid, as recommended by Lee and Morton (2005). The samples were then identified and sexed using key morphological characteristics as described by Yamasaki *et al.* (1988). The operational sex ratios (OSRs) defined as the ratio of adult individuals (Emlen & Oring, 1977) was computed as the number of males per female. Size was determined by measuring the maximum prosomal carapace width to the nearest 0.02 mm using a Vernier calliper. To prevent duplications in the results, the captures were released at



Fig.1: Map showing the sampling sites for horseshoe crabs in Kota Kinabalu

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 37 (3) 375 - 388 (2014)

the original sites where they were collected only after sampling ceased.

Experiment of Mating Behaviour

A captive experiment to investigate the mating behaviour of *C. rotundicauda* was carried out using randomly selected individuals from Site 2. They were marked using oil paint with serial numbers and their sizes were measured and recorded, as shown in Table 1. Three circular HDPE tanks of 2m diameter, filled with 0.5 m deep seawater, were used (Tanks A, B, and C). Four males were put in each tank before four females

were placed in Tank A, two in Tank B, and one in Tank C to give a male:female ratio of 1:1, 2:1 and 4:1, respectively. The experiment commenced when the females were added into the tanks. Observation was made for the first two hours to determine the duration for the formation of the first amplexus and subsequent observations for pair formations were made once every day at 1100 hours for 30 consecutive days.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Adult *C. rotundicauda*, *T. gigas*, and *T. tridentatus* were found in Site 1 during

TABLE 1

Serial number, size (in mm) and maturity conditions of the male and female individuals used in the captive experiment on mating behaviour

Tank (OSR)	Horseshoe crab no.	Prosomal width (mm)	Maturity condition	
	CRM1	137.00	Mature	
	CRF1	151.38	Ovigerous	
	CRM2	123.62	Mature	
Tank A	CRF2	152.00	Ovigerous	
(1:1)	CRM3	138.00	Mature	
	CRF3	162.26	Ovigerous	
	CRM4	128.40	Mature	
	CRF4	159.10	Ovigerous	
	CRM1	133.34	Mature	
	CRF1	136.70	Ovigerous	
Tank B	CRM2	124.82	Mature	
(2:1)	CRF2	159.30	Ovigerous	
	CRM3	124.34	Mature	
	CRM4	135.40	Mature	
	CRM1	126.28	Mature	
T 1 C	CRF1	150.26	Ovigerous	
Tank C (4.1)	CRM2	138.52	Mature	
()	CRM3	127.50	Mature	
	CRM4	126.88	Mature	

surveys in October 2008 through January 2009. However, only adult C. rotundicauda and juvenile T. tridentatus were found during the January through April 2013 surveys in Site 2. Nonetheless, this finding confirmed the previous report by Sekiguchi (1988a) on the overlapping habitat of all three species in Sabah. A female T. tridentatus from Site 1 was 421.0 mm, larger than the 393.0 mm reported by Yamasaki (1988) who noted that T. tridentatus from Kota Kinabalu were the largest compared to its conspecifics in Southeast Asia. Of the 61 individuals from Site 1, 53 were C. rotundicauda (52 adults and a small juvenile). The OSR of C. rotundicauda in Site 1 was male-biased, with only eight (15%) adult females and 44 (85%) adult males to give an OSR of 5.50. The size of the males was averaged at 130.0 \pm 5.3 mm (\pm S.D; n = 44), ranging from 120.4 mm through 145.3 mm, while the females were averaged at 150.8 ± 7.7 mm $(\pm S.D; n = 8)$ and ranged from 139.6 mm through 160.9 mm (Figures 2 and 3). This indicates that the females are 16% larger than the average males.

Slightly more *C. rotundicauda* were caught in Site 2. The captures comprised of 68 adult *C. rotundicauda* and four juvenile *T. tridentatus*. There were 49 (72%) males and 19 (28%) females, giving a less-skewed OSR of 2.58. The average female size $(\pm S.D)$ was 148.7 \pm 10.7 mm, which is approximately 16% larger than the average male ($\pm S.D$; 128.2 \pm 5.9 mm) (see Fig.2). The largest male was 143.9 mm, while the smallest was 115.4 mm, and the sizes of the females ranged between 129.0 mm through

171.2 mm (the largest C. rotundicauda in this study) (Fig.3). Adults from Site 2 had a wider size range but they were on average smaller than the adults in Site 1 (Fig.2); this is attributable to inter-population variations. Eighteen amplexed pairs were collected at Site 1. The mean $(\pm S.D)$ size of the females in amplexus was $149.4 \pm 10.6 \text{ mm} (n = 18)$. The mean size $(\pm S.D)$ of the amplexed males was $129.3 \pm 6.8 \text{ mm} (n = 18)$, which was slightly larger than the size of solitary males ($\pm S.D$; 127.6 ± 5.4 mm, n = 31). Only one pair was size-matched as the amplexed females were always bigger than their mate, with the mean percentage difference $(\pm S.D)$ of $15.8 \pm 10.5\%$ (*n* = 18) ranging from as little as 3% to 37%.

In the captive experiment, the first amplexus was formed 55 minutes after the experiment had commenced in Tank B. The amplexus were more frequently formed in Tank A, observed in 18 days out of 30. The longest lasted for eight days between CRF3 and CRM4 in Tank A. They were a recurrent pair, forming amplexus on three separate occasions for a total 11 days. The biggest female in Tank A (CRF3) formed amplexus with the highest frequency and it was the only female which was courted by every male. The biggest female in Tank B (CRF2) was the only one paired, while the other female was ignored. Some individuals did not form amplexus throughout the experiment. The average number of days $(\pm S.D)$ for every pairing episode was 2.44 ± 2.03 days.

In captivity, the females in amplexus were always bigger than the males attached



Fig.2: Frequency of size class intervals of the male and female *Carcinoscorpius rotundicauda* from Site 1 and Site 2



Fig.3: Size distribution of male and female individuals caught from Site 1 and Site 2

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 37 (3): 375 - 388 (2014)

to them, reflecting the conditions in the wild. Correlation analyses with levels of significance of 0.10 were employed to illustrate the relationship between size of individuals and their propensity to form amplexus. Although the correlation was weak, the negative coefficient (r) value (r = -0.184; p = 0.10, d.f = 10) suggested that smaller males formed amplexus more frequently as compared to larger ones (Fig.4).

On the contrary, the frequency of a female to form amplexus was positively correlated with size (r = 0.678; n = 0.10, d.f = 5), and this indicated the preference towards large-sized females in the mating system (Fig.5). The largest female in Tank

A was the only one which had formed a tandem when an additional male grasped on a paired male, which was never observed in the wild, supporting our theory that mating is size-assortative.

According to Cartwright-Taylor and Hsu (2012), breeding of *C. rotundicauda* in Singapore was year-round with no apparent seasonal pattern. However, the breeding period of *T. tridentatus* and *T. gigas* in Malaysia is thought to be seasonal (personal communication, Christianus, 2013), with marked increase in spawning activities towards the end of the year starting from September in Sabah (Muhammad Ali S. H.; personal observation). The presence of juvenile *T. tridentatus* at Site 2 from January



Fig.4: Correlation analysis of male body size and the frequency of forming amplexus

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 37 (3) 375 - 388 (2014)

through April may be the product of recent spawning activities at the latter half of the previous year that resulted in recruitment of new individuals in the following months.

The OSRs of *C. rotundicauda* at both Sites 1 and 2 were male-biased but it was even more extreme at the former. Skews as high as 16 males per female (see Mattei *et al.*, 2010) in *L. polyphemus* were caused by selective harvest of larger and ovigerous females for the biomedical and bait industry (Carmichael *et al.*, 2003). Unlike *L. polyphemus*, large-scale commercial harvest of horseshoe crabs in Sabah is hitherto non-existent. However, during a survey carried out late November 2012 or before the survey at Site 2 was commenced, female tachypleans were seen being sold at a local market in Kota Kinabalu, purportedly caught opportunistically. In Southeast Asia, horseshoe crab eggs are highly sought-after despite documented cases of lethal poisoning after consuming toxic C. rotundicauda (Ngy et al., 2007; Kanchanapongkul, 2008). The fishing communities in Kota Kinabalu are aware of this, and this explains why C. rotundicauda are not sold to the public. Nonetheless, they claimed to know the organs that need to be removed when preparing a dish of C. rotundicauda admitting that the females have been captured occasionally for their own consumption. Perhaps, the extremely low number of females in Site 1 was due to



Fig.5: Correlation analysis of female body size and the frequency of forming amplexus

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 37 (3): 375 - 388 (2014)

the selective removal of females trapped in fishing nets set up around Site 1.

Even though the adults in Site 2 were not subjected to the same anthropogenic influences as that of Site 1, there was still a slight imbalance in OSR that might be caused by sex-specific spatio-temporal segregation as previously reported in L. polyphemus. During spawning periods, unpaired females remained offshore while amplexed ones would travel to spawning grounds above the high tide mark accompanied by solitary males which clustered around spawning pairs (Brockmann, 1990). Of the 19 adult females caught in Site 2, only one was solitary, while others were in amplexus that lent credence to the theory that solitary females did not travel upstream. Female L. polyphemus would leave to deeper water after egg-laying, while solitary males would frequent the spawning beaches (Cohen & Brockmann, 1983; Brockmann, 1990; Smith et al., 2013), indicating that over a spawning cycle, the number of males at a spawning beach would be consistent while the number of females would decline.

Despite the differences in the average sizes of individuals at both sites attributable to population variations, the proportion of sexual size dimorphism was similar at both sites. The females were 16% larger than the males, whereas ranges previously reported by Yamasaki *et al.* (1988) and Srijaya *et al.* (2010) were from 4% through 15%. Coincidentally, the mean size of the amplexed females was also 16% larger than the amplexed males. Adult males in all species of horseshoe crabs are smaller than females and tend to be within a narrower range of sizes. Male horseshoe crabs reach terminal moulting upon attaining sexual maturity where their pedipalps (in all extant horseshoe crabs) and the first ambulating legs (in Asian horseshoe crabs) are modified to form claspers. The reproductive benefit of having smaller body size is that males have better mobility for mate searching ergo increasing their chances of finding a mate.

Female horseshoe crabs may grow larger than males because of the continuous growth spurred by juvenile hormones (Levin, 2003). Females may moult continuously throughout their lives, enabling them to attain significantly larger sizes than males. In a mating system where females have to carry males, maintenance of a female-biased size dimorphism is necessary due to loading constraints exerted on them (see Otronen, 1997). In captivity, male C. rotundicauda in an amplexus may be very persistent, clinging onto the same female usually for more than one day. Extensive copulation time coupled with resistance of aquatic locomotion in the wild would exacerbate loading constraints on female horseshoe crabs. Consequently, they possess larger body sizes to compensate for the higher bioenergetics requirements of mating (Crespi, 1989). In addition, female size was found to be positively correlated with fecundity in horseshoe crabs (Chatterji & Parulekar, 1992; Leschen et al., 2006). The two factors combined were suspected to be key factors why males showed preference for the largest females in captivity, resulting in size-assortative mating, and in turn, female-biased size dimorphism in the extant horseshoe crabs.

Females exhibited polyandry as they acquiesced to any courting male evident through the lack of resistance to grasping males or attempts to dismount them. Horseshoe crabs have highly-sensitive mechanoreceptors throughout their bodies that enable them to detect important physical cues such as hydraulic pressure and to locate mates (reviewed in Saunders et al., 2010). Females in amplexus grasped by hand during sampling displayed an exaggerated response to this stimulus, ostensibly to forcefully dissociate themselves to ease escape. In captivity, a courting male manoeuvred itself deliberately around a female before grasping the latter's opisthosoma. Grasped females were rarely startled by the males' advances as indicated by their calm demeanour.

Results of the captive experiment showed that smaller males had formed amplexus more frequently than the larger males (Fig.4; r = -0.184, n = 12, P = 0.10), although in the wild amplexed males were of similar size to solitary males, showing size-independent mating. Despite having smaller body size, there was a lack of size constraint for males to form amplexus, as demonstrated by a pair of C. rotundicauda from Site 2 that consisted of a female which was 37% larger than the male, twice the average size difference. Younger males that have recently moulted are smaller in size and thus lighter in terms of weight, which is more favourable for the females. Older individuals can be visually discerned from younger individuals by having larger body sizes and their carapace appears darker due to degrading actions of chitinase bacteria and more heavily encrusted due to attachment of symbiotic epibionts (mainly barnacles and limpets) that contribute to an increase in their weight.

Asian horseshoe crabs have undergone further modifications in their morphology to remain amplexed for longer periods than L. polyphemus (Botton et al., 1996). Prolonged precopulatory amplexus ensures that the male retains access to the female when breeding periods commence, and thus, ensuring its reproductive success (Rudloe, 1980). An alternative mating tactic for solitary males, which is common in older L. polyphemus, is to engage in sperm competition with amplexed males and amongst themselves without investing in primary access to a female (Brockmann, 1990; Smith et al., 2013). Hordes of solitary males (n = 31) were captured swimming along with amplexed pairs in Site 2, and excess males from Site 1 were most probably solitary as well, indicative of an alternative mating tactic in C. rotundicauda. Solitary males may still contribute to the genetic diversity of offspring despite being deprived of an exclusive mate in addition to ensuring a higher rate of fertilisation of the eggs.

CONCLUSION

The two populations studied in this work can be ecologically distinguished from each other mainly from the discrepancies in term of their OSRs. Lack of protection on horseshoe crabs would result in a further decline of its already low numbers in the vicinity of Kota Kinabalu. Since it takes almost a decade for an individual to attain maturity, loss of adults due to natural and anthropogenic factors may compromise the long-term health of a population and affected populations may require longer time to rebound. Baseline data of horseshoe crabs at other locations in Sabah and studies on their breeding periodicity are therefore necessary to instigate conservation and protection measures of the valuable species.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank Sabah Wetlands Conservation Society (SWCS) for granting the permission to conduct this research in KKWC and for providing logistical support, the staff (especially Ms. Lee Ka Han, Ms. Siti Joanni Matlan and Mr. Abraham) for providing useful data and information in the course of this study, and undergraduate students whom volunteered to assist in the collection of samples.

REFERENCES

- Akbar John, B., Kamaruzzaman, B. Y., Jalal, K. C. A., & Zaleha, K. (2012). Feeding ecology and food preferences of *Carcinoscorpius rotundicauda* collected from the Pahang nesting grounds. *Sains Malaysiana*, 41(7), 855-861.
- Barlow, R. B. (2009). Vision in horseshoe crabs. In Tanacredi, J. T., Botton, M. L. & Smith, D. R. (Eds.), *Biology and conservation of horseshoe crabs* (pp. 223-235). USA: Springer Dordrecht Heidelberg.
- Botton, M. L., Shuster, C. N., Sekiguchi, K., & Sugita, H. (1996). Amplexus and mating behaviour in the

Japanese horseshoe crab, *Tachypleus tridentatus*. *Biological Science*, *13*, 151-159.

- Brockmann, H. J. (1990). Mating behavior of horseshoe crabs, *Limulus polyphemus*. *Behaviour*, 114, 1-4.
- Brockmann, H. J., & Smith, M. D. (2009).
 Reproductive competition and sexual selection in horseshoe crab. In J. T. Tanacredi, M. L. Botton, & D. R. Smith (Eds.), *Biology and conservation of horseshoe crabs* (pp. 199-222). USA: Springer Dordrecht Heidelberg.
- Carmichael, R. H., Rutecki, D., & Valiela, I. (2003). Abundance and population structure of the Atlantic horseshoe crab, *Limulus polyphemus* in Pleasant Bay, Cape Cod. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 246, 225-239.
- Cartwright-Taylor, L., Lee, J., & Hsu, C. C. (2009). Population structure and breeding pattern of the mangrove horseshoe crab *Carcinoscorpius rotundicauda* in Singapore. *Aquatic Biology*, 8, 61-69.
- Cartwright-Taylor, L., Yap, V. B., Hsu, C. C., & Lou, S. T. (2011). Distribution and abundance of horseshoe crabs *Tachypleus gigas* and *Carcinoscorpius rotundicauda* around the main island of Singapore. *Aquatic Biology*, 13, 127-136.
- Cartwright-Taylor, L., & Hsu, C. C. (2012). Follow-up study on population structure and breeding pattern of the mangrove horseshoe crab *Carcinoscorpius rotundicauda* in Singapore. *Aquatic Biology*, 14, 217-222.
- Chatterji, A., & Parulekar, A. H. (1992). Fecundity of the Indian horseshoe crab, *Carcinoscorpius rotundicauda* (Latreille). *Tropical Ecology*, *33*(1), 97-102.
- Chatterji, A., Vijayakumar, R., & Parulekar, A. H. (1992). Spawning migration of the horseshoe crab, *Tachypleus gigas* (Müller), in relation to lunar cycle. *Asian Fisheries Science*, 5, 123-128.

- Christianus, A., Harmin, S. A., & Hussin, L. (2008). Horseshoe crab: a fossil invertebrate cultured for the future. *Synthesis*, 22, 7.
- Cohen, J. A., & Brockmann, H. J. (1983). Breeing activity and mate selection in the horseshoe crab, *Limulus polyphemus. Bulletin of Marine Science*, 33(2), 274-281.
- Crespi, B. J. (1989). Causes of assortative mating in arthropods. *Animal Behaviour*, *38*, 980-1000.
- Emlen, S. T., & Oring, L. W. (1977). Ecology, sexual selection, and the evolution of mating systems. *Science*, 197(4300), 215-223.
- Hassler, C., & Brockmann, H. J. (2001). Evidence for use of chemical cues by male horseshoe crabs when locating nesting females (*Limulus polyphemus*). Journal of Chemical Ecology, 27(11), 2319-2335.
- Kanchanapongkul, J. (2008). Tetrodotoxin poisoning following ingestion of the toxic eggs of the horseshoe crab *Carcinoscorpius rotundicauda*, a case series from 1994 through 2006. *Southeast Asian Journal of Tropical Medicine and Public Health*, 39(2), 303-306.
- Lee, C. N., & Morton, B. (2005). Experimentally derived estimates of growth by juvenile *Tachypleus tridentatus* and *Carcinoscorpius rotundicauda* (Xiphosura) from nursery beaches in Hong Kong. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 318, 39-49.
- Leschen, A. S., Grady, S. P., & Valiela, I. (2006). Fecundity and spawning of the Atlantic horseshoe crab, Limulus polyphemus, in Pleasant bay, Cape Cod, Massachusetts, USA. *Marine Ecology*, 27, 54-65.
- Levin, M. L. (2003). Evidence for the existence of juvenile hormone in the horseshoe crab. MSc Thesis. Worcester Polytechnic Institute, USA.
- Mattei, J. H., Beekey, M. A., Rudman, A., & Woronik, A. (2010). Reproductive behaviour in horseshoe

crabs: does density matter? *Current Zoology*, 56(5), 634-642

- Ngy, L., Yu, C. F., Takatani, T., & Arakawa, O. (2007). Toxicity assessment for the horseshoe crab *Carcinoscorpius rotundicauda* collected from Cambodia. *Toxicon*, 49, 843-847.
- Obst, M., Faurby, S., Bussarawir, S., & Funch, P. (2013). Molecular phylogeny of extant horseshoe crabs (Xiphosura, Limulidae) indicates Paleogene diversification of Asian species. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, 62, 21-26
- Otronen, M. (1997). Mating behaviour and sexual size dimorphism in *Scathophaga inquinata*. *Annales Zoologici Fennici*, *34*, 24-246.
- Owens, I. P. F., & Bennett, P. M. (2000). Ecological basis of entinction risk in birds: habitat loss versus human persecution and introduced predators, *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 97(22), 12144-12148.
- Rozihan, M., Ismail, E., Akbar John, B., Jalal, K. C. A., & Mohd-Adnan, A. (2013). Genetic diversity of horseshoe crab (*Tachypleus gigas*) in Malaysia revealed using microsatellite markers. *Asian Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances*, 8(1), 63-72.
- Rudloe, A. (1980). The breeding behavior and patterns of movement of horseshoe crabs, *Limulus polyphemus*, in the vicinity of breeding beaches in Apalachee Bay, Florida. *Estuaries*, 3(3), 177-183.
- Saunders, K. M., Brockmann, H. J., Watson, W. H., & Jury, S. H. (2010). Male horseshoe crab *Limulus polyphemus* use multiple sensory cues to locate mates. *Current Zoology*, 56(5), 485-498.
- Sekiguchi, K. (1988a). Biogeography. In K. Sekiguchi (Ed.), *Biology of horseshoe crabs* (pp. 22-49). Japan: Science House Co. Ltd.

- Sekiguchi, K. (1988b). Ecology. In K. Sekiguchi (Ed.), Biology of horseshoe crabs (pp. 50-68). Japan: Science House Co. Ltd.
- Sekiguchi, K., Yamamichi, Y., Seshimo, H., & Sugita, H. (1988). Normal development. In K. Sekiguchi (Ed.), *Biology of horseshoe crabs* (pp. 133-224). Japan: Science House Co. Ltd.
- Smith, M. D., Schrank, H. E., & Brockmann, H. J. (2013). Measuring the costs of alternative reproductive tactics in horseshoe crabs, *Limulus polyphemus*. *Animal Behaviour*, 85, 165-73.
- Srijaya, T. C., Pradeep, P. J., Mithun, S., Shaharom, F., & Chatterji, A. (2010). A new record on the morphometric variations in the populations of horseshoe crabs (*Carcinoscorpius rotundicauda* Latreille) obtained from two different ecological habitats of Peninsular Malaysia. *Our Nature*, 8, 204-211.

- Suggs, D. N., Carmichael, R. H., Grady, S. P., & Valiela, I. (2002). Effects of individual size on pairing of horseshoe crabs. *Biology Bulletin*, 203, 225-227.
- Waterman, T. H. (1958). On the doubtful validity of *Tachypleus hoeveni*, an Indonesian horseshoe crab. *Postilla*, 36, 1-17.
- Yamasaki, T. (1998). Taxonomy. In K. Sekiguchi (Ed.), *Biology of horseshoe crabs* (pp. 10-21). Japan: Science House Co. Ltd.
- Yamasaki, T., Makioka, T., & Saito, J. (1988). Morphology. In K. Sekiguchi (Ed.), *Biology of horseshoe crabs* (pp. 69-132). Japan: Science House Co. Ltd.

REFEREES FOR THE PERTANIKA JOURNAL OF TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

VOL. 37(3) AUG 2014

The Editorial Board of the Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science wishes to thank the following:

Ahmed Jalal Khan Chowdhury (IIUM, Malaysia)

Aminah Abdullah (UKM, Malaysia)

Anuar Abd Rahim (UPM, Malaysia)

Asgar Ali Warsi (University of Nottingham, Malaysia)

Banpot Napompeth (Kasetsart University, Thailand)

Indika Herath (Coconut Research Institute, Sri Lanka)

Lee Chow Yang (USM, Malaysia)

Lingan Rajendran (Tamil Nadu Agricultural University, India)

Loh Kar Hoe (UM, Malaysia)

Mondal M. Monjurul (Bangladesh Institute of Nuclear Agriculture) Monirul Islam (Bangladesh Agricultural Research Institute, Bangladesh)

Phebe Ding (UPM, Malaysia)

Ranjith Mapa (University of Peradeniyus, Sri Lanka)

Rita Muhamad Awang (UPM, Malaysia)

Sabrina Sukardi (UPM, Malaysia)

Sieo Chin Chin (UPM, Malaysia)

Tayebh Tabatabaie (Islamic Azad University, Iran)

Tengku Muda Mohamed Mahmud (UPM, Malaysia)

Yasmeen Siddiqui (UPM, Malaysia)

UPM - Universiti Putra Malavsia

UKM - Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia USM - Universiti Sains Malaysia IIUM - International Islamic University Malaysia

While every effort has been made to include a complete list of referees for the period stated above, however if any name(s) have been omitted unintentionally or spelt incorrectly, please notify the Chief Executive Editor, UPM Journals at nayan@upm.my.

Any inclusion or exclusion of name(s) on this page does not commit the Pertanika Editorial Office, nor the UPM Press or the University to provide any liability for whatsoever reason.

Pertanika

Our goal is to bring high quality research to the widest possible audience

Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science

INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS

(Manuscript Preparation & Submission Guidelines)

Revised: June 2014

We aim for excellence, sustained by a responsible and professional approach to journal publishing. We value and support our authors in the research community.

Please read the guidelines and follow these instructions carefully; doing so will ensure that the publication of your manuscript is as rapid and efficient as possible. The Editorial Board reserves the right to return manuscripts that are not prepared in accordance with these guidelines.

About the Journal

Pertanika is an international peer-reviewed journal devoted to the publication of original papers, and it serves as a forum for practical approaches to improving quality in issues pertaining to tropical agriculture and its related fields. Pertanika began publication in 1978 as a Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science and became a leading agricultural journal in Malaysia. After 29 years as a multidisciplinary journal, the revamped Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science (JTAS) is now focusing on tropical agricultural research. Other Pertanika series include Journal of Science and Technology (JST) and Journal of Sciences and Humanities (JSSH).

JTAS is published in **English** and it is open to authors around the world regardless of the nationality. It is currently published four times a year, i.e. in **February**, **May**, **August** and **November**.

Goal of Pertanika

Our goal is to bring the highest quality research to the widest possible audience.

Quality

We aim for excellence, sustained by a responsible and professional approach to journal publishing. Submissions are guaranteed to receive a decision within 12 weeks. The elapsed time from submission to publication for the articles averages 5-6 months.

Indexing of Pertanika

Pertanika is now over 33 years old; this accumulated knowledge has resulted in Pertanika JTAS being indexed in SCOPUS (Elsevier), Thomson (ISI) Web of Knowledge [BIOSIS & CAB Abstracts], EBSCO, DOAJ, Google Scholar, AGRICOLA, ISC, MyAIS and Rubriq.

Future vision

We are continuously improving access to our journal archives, content, and research services. We have the drive to realise exciting new horizons that will benefit not only the academic community, but society itself.

We also have views on the future of our journals. The emergence of the online medium as the predominant vehicle for the 'consumption' and distribution of much academic research will be the ultimate instrument in the dissemination of research news to our scientists and readers.

Aims and scope

Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science aims to provide a forum for high quality research related to tropical agricultural research. Areas relevant to the scope of the journal include: agricultural biotechnology, biochemistry, biology, ecology, fisheries, forestry, food sciences, genetics, microbiology, pathology and management, physiology, plant and animal sciences, production of plants and animals of economic importance, and veterinary medicine.

Editorial Statement

Pertanika is the official journal of Universiti Putra Malaysia. The abbreviation for Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science is Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci.

Guidelines for Authors

Publication policies

Pertanika policy prohibits an author from submitting the same manuscript for concurrent consideration by two or more publications. It prohibits as well publication of any manuscript that has already been published either in whole or substantial part elsewhere. It also does not permit publication of manuscript that has been published in full in Proceedings. Please refer to Pertanika's **Code of Ethics** for full details.

Editorial process

Authors are notified on receipt of a manuscript and upon the editorial decision regarding publication.

Manuscript review: Manuscripts deemed suitable for publication are sent to the Editorial Board members and/or other reviewers. We encourage authors to suggest the names of possible reviewers. Notification of the editorial decision is usually provided within to eight to ten weeks from the receipt of manuscript. Publication of solicited manuscripts is not guaranteed. In most cases, manuscripts are accepted conditionally, pending an author's revision of the material.

Author approval: Authors are responsible for all statements in articles, including changes made by editors. The liaison author must be available for consultation with an editor of *The Journal* to answer questions during the editorial process and to approve the edited copy. Authors receive edited typescript (not galley proofs) for final approval. Changes **cannot** be made to the copy after the edited version has been approved.

Manuscript preparation

Pertanika accepts submission of mainly four types of manuscripts. Each manuscript is classified as **regular** or **original** articles, **short communications**, **reviews**, and proposals for **special issues**. Articles must be in **English** and they must be competently written and argued in clear and concise grammatical English. Acceptable English usage and syntax are expected. Do not use slang, jargon, or obscure abbreviations or phrasing. Metric measurement is preferred; equivalent English measurement may be included in parentheses. Always provide the complete form of an acronym/abbreviation the first time it is presented in the text. Contributors are strongly recommended to have the manuscript checked by a colleague with ample experience in writing English manuscripts or an English language editor.

Linguistically hopeless manuscripts will be rejected straightaway (e.g., when the language is so poor that one cannot be sure of what the authors really mean). This process, taken by authors before submission, will greatly facilitate reviewing, and thus publication if the content is acceptable.

The instructions for authors must be followed. Manuscripts not adhering to the instructions will be returned for revision without review. Authors should prepare manuscripts according to the guidelines of *Pertanika*.

1. Regular article

Definition: Full-length original empirical investigations, consisting of introduction, materials and methods, results and discussion, conclusions. Original work must provide references and an explanation on research findings that contain new and significant findings.

Size: Should not exceed 5000 words or 8-10 printed pages (excluding the abstract, references, tables and/or figures). One printed page is roughly equivalent to 3 type-written pages.

2. Short communications

Definition: Significant new information to readers of the Journal in a short but complete form. It is suitable for the publication of technical advance, bioinformatics or insightful findings of plant and animal development and function.

Size: Should not exceed 2000 words or 4 printed pages, is intended for rapid publication. They are not intended for publishing preliminary results or to be a reduced version of Regular Papers or Rapid Papers.

3. Review article

Definition: Critical evaluation of materials about current research that had already been published by organizing, integrating, and evaluating previously published materials. Re-analyses as meta-analysis and systemic reviews are encouraged. Review articles should aim to provide systemic overviews, evaluations and interpretations of research in a given field.

Size: Should not exceed 4000 words or 7-8 printed pages.

4. Special issues

Definition: Usually papers from research presented at a conference, seminar, congress or a symposium.

Size: Should not exceed 5000 words or 8-10 printed pages.
5. Others

Definition: Brief reports, case studies, comments, Letters to the Editor, and replies on previously published articles may be considered.

Size: Should not exceed 2000 words or up to 4 printed pages.

With few exceptions, original manuscripts should not exceed the recommended length of 6 printed pages (about 18 typed pages, double-spaced and in 12-point font, tables and figures included). Printing is expensive, and, for the Journal, postage doubles when an issue exceeds 80 pages. You can understand then that there is little room for flexibility.

Long articles reduce the Journal's possibility to accept other high-quality contributions because of its 80-page restriction. We would like to publish as many good studies as possible, not only a few lengthy ones. (And, who reads overly long articles anyway?) Therefore, in our competition, short and concise manuscripts have a definite advantage.

Format

The paper should be formatted in one column format with at least 4cm margins and 1.5 line spacing throughout. Authors are advised to use Times New Roman 12-point font. Be especially careful when you are inserting special characters, as those inserted in different fonts may be replaced by different characters when converted to PDF files. It is well known that ' μ ' will be replaced by other characters when fonts such as 'Symbol' or 'Mincho' are used.

A maximum of eight keywords should be indicated below the abstract to describe the contents of the manuscript. Leave a blank line between each paragraph and between each entry in the list of bibliographic references. Tables should preferably be placed in the same electronic file as the text. Authors should consult a recent issue of the Journal for table layout.

Every page of the manuscript, including the title page, references, tables, etc. should be numbered. However, no reference should be made to page numbers in the text; if necessary, one may refer to sections. Underline words that should be in italics, and do not underline any other words.

We recommend that authors prepare the text as a Microsoft Word file.

- 1. Manuscripts in general should be organised in the following order:
 - Page 1: Running title. (Not to exceed 60 characters, counting letters and spaces). This page should only
 contain the running title of your paper. The running title is an abbreviated title used as the running head on
 every page of the manuscript.

In addition, the **Subject areas most** relevant to the study must be indicated on this page. Select the appropriate subject areas from the Scope of the Journals provided in the Manuscript Submission Guide

- A list of number of black and white / colour figures and tables should also be indicated on this page.
 Figures submitted in color will be printed in colour. See "5. Figures & Photographs" for details.
- Page 2: Author(s) and Corresponding author information. This page should contain the full title of your paper with name(s) of all the authors, institutions and corresponding author's name, institution and full address (Street address, telephone number (including extension), hand phone number, fax number and e-mail address) for editorial correspondence. The names of the authors must be abbreviated following the international naming convention. e.g. Salleh, A.B., Tan, S.G., or Sapuan, S.M.

Authors' addresses. Multiple authors with different addresses must indicate their respective addresses separately by superscript numbers:

George Swan¹ and Nayan Kanwal²

¹Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina, USA.

²Office of the Deputy Vice Chancellor (R&I), Universiti Putra Malaysia, Serdang, Malaysia.

- Page 3: This page should repeat the full title of your paper with only the Abstract (the abstract should be less than 250 words for a Regular Paper and up to 100 words for a Short Communication). Keywords must also be provided on this page (Not more than eight keywords in alphabetical order).
- Page 4 and subsequent pages: This page should begin with the Introduction of your article and the rest of your paper should follow from page 5 onwards.

Abbreviations. Define alphabetically, other than abbreviations that can be used without definition. Words or phrases that are abbreviated in the introduction and following text should be written out in full the first time that they appear in the text, with each abbreviated form in parenthesis. Include the common name or scientific name, or both, of animal and plant materials.

Footnotes. Current addresses of authors if different from heading.

- 2. Text. Regular Papers should be prepared with the headings Introduction, Materials and Methods, Results and Discussion, Conclusions in this order. Short Communications should be prepared according to "8. Short Communications." below.
- 3. Tables. All tables should be prepared in a form consistent with recent issues of *Pertanika* and should be numbered consecutively with Arabic numerals. Explanatory material should be given in the table legends and footnotes. Each table should be prepared on a separate page. (Note that when a manuscript is accepted for publication, tables must be submitted as data .doc, .rtf, Excel or PowerPoint file- because tables submitted as image data cannot be edited for publication.)
- 4. **Equations and Formulae.** These must be set up clearly and should be typed triple spaced. Numbers identifying equations should be in square brackets and placed on the right margin of the text.
- 5. Figures & Photographs. Submit an original figure or photograph. Line drawings must be clear, with high black and white contrast. Each figure or photograph should be prepared on a separate sheet and numbered consecutively with Arabic numerals. Appropriate sized numbers, letters and symbols should be used, no smaller than 2 mm in size after reduction to single column width (85 mm), 1.5-column width (120 mm) or full 2-column width (175 mm). Failure to comply with these specifications will require new figures and delay in publication. For electronic figures, create your figures using applications that are capable of preparing high resolution TIFF files acceptable for publication. In general, we require 300 dpi or higher resolution for coloured and half-tone artwork and 1200 dpi or higher for line drawings to be submitted in separate electronic files.

For review, you may attach low-resolution figures, which are still clear enough for reviewing, to keep the file of the manuscript under 5 MB. Illustrations may be produced at no extra cost in colour at the discretion of the Publisher; the author could be charged Malaysian Ringgit 50 for each colour page.

6. **References.** Literature citations in the text should be made by name(s) of author(s) and year. For references with more than two authors, the name of the first author followed by '*et al*.' should be used.

Swan and Kanwal (2007) reported that ... The results have been interpreted (Kanwal *et al.*, 2009).

- References should be listed in alphabetical order, by the authors' last names. For the same author, or for the same set of authors, references should be arranged chronologically. If there is more than one publication in the same year for the same author(s), the letters 'a', 'b', etc., should be added to the year.
- When the authors are more than 11, list 5 authors and then *et al*.
- Do not use indentations in typing References. Use one line of space to separate each reference. The name
 of the journal should be written in full. For example:
 - Jalaludin, S. (1997a). Metabolizable energy of some local feeding stuff. Tumbuh, 1, 21-24.
 - Jalaludin, S. (1997b). The use of different vegetable oil in chicken ration. *Malayan Agriculturist, 11,* 29-31.
 - Tan, S. G., Omar, M. Y., Mahani, K. W., Rahani, M., & Selvaraj, O. S. (1994). Biochemical genetic studies on wild populations of three species of green leafhoppers *Nephotettix* from Peninsular Malaysia. *Biochemical Genetics*, 32, 415 422.
- In case of citing an author(s) who has published more than one paper in the same year, the papers should be distinguished by addition of a small letter as shown above, e.g. Jalaludin (1997a); Jalaludin (1997b).
- Unpublished data and personal communications should not be cited as literature citations, but given in the text in parentheses. 'In press' articles that have been accepted for publication may be cited in References. Include in the citation the journal in which the 'in press' article will appear and the publication date, if a date is available.

7. Examples of other reference citations:

Monographs: Turner, H. N., & Yong, S. S. Y. (2006). Quantitative Genetics in Sheep Breeding. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.

Chapter in Book: Kanwal, N.D. S. (1992). Role of plantation crops in Papua New Guinea economy. In Angela R. McLean (Ed.), *Introduction of livestock in the Enga province PNG* (p. 221-250). United Kingdom: Oxford Press.

 Proceedings: Kanwal, N. D. S. (2001). Assessing the visual impact of degraded land management with landscape design software. In Kanwal, N. D. S., & Lecoustre, P. (Eds.), *International forum for Urban Landscape Technologies* (p. 117-127). Lullier, Geneva, Switzerland: CIRAD Press. 9. Short Communications should include Introduction, Materials and Methods, Results and Discussion, Conclusions in this order. Headings should only be inserted for Materials and Methods. The abstract should be up to 100 words, as stated above. Short Communications must be 5 printed pages or less, including all references, figures and tables. References should be less than 30. A 5 page paper is usually approximately 3000 words plus four figures or tables (if each figure or table is less than 1/4 page).

*Authors should state the total number of words (including the Abstract) in the cover letter. Manuscripts that do not fulfill these criteria will be rejected as Short Communications without review.

STYLE OF THE MANUSCRIPT

Manuscripts should follow the style of the latest version of the Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association (APA). The journal uses American or British spelling and authors may follow the latest edition of the Oxford Advanced Learner's Dictionary for British spellings.

SUBMISSION OF MANUSCRIPTS

All articles should be submitted electronically using the ScholarOne web-based system. ScholarOne, a Thomson Reuters product provides comprehensive workflow management systems for scholarly journals. For more information, go to our web page and click "Online Submission".

Alternatively, you may submit the electronic files (cover letter, manuscript, and the **Manuscript Submission Kit** comprising *Declaration* and *Referral* forms) via email directly to the Chief Executive Editor. If the files are too large to email, mail a CD containing the files. The **Manuscript Submission Guide** and **Submission Kit** are available from the *Pertanika*'s home page at http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/home.php or from the Executive Editor's office upon request.

All articles submitted to the journal **must comply** with these instructions. Failure to do so will result in return of the manuscript and possible delay in publication.

Please do **not** submit manuscripts to the editor-in-chief or to any other office directly. All manuscripts must be **submitted through the chief executive editor's office** to be properly acknowledged and rapidly processed at the address below:

Dr. Nayan KANWAL Chief Executive Editor *Pertanika* Journals, UPM Press Office of the Deputy Vice Chancellor (R&I) IDEA Tower II, UPM-MTDC Technology Centre Universiti Putra Malaysia 43400 UPM, Serdang, Selangor Malaysia

E-mail: nayan@upm.my; journal.officer@gmail.com tel: + 603-8947 1622. or visit our website at http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/home.php for further information.

Authors should retain copies of submitted manuscripts and correspondence, as materials cannot be returned. Authors are required to inform the Chief Executive Editor of any change of address which occurs whilst their papers are in the process of publication.

Cover letter

All submissions must be accompanied by a cover letter detailing what you are submitting. Papers are accepted for publication in the journal on the understanding that the article is original and the content has not been published or submitted for publication elsewhere. This must be stated in the cover letter.

The cover letter must also contain an acknowledgement that all authors have contributed significantly, and that all authors are in agreement with the content of the manuscript.

The cover letter of the paper should contain (i) the title; (ii) the full names of the authors; (iii) the addresses of the institutions at which the work was carried out together with (iv) the full postal and email address, plus facsimile and telephone numbers of the author to whom correspondence about the manuscript should be sent. The present address of any author, if different from that where the work was carried out, should be supplied in a footnote.

As articles are double-blind reviewed, material that might identify authorship of the paper should be placed on a cover sheet.

Peer review

Pertanika follows a **double-blind peer-review** process. Peer reviewers are experts chosen by journal editors to provide written assessment of the **strengths** and **weaknesses** of written research, with the aim of improving the reporting of research and identifying the most appropriate and highest quality material for the journal.

In the peer-review process, three referees independently evaluate the scientific quality of the submitted manuscripts. Authors are encouraged to indicate in the **Referral form** using the **Manuscript Submission Kit** the names of three potential reviewers, but the editors will make the final choice. The editors are not, however, bound by these suggestions.

Manuscripts should be written so that they are intelligible to the professional reader who is not a specialist in the particular field. They should be written in a clear, concise, direct style. Where contributions are judged as acceptable for publication on the basis of content, the Editor reserves the right to modify the typescripts to eliminate ambiguity and repetition and improve communication between author and reader. If extensive alterations are required, the manuscript will be returned to the author for revision.

The Journal's review process

What happens to a manuscript once it is submitted to Pertanika? Typically, there are seven steps to the editorial review process:

- 1. The executive editor and the editorial board examine the paper to determine whether it is appropriate for the journal and should be reviewed. If not appropriate, the manuscript is rejected outright and the author is informed.
- 2. The executive editor sends the article-identifying information having been removed, to three reviewers. Typically, one of these is from the Journal's editorial board. Others are specialists in the subject matter represented by the article. The executive editor asks them to complete the review in three weeks and encloses two forms: (a) referral form B and (b) reviewer's comment form along with reviewer's guidelines. Comments to authors are about the appropriateness and adequacy of the theoretical or conceptual framework, literature review, method, results and discussion, and conclusions. Reviewers often include suggestions for strengthening of the manuscript. Comments to the editor are in the nature of the significance of the work and its potential contribution to the literature.
- 3. The executive editor, in consultation with the editor-in-chief, examines the reviews and decides whether to reject the manuscript, invite the author(s) to revise and resubmit the manuscript, or seek additional reviews. Final acceptance or rejection rests with the Editorial Board, who reserves the right to refuse any material for publication. In rare instances, the manuscript is accepted with almost no revision. Almost without exception, reviewers' comments (to the author) are forwarded to the author. If a revision is indicated, the editor provides guidelines for attending to the reviewers' suggestions and perhaps additional advice about revising the manuscript.
- 4. The authors decide whether and how to address the reviewers' comments and criticisms and the editor's concerns. The authors submit a revised version of the paper to the executive editor along with specific information describing how they have answered' the concerns of the reviewers and the editor.
- 5. The executive editor sends the revised paper out for review. Typically, at least one of the original reviewers will be asked to examine the article.
- 6. When the reviewers have completed their work, the executive editor in consultation with the editorial board and the editor-in-chief examine their comments and decide whether the paper is ready to be published, needs another round of revisions, or should be rejected.
- 7. If the decision is to accept, the paper is sent to that Press and the article should appear in print in approximately three months. The Publisher ensures that the paper adheres to the correct style (in-text citations, the reference list, and tables are typical areas of concern, clarity, and grammar). The authors are asked to respond to any queries by the Publisher. Following these corrections, page proofs are mailed to the corresponding authors for their final approval. At this point, only essential changes are accepted. Finally, the article appears in the pages of the Journal and is posted on-line.

English language editing

Pertanika **emphasizes** on the linguistic accuracy of every manuscript published. Thus all authors are required to get their manuscripts edited by **professional English language editors**. Author(s) **must provide a certificate** confirming that their manuscripts have been adequately edited. A proof from a recognised editing service should be submitted together with the cover letter at the time of submitting a manuscript to Pertanika. **All costs will be borne by the author(s)**.

This step, taken by authors before submission, will greatly facilitate reviewing, and thus publication if the content is acceptable.

Author material archive policy

Authors who require the return of any submitted material that is rejected for publication in the journal should indicate on the cover letter. If no indication is given, that author's material should be returned, the Editorial Office will dispose of all hardcopy and electronic material.

Copyright

Authors publishing the Journal will be asked to sign a declaration form. In signing the form, it is assumed that authors have obtained permission to use any copyrighted or previously published material. All authors must read and agree to the conditions outlined in the form, and must sign the form or agree that the corresponding author can sign on their behalf. Articles cannot be published until a signed form has been received.

Lag time

A decision on acceptance or rejection of a manuscript is reached in 3 to 4 months (average 14 weeks). The elapsed time from submission to publication for the articles averages 5-6 months.

Hardcopies of the Journals and off prints

Under the Journal's open access initiative, authors can choose to download free material (via PDF link) from any of the journal issues from Pertanika's website. Under "Browse Journals" you will see a link entitled "Current Issues" or "Archives". Here you will get access to all back-issues from 1978 onwards.

The **corresponding author** for all articles will receive one complimentary hardcopy of the journal in which his/her articles is published. In addition, 20 off prints of the full text of their article will also be provided. Additional copies of the journals may be purchased by writing to the executive editor.

Call for Papers 2014-15

now accepting submissions...



About Pertanika Journals

Pertanika is the official journal of Universiti Putra Malaysia. *Pertanika* Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science [ISSN. (print) 1511–3701; ISSN. (electronic) 2231–8542] is an international multidisciplinary peer-reviewed leading journal published in Malaysia which began publication in 1978. It is indexed in SCOPUS (Elsevier), Thomson (BIOSIS), EBSCO, Agricola, CABI, Google Scholar, MyAIS & ISC.

JTAS or *Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci.* accepts and publishes articles in **English** and is open to authors around the world regardless of their nationality. It is currently published **four** times a year in **February, May, August** and **November.**

The journal caters for scientists, professors, researchers, post-docs, scholars and students who wish to promote and communicate advances in the fields of Agriculture.

Introduction

You are invited to submit your research papers for possible publication in Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science (JTAS).

JTAS is an open access journal that publishes manuscripts rapidly. The Journal accepts articles as regular, short communication or review papers.

Manuscripts are published quarterly in print as well as online via our following websites:

http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/browse_journals.php or http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/current_issues.php?journal=1

To view our current or back issues, kindly follow the link above.

Scope of Journal

Pertanika JTAS aims to provide a forum for high-quality research related to tropical agricultural research dealing with issues of worldwide relevance.

Refer to our website for detailed scope areas. http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/scope.php

Paper Submission Guidelines

Articles could cover a broad range of topics in Agriculture or Tropical Agricultural Science, and could be conceptual or empirical research.

The article should include the following:

- An abstract of not more than 300 words
- Must include up to 8 related keywords
- The first page should also provide:
- Name(s), Institutional affiliation(s) and email(s) of each author listed

For guidance on the submission process, or for any questions regarding submissions, you may contact the Executive Editor.

Articles should be submitted electronically as e-mail attachments to executive_editor.pertanika@upm.my

Format for Paper Submissions

Full articles for submission must be in MS WORD format

- Articles should include the following:
- problem formulation
- conceptual framework
- methodology/ approach
- research design (if applicable)
- statistical analysis (if applicable)
- main findings
- overall contribution
- conclusions & suggestion for further research
- acknowledgements (if applicable)

Length limit: The maximum length of your article must not exceed:

- approximately 6000 words or 27 pages, including abstract, diagrams tables and references for full research papers,
- 2000 words for short communication papers, or
- 4000 words for review papers

References should be listed in APA style.

Benefits and Publication Opportunity

Pertanika aims to publish original academic articles rapidly. The journal provides open access to all of its content on the principle that making research freely available to the public supports a greater global exchange of knowledge. Such access is associated with increased readership and increased citation of an author's work. JTAS is fully committed to the Open Access Initiative and provides free access to all articles as soon as they are published.

Submission Deadlines

You may submit your articles at any time of the year. The journal is now accepting papers for its 2014-15 issues.

Please find the journal's profile at: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/home.php

Contact | The Chief Executive Editor, Pertanika Editorial Office, UPM Press, Office of the Deputy Vice Chancellor (R&I), 1st Floor, IDEA Tower II, UPM-MTDC Technology Centre, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Serdang, Selangor. Tel: 03 8947 1622. <u>nayan@upm.my</u>

Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science Vol. 37 (3) Aug. 2014

Contents

roreworu	
Nayan Deep S. Kanwal	i
Short Communication	
Species Diversity and External Nest Characteristics of Stingless Bees in Meliponiculture	293
Kelly, N., Farisya, M. S. N., Kumara, T. K. and Marcela, P.	
Regular Articles	
Effects of Different Rates of Palm Kernel and Barley Residues as Organic	299
Manures on Growth and Yield of Maize on a Degraded Upland Soil M. T. Lahai, J. P. C. Koroma and P. M. P. Mornya	
Thermotolerance Acquisition in Broiler Chickens through Early Feed Restriction: Response to Acute Heat Stress	311
Abioja, M. O., Sodipe, O. G., Abiona, J. A., Oladipo, K. A.,	
Kasali, O. D., Akerele, Z., Ola, A., Oke, H., Ogundele, O. and Osinowo, O. A.	
Silt Pit Efficiency in Conserving Soil Water as Simulated by HYDRUS	321
Model Mohsen Bohluli, Christopher Teh Boon Sung, Ahmad Husni Mohd Hanif and Zaharah A. Rahman	
Multivariate Classification of Promising Paddy Cultivars on the Basis of	331
Physical Properties Singh, Y. and Prasad, K.	
Multivariate and an Ordination Approach to Classify the Attractiveness of	347
the Plant Species in Pastoral Lands Fazel Amiri and Abdul Rashid Mohamed Shariff	
Genetic Diversity of <i>Fusarium solani</i> Isolates from Black Pepper	363
(Piper nigrum L.) in Malaysia by ISSR marker Shahnazi, S., Meon, S., Vadamalai, G., Yazdani, D. and Shabanimofrad, M.	
Demographics of Horseshoe Crab Populations in Kota Kinabalu, Sabah,	375
Aspects of its Mating Behaviour	

Robert, R., Muhammad Ali, S. H. and Amelia-Ng, P. F.



Pertanika Editorial Office, Journal Division Office of the Deputy Vice Chancellor (R&I) 1st Floor, IDEA Tower II UPM-MTDC Technology Centre Universiti Putra Malaysia 43400 UPM Serdang Selangor Darul Ehsan Malaysia

http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/ E-mail: executive_editor.pertanika@upm.my Tel: +603 8947 1622 / 1619



 http://penerbit.upm.edu.my

 E-mail : penerbit@putra.upm.edu.my

 Tel : +603 8946 8855/8854

 Fax : +603 8941 6172

